

RESEARCH PROGRAMME 2021 - 2024 - 2027



Riga 2021-2024

Motto: Development of advanced materials for a better world

The global society faces environmental, social and economic challenges such as tackling climate change, efficient health systems, the well-being and security problems, strengthening economic competitiveness, and creating jobs.

New materials are the key to many global challenges. To tackle them, researchers must be able to develop advanced and sustainable materials with the required properties, to improve the recyclability of materials, reduce their carbon and environmental footprint and make sure that a wide community of users will be able to capitalize on them. The materials development cycle ending with components used in real applications is long and entails steps such as theory and modelling, the appropriate technology for obtaining them, characterization, up-scaling and engineering, including industrial environments, and drive cross-sectorial industrial innovation by supporting new applications in all industry sectors. To succeed, there is a need for **research-innovation ecosystem** with advanced research infrastructure and modern technological facilities (Fig.1).



Fig.1. The scheme of the value chain.

To tackle these challenges, new European Commission's (EC) Programme "Horizon Europe" (2021-2027) is developed (Fig. 2). People are put in the centre of the program, focussing on their needs and concerns, managing the transitions.



* The European Institute of Innovation & Technology (EIT) is not part of the Specific Programme

Fig.2. Structural outline of Horizon Europe programme.

European Partnerships introduced by Commission are proposed as an integral part of Horizon Europe's strategic planning process. Its Cross-Cluster Strategy aims to promote EU industrial leadership and will advance Key Enabling Technologies as "general purpose" technologies, producing solutions to global challenges:

- Health: medical, technologies, medical devices up-scaling infrastructures, metrology;
- Inclusive Societies: technology assessments, future of workplaces, inclusion and technology diffusion, materials for preserving cultural heritage, metrology;
- Secure Societies: cybersecurity, security application of new technologies, security by design, metrology;
- Climate, Energy and Mobility: advanced materials for energy harvesting, transmission and storage (notably batteries and photovoltaics); low-carbon footprint, industrial symbiosis, manageable waste, the lifecycle approach, clean, connected and automated mobility, electrification, hydrogen, materials for construction, metrology;
- Food and Natural Resources: circular systems, materials for circular economy, bioeconomy, bio materials and life cycle assessment, plastics, packaging materials, ocean ecology preservation, metrology.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
FOREWORD TO THE UPDATED VERSIONS OF THE PROGRAM FOR THE PERIOD OF 2022-202	274
KEY HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2024	5
THREE MAIN ACTIVITY AREAS OF ISSP UL	8
RESEARCH IN THE FIELD OF PHYSICAL SCIENCES	8
THEORETICAL MATERIAL SCIENCE AND MODELLING	8
EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES	
X-ray absorption spectroscopy	
Morphology and structure	18
Opticaly active defects in silicon dioxide	23
Analysis of paramagnetic defect structure in functional materials	27
Electronic processes and charge transfer mechanisms in luminescent materials	
Third order non-linear optical effects, materials and devices	
Radiation damage studies in functional materials for fusion and particle physics	
Spectroscopic ellipsometry of advanced materials	45
DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL FUNCTIONAL MATERIALS	49
0D, 1D, 2D AND MIXED-DIMENSIONAL NANOMATERIALS	50
MATERIALS FOR PHOTONICS APPLICATIONS	57
Electroluminescence and organic light-emitting diodes	57
Light amplification and organic solid-state lasers	61
MATERIALS FOR RADIATION CONVERSION	67
Novel materials for ionizing radiation and UV light dosimetry	67
Synchrotron radiation spectroscopy of scintillators	
Persistent luminescence mechanisms and applications in wide bandgap materials	
MATERIALS FOR ENERGY HARVESTING AND STORAGE	79
Materials for batteries	
Hydrogen energy	
Thermoelectrics and hybrid photovoltaics	
Ferroelectric materials for electromechanical and electrocaloric application -old	
TECHNOLOGY, DEVICES AND APPLICATIONS	104
Thin film and coating technologies	
Prototyping of microfluidic devices	
Polymer photonics technology platform	
Phase retrieval for adaptive optics and imaging	

FOREWORD TO THE UPDATED VERSION OF THE PROGRAM FOR THE PERIOD OF 2021-2024-2027

The long-term research program of the Institute of Solid State Physics, University of Latvia (ISSP UL) has been elaborated for 8-year period (2021-2027) and was launched at the beginning of 2021.

It was designed with an aim to chart the optimal course of the Institute in the multifaceted and rapidly changing research environment. Because of its long time span and the degree of uncertainty inherent to any research, and non-predictable external factors, like the COVID pandemic during 2020-2022, or the Russia's invasion of Ukraine, periodic updates are required in order to adjust the program to the current status quo and to the changing opportunities and challenges. The adjustments may range from small to significant ones; they must take into account a number of factors, like:

- The latest changes in the "state of the art" in the relevant research fields during 2021-2023.
- The results of our own research and further perspectives or their absence- stemming from them.
- The changes in funding situation completing projects and success or failure in competing for new ones. The changing priorities in new project calls.
- The possible deviations between the actually funded research directions and those planned in the research program this is particularly actual for multi-partner projects, whose tasks cannot be exactly tailored to the research program(s) of each single partner.
- Changes in employment of key scientific staff members departures and hiring of new ones.
- Establishing of co-operations with new partners.
- Actual or predicted future changes in key infrastructure and instrumentation.

The overall geopolitical situation has become more fragile during 2023: the continuing war in Ukraine, situation in Middle East, China-Taiwan tensions etc. This puts an additional focus on research fields, helping to reduce the dependence on fossil fuel energy and different raw materials (like rare earths, lithium etc.) imported from non-reliable or belligerent foreign partners. With a rapid development of solar and wind energy, energy storage, like batteries and hydrogen-based technologies become increasingly important.

An increased focus on research in different defense-related technologies is expected, in particular, in multiple technologies related to the evidently rising dominance of drone warfare: sensors, communications, lasers, computer control, robotics, artifical inteligence etc. Research and development of dual-use technologies for both military and civilian security will be intensified. The previously planned research topics of ISSP LU already have overlap with a number of these fields. Additional adjustment in these directions may be necessary in future.

Among the relevant developments having taken place during 2023, one can outline the renaissance of efforts towards nuclear energetics, largely motivated by the aim to reduce the CO₂ emissions and to mitigate climate changes. United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP28) took place in Dubai (UAE) in November-December of 2023. Its concluding statement, released on December 1 proclaims that "Resilient and robust nuclear power has the potential to play a wider

role in the quest towards net zero carbon emissions, while ensuring the highest level of nuclear safety and security". The 1st Nuclear Energy Summit will be held in Brussels in March 2024, attended by industry leaders and high-level government representatives of more than 30 countries. It will discuss the role of nuclear energy in reducing the use of fossil fuels and enhancing energy security.

The renewed interest in nuclear energy requires studies of the various materials used in devices exposed to radiation environments. Scientists of ISSP LU have significant expertize in this field, since it has been traditionally one of main research directions of the institute, as reflected by the participation in EUROFUSION program, and by the fact that a significant fraction of all published research papers concerns irradiation effects in materials. Evidently, the shift of focus to nuclear energy will be reflected by increased activity in acquiring projects and research in this direction.

The updated version of the research program for 2021-2027 includes these adjustments in planning of each research domain. The necessary changes are made directly into the respective sub-sections of the domain descriptions: "State of the art", "Our position", "Future activities", "Networking", and "References". To make the annual changes more discernible within the program text, they are marked by red-colored font for changes in planning for 2024. Additionally, a short summary of the main changes titled "Summary of planned updates" is added at the end of each domain plan. The program updates are introduced to maintain a good balance between the basic and applied research.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2024

The research activities and their organization in 2024 are largely dominated by the four now implemented Horizon Europe projects and a new European Space Agency project related to sensors/robotics, energy conservation and storage:

- Horizon CL4 project Sestosenso "Physical Intelligence for smart and safe Human -Robot Interaction (SestoSenso)", started at 2021, ends 2025
- Widening participation and strengthening the European Research Area (WIDERA) Era Chair project "Smart Windows for Zero Energy Buildings (SWEB) " has started on January 2023 for duration of 5 years;
- Horizon CL5 Europe Research and Innovations Action project "Eliminating VOC from Battery Manufacturing through Dry or Wet Processing (NoVoc)" has started on January 2023 for duration of 4 years;
- Horizon CL5 project "Atomic layer-coated graphene electrodes for micro-flexible and structural supercapacitors (ARMS)" implemented together with Tampere university has started on January 1, 2024 with duration of 4 years.
- European Space Agency project ESA RPP "Development of Low-Temperature Ionic Liquid-Based Li-Ion Battery Cells" will start on January 1, 2024 with funding of 96 k€.

Eight new Fundamental and Applied Research Projects (FARP), funded by Latvian Science Council start on January 1, 2024 for 3 years duration with funding 100 k€/project/year:

- New generation of piezoelectric materials for active vibration control (Leader R. Ignatans);
- Development of new advanced phosphors for lighting and non-contact optical thermometry (Leader E. Kotomin);
- Unlocking the secrets of multicomponent alloys and related compounds using X-Ray absorption spectroscopy and atomistic simulations (Leader A. Kuzmin);
- Modelling celiac disease on a chip (Leader G. Mozolevskis, in collaboration with Latvian Biomedical Center);
- Predicting the long-term tolerance of functional materials for use in extreme radiation conditions (Leader A. Popov);
- The entropy-driven approach to enhance the thermoelectric performance of chalcogenidebased compounds (Leader I. Pudza);
- Advancing Sustainable Thermoelectric Hybrid Systems Utilizing Glass- Forming Low Molecular Weight Compounds (Leader K. Pudzs);
- Light activated 4D printed materials for vascular tissue engineering (Leader V. Vitola).

Alongside with the 8 new FARP projects started in 2024, 15 FARP projects, started in years 2022 and 2023 will continue:

- Development of carbonic anhydrase IX test biosensor for cancer screening (Leader A. Anspoks);
- Defect control in novel UV-C long-lasting luminescence materials (Leader A. Antuzevics);
- Computer modelling, synthesis and characterization of modified TiO₂ nanoparticles for disinfection applications (Leader D. Bocharov);
- Raising critical temperature in MgB₂-based superconductive nanowire systems via internal strain engineering (Leader E. Butanovs);
- Non-destructive investigations of interfaces of multilayer organic materials for highperformance OLED development (Leader J. Butikova);
- Advanced atomistic studies on Ruddlesden-Popper phases for protonic ceramic electrolysis cells (Leader D. Gryaznov);
- Development of ternary organic solar cells by employing original indacene-tetraone based non-fullerene acceptors (Leader R. Grzibovskis);
- Non-contact nanothermometry based on X-ray absorption spectra (Leader A. Kalinko);
- Topological semimetals towards low-dissipation electronics (Leader G. Mozolevskis);
- Cross-luminescence engineering for picosecond time-of-flight gamma- and X-ray imaging for medical applications (Leader V. Pankratovs);
- Large-scale computer modelling of defective ternary chalcopyrites for photovoltaic applications (Leader S. Piskunovs);
- Research of microbiota derived extracellular vesicle role on breast cancer by using gutbreast cancer axis on a chip (GBA-OC) (Leader R. Rimsa);
- Multifunctional hybrid metal oxide nanowire arrays for simultaneous green power generation and CO₂ reduction (Leader A. Sarakovskis);
- Interstitial molecules and point defects in silicon dioxide-based materials for photonics, radiation-related and photochemical applications (Leader L. Skuja);
- Novel metal hydride-based thin films for electronics and energy technologies (Leader M. Zubkins).

• In 2023, 2-year project for Innovation Fund project "Smart materials, photonics technologies and engineering ecosystem (MOTE)" was started to establish co-creation ecosystem to foster scientific breakthroughs and further research commercialization in Latvia. The project is implemented by ISSP UL as coordinator together with partners, Riga Technical University, University of Latvia, Institute of Electronics and Computer Science, Rezekne Academy of Technologies, Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry and Institute of Mathematics and Computer Science.

The objectives of the Innovation Fund project are:

- Increase cross-sectoral scientific activities
- $\circ \quad \text{Promote open science approach}$
- Support early stage researchers
- o Supportive environment for innovation commercialization
- \circ $\,$ Create new methods, technologies and prototypes with commercialization potential.
- The Institute continues to participate in the 3-year (2023-2025) Latvian National Research Program "High Energy Physics and Accelerator Technologies" aimed to support collaboration with CERN. Within this program, the institute works on nuclear energy-related materials.
- ISSP UL finalizes the work on thermo electronic generator (TEG) technology that has been developed for a high-speed electromagnetic radiation sensor that can characterize the shape of very short light pulses in a wide spectral range (UV-VIS-IR). It is around 1000 times faster than the ones currently in use. The technology can be used, for example, in laser surgical equipment, where it will provide precise control of the applied radiation energy and thus allow more safe and efficient manipulations. Sensor, based on this technology is now listed among the new products of Thorlabs Company.
- ISSP UL spin-off company CellBox Labs (https://www.cellboxlabs.com/) continues to
 work on polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS)-free gut-on-chip, suitable for anaerobic
 conditions necessary for microbiota cultivation controlled by integrated biosensors and
 user- friendly cultivation system, low molecule absorption, suitable for drug testing and
 compatible with mass manufacturing methods.

THREE MAIN ACTIVITY AREAS OF ISSP UL

The activities of the Institute can be roughly grouped in three partially overlapping areas:

- Research in the field of physical sciences
- Development of novel functional materials
- Technology, devices and applications

The research plans and their updates for scientific teams working in these 3 areas are detailed here below.

RESEARCH IN THE FIELD OF PHYSICAL SCIENCES

While all the research work performed at ISSP UL aims at practical applications as one of the most important targets, it yields also more general, fundamental results, which contribute to the general knowledge and go beyond single application or application class. This section presents research plans of both theoretical and experimental studies in this group.

THEORETICAL MATERIAL SCIENCE AND MODELLING

STATE OF THE ART

Computer large-scale simulations based on density-functional theory and many -body perturbation theory have become an efficient tool for understanding and for designing new advanced high- performance functionalized nanomaterials. Hybrid approaches, coupling data-driven and physics-based models, can be of great interest in improving the predictive power of materials modelling.

Special attention is paid to nanomaterials and low-dimensional systems, as well as to modelling of processes under realistic working conditions, *i.e.* high and low temperatures and gas pressures, harsh radiation environment, *etc.* For this purpose, thermodynamic approach based on the first principles total energy calculations of advanced materials and their vibrational properties are used. The tools available allow to address a wide spectrum of systems including bulk, surfaces, interfaces, heterostructures, molecules, or clusters- albeit with increasing computational costs depending on the system sizes considered [1,2]. Most of theoretical researches are performed in close collaboration with experimental ones. They are performed, in particular by combining traditional calculations of the optical absorption and luminescence with modelling magnetic resonance and vibrational spectroscopic methods in order to monitor the development of the radiation damage in several functional materials for nuclear applications. Of great importance is understanding a specific role of impurities in materials performance, e.g. band engineering of band gaps for water splitting, photovoltaics and in materials radiation resistance [3,4].

OUR POSITION

Activities of two Theoretical laboratories at ISSP UL (Laboratory of Computer Modelling of Electronic Structure of Solids, Laboratory of Kinetics in Self-Organizing Systems) are related to the multiscale computer modelling of advanced materials combining *ab initio*, kinetic Monte Carlo and Molecular dynamics, focusing on the role of defects and impurities in materials, predominantly interesting for energy applications: fuel cells, batteries, micro-energy harvesting, photocatalytic H₂ production and photovoltaics, nuclear fuels and functional materials for fusion reactors.

Both labs have a strong background in the large-scale first-principles computer simulations on advanced materials, their surfaces, interfaces and nanostructures. Massive parallel computer modelling combines the use of the commercially available first principles quantum mechanical computer codes with the home maid advanced thermodynamic analysis, pair potential approach, molecular dynamics, kinetic Monte Carlo and simpler formalisms. Such an approach allows to obtain reliable atomic and electronic structure of complex advanced materials and nanomaterials, as well as to get the multi-scale picture of physical-chemical processes in a large variety of materials with numerous technological applications. For instance, we study the influence of shape and size of perovskite nanoparticles on the piezoelectricity based on *ab initio* calculations. Different ferroelectric particles with defined sizes and shapes of plates, cubes and/or wires are synthesized by our partners and systematically self-assembled on a substrate, e.g., for the energy-harvesting devices. We developed theory of such self-assembling process and suggest how to control this process.

Our main focus is on the following topics:

- **Defects in solid state.** Computer modelling of the atomic, electronic and magnetic structure of pristine and defective nanostructured interfaces. Materials for nuclear fusion applications [5,6].
- **Surfaces and interfaces of materials.** Calculations of surface property of nanostructured ABO₃-type perovskites for efficient water splitting [7,8].
- **Vibrational properties of defects in materials.** First principles calculations of the vibrational properties of nanostructured materials. Calculations of the IR and RAMAN spectra for hybrid nanostructures [9,10].
- Electronic structure and processes at nanoscale. First principles calculations of electronic properties of nanomaterials and heterostructures at nanoscale. Excited state calculations of hybrid nanostructures for photocatalysis. Calculations of the properties of hybrid metallic-carbon nanotubes. First principles calculations of charge transfer processes in nanostructured photoelectrodes. Computer simulations of adsorption properties of Cu-decorated graphene in the presence of external electric field. Study of perspective materials to be used in UV photon sensors [11, 12], water splitting [13], *p*-type conductors [14], optics for fusion reactors diagnostics and plasma heating [15], photostimulated hydrogen production upon perovskite nanoparticles [16,17].

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Labs future activities will be focused on understanding of chemical and physical material properties in the photocatalytic processes and design of new effective photocatalysts for water splitting with hydrogen production based on perovskites crystallites and nanoparticles. This needs a combination of the band gap engineering and selection of proper catalysts, in a close collaboration with leading experimental teams in Europe. In all these areas our activities are

already well known internationally. In most projects we have industrial partners which are supposed to realize our theoretical predictions into real applications. Most of our future activities will deal with energy issues, including batteries, fuel cells, photovoltaic, nuclear fuels, functional materials for fusion reactors, water splitting. For efficient water splitting with nanocrystals our goal is to predict ways to increase efficiency of renewable energy converting devices, first of all, water splitting with electrochemical cells based on nano-scaled oxides. Main effort will be devoted to integrating and combining different theoretical methods toward a multi-scale approach. The ultimate central challenge will be to generate a multiscale modelling platform that will be used world-wide for conducting state-of-the-art multi-scale property prediction of materials. This action intends to focus on bridging the knowledge gaps between different theoretical methods and computer codes in order to facilitate the discovery of novel materials for energy conversion. We will perform large scale computer simulations of different nano-materials based on ABO₃ perovskites and complex oxides, modelling of water splitting and intermediate products, estimate of process efficiency dependent on the polarity and composition.

Our other goal is theoretical prediction of new cathode materials operating at intermediate temperature in fuel cells effectively transforming chemical energy into electricity. This requires understanding of: (i) the decisive structural properties for sufficient proton conductivity; (ii) conditions for the majority of proton uptake by acid-base water incorporation or by redox reaction; (iii) link between mechanical properties and water incorporation. The primary target materials of the proposed research are perovskite-type ferrites and cobaltites.

In line with EU's Green Deal, recently announced by the EC's President, wind/solar combined shares target up to 70 % of electricity generation, for 2050 EU full de-carbonization scenario. The intermittent nature of these sources is the major obstacle for such targets, due to demand mismatches, grid instabilities, negative pricings and wasteful curtailments. Thus, maximized wind/solar capacities impose grid-scale storage challenges, for peak loads to be absorbed with upgraded capacity factors and intermittent generators to be turned into grid-dispatchable sources.

NETWORKING

Theoretical Laboratories have close collaboration with the following experimental and theoretical groups:

- Prof. M. Kuklja, University of Maryland, USA (Dept of Materials Science and Engineering; Institute for Research in Electronics and Applied Physics);
- Dr R.Merkle, Max Planck Institut für Festkörperforschung, Stuttgart, Germany
- Prof. R. Dovesi, University of Turin, Italy (Theoretical Chemistry group);
- Prof. D. Fuks, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel (Department of Materials Engineering;
- Prof. I. Lubomisrsky, Weizmann Institute of Science (Dept of Materials and Interfaces), Rehovot, Israel
- Prof. A. Lushchik, Institute of Physics, University of Tartu, Estonia
- Prof. R. Evarestov, St Petersburg University, Russia (Dept of Quantum Chemistry)
- Dr. M. Maček Kržmanc, Jožef Stefan Institute, Ljubljana, Slovenia
- Prof. T. Scherer, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany
- Dr. R. Vila, CIEMAT, Madrid, Spain
- Prof. K. Exner, Faculty of Chemistry, University Duisburg-Essen, Essen, Germany
- Dr. M. Krack, Paul Scherrer Institute, Switzerland

• Prof. J.C.S. Wu, Taiwan National University

REFERENCES

- 1. R. A. Evarestov, Quantum Chemistry of Solids. (Springer series in solid state, vol. 153, Berlin, 2018).
- 2. C. Franchini, Hybrid functionals applied to perovskites. (Topical review). -J.Phys.: Cond. Matt., 26, 253202 (2014).
- 3. M. Stoneham, Theory of Defects in Solids (Oxford University Press, 2003).
- 4. N. Itoh, A.M. Stoneham, Materials Modification by Electronic Excitation (Cambridge Uni. Press, 2000)
- 5. V. Seeman, A. Lushchik, E. Shablonin, **G. Prieditis, D. Gryaznov, A. Platonenko, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov.** Atomic, electronic and magnetic structure of an oxygen interstitial in neutron-irradiated Al₂O₃ single crystals. Sci. Rep., 2020, 10, 15852 (pp. 1-14).
- 6. D. Zablotsky, L.L. Rusevich, **G. Zvejnieks, V. Kuzovkov, E. Kotomin.** Manifestation of dipole-induced disorder in self-assembly of ferroelectric and ferromagnetic nanocubes.-- Nanoscale, 2019, 11, pp. 7293-7303.
- 7. **D. Bocharov, S. Piskunov, Yu.F. Zhukovskii**, and R.A. Evarestov. Ab Initio calculations on the electronic structure and photocatalytic properties of two-dimensional WS₂ (0001) nanolayers of varying thickness. -- Phys. Status Solidi RRL, 2019, 13, 1800253 (pp. 1-6).
- O. Lisovski, S. Piskunov, D. Bocharov, S. Kenmoe.- 2D slab models of nanotubes based on tetragonal TiO₂ structures: validation over a diameter range. - *Nanomaterials*, 2021, 11, 1925 (pp. 1-17)
- 9. M. Tyunina, **L.L. Rusevich**, **E.A. Kotomin**, O. Pacherova, T. Kocourek, A. Dejneka. Epitaxial growth of perovskite oxide films facilitated by oxygen vacancies. *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2021, **9**, pp. 1693-1700. Open Access.
- 10. **Platonenko, D. Gryaznov, A.I. Popov**, R. Dovesi, **E.A. Kotomin.** First principles calculations of the vibrational properties of single and dimer F-type centers in corundum crystals. -- J. Chem. Phys., 2020, 153, 134107 (pp. 1-9).
- 11. **G. Zvejnieks**, L.L. Rusevich, D. **Gryaznov**, **E.A. Kotomin**. Interface-induced enhancement of piezoelectricity in the (SrTiO₃)m/(BaTiO₃) M-m superlattice for energy harvesting applications. -- Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys., 2019, 21, pp. 23541-23551.
- 12. **S. Piskunov, Yu.F. Zhukovskii, M.N. Sokolov, and J. Kleperis**. Ab initio calculations of CUN@GRAPHENE (0001) nanostructures for electrocatalytic applications. Latv. J. Phys. Tech. Sci., 2018, 55, n6, pp. 30-34.
- 13. **M. Sokolov, Yu.A. Mastrikov, G. Zvejnieks, D. Bocharov, E.A. Kotomin**, V. Krasnenko. Water splitting on multifaceted SrTiO₃ nanocrystals: a computational study. *MDPI Catalysts*, 2021, **11**, 1326 (pp. 1-8). Open Access.
- A. Chesnokov, D. Gryaznov, N.V. Skorodumova, E.A. Kotomin, A. Zitolo, M. Zubkins, A. Kuzmin, A. Anspoks, J. Purans. The local atomic structure and thermoelectric properties of Ir-doped ZnO: hybrid DFT calculations and XAS experiments.- *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2021, 9, pp. 4948–4960.
- 15. L.L. Rusevich, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov, G. Aiello, T.A. Scherer, A. Lushchik. The vibrational and dielectric properties of diamond with N impurities: First principles study.- Diamond & Relat. Mater., 2022, 130, 109399 (pp. 1-7).
- 16. Y.-Y. Tai, J.C.S. Wu, W.-Y. Yu, M. Maček Kržmanc, **E.A. Kotomin**. Photocatalytic water splitting of improved strontium titanate for simultaneous separation of H₂ in a twin photoreactor. Appl. Catal. B, 2023, 324, 122183 (pp. 1-10)
- 17. Y.-G. Lee, Y.-C. Cheng, Y.-T. Lin, J.C.S. Wu, W.-Y. Yu, M. Maček Kržmanc, S. Gupta, **E.A. Kotomin.** Photocatalytic water splitting of Al-doped Rh_xCr₂–xO₃/SrTiO₃ synthesized by flux method: Elucidating the role of different molten salts. J. Phys. Chem. C, 2023, 127, pp. 9981–9991.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- The improvement of water splitting on faceted surfaces of perovskite nanoparticles.
- Oxygen and hydrogen production mechanism, kinetics and thermodynamics upon water splitting.

- The role of defects and dopants in epitaxial growth of thin perovskite films.
- Calculations of the excited states of insulating materials.
- The properties of defects in the bulk, thin films and surfaces of fluorites and oxides.
- Advanced materials for photovoltaics, halide perovskites.
- Modelling and improvement of proton ceramic fuel cells.

EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES

While most experimental material studies nowadays are targeted with highly specific applications in mind, part of these studies are also of a more general interest, covering general research techniques or some wider class of materials or specific, still not understood phenomena. These are listed in this subsection, while the rest are presented in the Material development and Technology/devices/applications sections.

X-RAY ABSORPTION SPECTROSCOPY

STATE OF THE ART

The structure of materials determines their properties and performance, therefore knowledge, deep understanding, and control of structure are crucial for material practical applications. X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) using synchrotron radiation is an excellent analytical tool to probe the local atomic and electronic structure. It can be used to study crystalline, nanocrystalline and disordered solids as well as liquids and gases. XAS using synchrotron radiation is rapidly evolving but is also already a mature field of research that is tightly connected with the tremendous progress in large-scale synchrotron facilities. The structure in the bulk, at the surface, and around impurities can be probed equally well using specifically designed experimental techniques. Nowadays, there are about 50 active synchrotron facilities around the world, and 17 of them are located in the EU Member States. A coherent and strategic vision for the future development of the best large-scale facilities in the European Union is summarized in the European Strategy Forum on Research Infrastructures (ESFRI) Roadmap 2021.

During the last ten years, there were on average about 3000 papers published in peer-reviewed journals per year (according to the WoS database) on the development and application of XAS as a result of research activities involving more than 3500 active researchers. XAS is a multidisciplinary field of research that comprises studies of materials and their transformations in material science, physics, chemistry, life sciences, environmental sciences, cultural heritage, and medicine. The technique provides a wide range of opportunities for *in-situ* and *operando* studies, which were recently reviewed in [1-2]. The theoretical description of X-ray absorption spectra is based on Fermi's Golden Rule, and the spectra are usually computed numerically using the multiple-scattering theory [3-4]. The structural information is encoded in the extended X-ray

absorption fine structure (EXAFS), and retrieving it from experimentally measured spectra requires significant effort and can be challenging [5-6]. Therefore, the development of the methodology for the analysis of X-ray absorption spectra based on advanced numerical methods [6], including machine learning methods [7], is a hot topic of current research activities, also implemented at ISSP.

The recent advances in Machine Learning and Big Data analysis open new opportunities for autonomous experimentation with automatic control of *operando* parameters and real-time data processing [8, 9]. These will improve the throughput and reliability of experiments and provide paths for the advancement of novel methodologies.

New X-ray and extreme ultraviolet (XUV) light sources generated by free-electron lasers (FELs) in large accelerator facilities offer new insights into time-evolving molecular structures, primary photophysical, photochemical, and biological events, and strongly coupled electronic and nuclear dynamics. A novel time-domain picture of electron correlations is emerging, which will have far-reaching implications for the design of new molecules and materials with tailored functionalities. This is achieved by implementing the so-called "pump-probe" experiments using properly synchronized optical excitation by pulsed laser with the X-ray pulses arriving from a synchrotron or FEL [10].

OUR POSITION

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is one of the world's leading groups in the development and use of advanced methodology for the analysis of X-ray absorption spectra, including advanced approaches based on the regularization technique and atomistic simulations such as molecular dynamics and the reverse Monte Carlo (RMC) modelling. The Laboratory has world-level competence in the use of synchrotron radiation X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) – an analytical tool to study the local atomic and electronic structure of materials. The XAS technique already finds a wide range of applications in different areas of research, helping researchers all around the world to solve challenging fundamental and applied problems.

A set of leading ab initio (full-) multiple-scattering XANES/EXAFS software codes from the partners provides a solid background for the experimental data analysis at ISSP UL. The use of theoretical simulations is supported by a high-performance computing (HPC) infrastructure (Linux Cluster) with a theoretical peak performance of about 150 teraflops. This allows ISSP UL researchers to reveal the full potential of XAS, providing a natural way to incorporate the static and thermal disorder into the structural models, thus opening new possibilities for the investigation of the structure-property relationships for emerging materials.

The research area at ISSP UL includes but is not limited to different functional nano-materials and materials for energy applications, as well as disordered materials (thin films, glasses, etc.). More than 40 projects have been implemented in the last 10 years at PETRA-III (Hamburg), MaxIV (Lund), SOLEIL (Paris), ELETTRA (Trieste), ALBA (Barcelona), and ESRF (Grenoble) synchrotrons, resulting in more than 120 peer-reviewed publications. The results of these experimental projects have been used in the implementation of 16 international and national research projects (10 projects have been directly related to the use of the XAS method). The high level of laboratory research has been reflected by the inclusion of its recent results in the Highlights 2022 of the MaxIV synchrotron radiation centre. The laboratory represents Latvia in the European Synchrotron and Free Electron Laser User Organisation (ESUO) as well as in the International X-ray Absorption Society (IXAS). Besides the implementation of its own projects, the Lab provides consulting services for other research groups all around the world on EXAFS data analysis and interpretation. This activity is currently growing due to the increasing popularity of the group and the EXAFS method and is likely to significantly expand the geography of cooperation and open up new opportunities in the future.

There are several groups around the world that have been active in the field of advanced XAS data analysis for a long time, and they can be viewed as "competitors". The group from Wigner Research Centre for Physics (Hungary) is the ancestor of the RMC method and is developing it for application to disordered materials such as solutions and glasses. Another group from Camerino University (Italy) is the main developer of the GNXAS code for ab initio XAS simulations but provides also an RMC part dedicated to disordered materials. The international group including the teams from ISIS, the University of Cambridge, the University of Oxford, Queen Mary University of London (UK), and NIST (USA) is involved in the development of the reverse Monte Carlo method for the simultaneous analysis of many data types (neutron & X-ray total scattering & the Bragg profile, EXAFS, single-crystal diffuse scattering). Currently, there are only a few major players in the field of machine learning applications for XAS - Brookhaven National Laboratory (USA) and Smart Materials Research Institute at the Southern Federal University (Russia), but shortly their number will grow due to the potential of the method. At the same time, numerous groups (e.g. from Sapienza University of Rome (Italy)) working in the fields of liquids and disordered compounds use the molecular dynamics method to simulate the configurationaveraged XAS spectra.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The future directions of the research of the EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory will be closely connected with the recent trends in the European research area, summarized in the Strategy Report and Roadmap developed by the European Strategy Forum on Research Infrastructures (ESFRI). The research activities will exploit available large-scale European synchrotron facilities, having the size of the user community in 2017 at least 24000 users. EXAFS Laboratory is open for collaboration within the EC 9FP Programme "Horizon Europe" and any other programs.

The main directions of research will involve energy materials, high-entropy materials, and information technologies.

An increase in energy consumption and limited natural energy resources are the main challenges to address by our society. The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory continues to be involved in the investigation of oxide dispersion strengthened (ODS) alloys and related materials, which will play a strategic role in the Energy (ENE) domain for the implementation of nuclear fusion solutions to the massive production of energy, as well as for the role of Europe as an active actor in the development of nuclear fusion technologies. This activity will be realized within the EUROfusion project, in which the laboratory is already participating. Besides, we plan to continue studies of multifunctional materials for X-ray sensing, thermochromic, electrochromic, photocatalytic, thermoelectric, and other energy applications [11, 12, 13, 14, 15].

Materials science at extreme conditions such as ultra-high pressures and temperatures provides a promising route toward new materials that would not form under conditions of conventional material synthesis and processing techniques. These conditions can be created, for example, in diamond anvil cells (DACs) which can operate at very high pressures and extremely high or low temperatures. Together with the emergence of theoretical structure prediction tools based on ab initio quantum chemistry calculations, these activities will accelerate the field of materials discovery and provide a better understanding and control of their properties. The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is involved in such studies in collaboration with two synchrotron centres at SOLEIL (Paris) and ESRF (Grenoble) [16, 17].

Key challenges in the field of information technologies include the growing demand for storage capacity, computing speed, smart sensors, and energy-efficient IT solutions. New technology solutions are needed that require the development of novel nanomaterials with properties that are based on intriguing atomic and electronic interactions. The EXAFS method in conjunction with advanced analysis methods and ab initio simulations will provide an invaluable analytical tool for future in-situ and operando studies of emerging materials (e.g. 2D van der Waals and core/shell nanostructures, thin-film thermoelectric materials, hybrid organic-inorganic systems), which we plan to realize at PETRA-III and future PETRA-IV facilities [12, 13, 18, 19, 20]. Mastering new experimental methods (e.g., Resonant X-ray Emission Spectroscopy (RXES) and Xray Excited Optical Luminescence (XEOL) detection mode) will make a significant contribution to understanding these materials and promote their application in the future. These will be implemented in close collaboration with the groups at DESY within the upgrade program of the PETRA storage ring, in which EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory actively participates. Two Scientific Instrumentation Proposals (SIPs), "High-k EXAFS end-station for revealing the secrets of 2D layered materials" and "RXES studies of functional materials based on 5d transition metals", are included in the PETRA IV beamline portfolio in 2021. High-k EXAFS end-station is a general-purpose X-ray absorption spectroscopy beamline allowing the acquisition of EXAFS spectra in a large operational energy range (from 4 keV to 50 keV) up to high-k values (at least up to 18-20 Å⁻¹) with a high signal-to-noise ratio, exceptional reproducibility of the energy scale, and beam stability at the sample to probe the structure and dynamics of 2D layered materials with a particular emphasis on the study of weak interlayer interactions. RXES instrument, based on von Hamos and Johann-type spectrometers, is proposed for in-situ and operando resonant X-ray emission experiments, including XES, RIXS, HERFD-XAS, to study the influence of spin-orbit coupling and the effect of crystal-field splitting on the electronic structure of functional materials based on 5d transition metals [11].

The new direction of our research aims at the understanding of multicomponent alloys, known also as high entropy alloys (HEAs) or complex concentrated alloys (CCAs) [21]. The concept of maximization of configurational entropy by using five or more elements in nearly equiatomic composition has revolutionized the field of alloy design [21]. HEAs show better mechanical, oxidation, corrosion, and irradiation properties compared to commercial alloys due to five key effects: high-entropy effect, severe lattice distortion, sluggish diffusion, short-range order effect and "cocktail" effect [21]. The understanding of these phenomena in homogeneous and heterogeneous HEAs at the atomic level requires detailed knowledge of the composition dependence of the short-range order, which can be probed by XAS combined with advanced atomistic simulations [22, 23, 24]. Complementary studies were performed on the high entropy oxides [25].

The development of the methodology of EXAFS data analysis is one of the pillars at ISSP. The next breakthrough is expected in the application of machine learning technologies to provide researchers with a tool for rapid decision-making and real-time control of experiments. This approach will contribute to the improvement of the efficiency of conducting experiments at synchrotron centres and will open new possibilities in the future. The laboratory plans to develop this technology within its activity in the COST Action CA22143 "European Materials Informatics Network" (2023-2027).

The sustainability strategy of the Laboratory is based on four main activities: 1) the continuous search and involvement of young students and PostDoc researchers; 2) the continuous improvement and development of team potential and available resources using the in-lab

seminars and discussions, international schools/workshops/conferences; 3) the participation of young researchers in synchrotron experiments; 4) a collaboration with main players in the field to maintain and improve the team competitiveness.

The EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory team has developed several demonstrators realized as software packages for EXAFS data analysis and are available to the community from the website of the lab. They are used also for teaching purposes at international schools. Locally, the EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory is involved in the teaching process at the University of Latvia providing an MSc course (64 hours) "Microscopy and spectroscopy characterization methods".

NETWORKING

EXAFS Spectroscopy Laboratory at ISSP UL already provides consulting services to other research groups all around the world on EXAFS data analysis and interpretation. This activity is currently growing due to the rising popularity of the EXAFS method and the number of synchrotron centres around the world. The geography of cooperation will likely expand and open up new opportunities in the future. EXAFS Laboratory is open for collaboration within the EC 9FP Programme "Horizon Europe" and other programs.

ISSP UL already has a strong collaboration with European synchrotron radiation centres such as PETRA-III (DESY, Hamburg), MaxIV (Lund), SOLEIL (Paris), ELETTRA (Trieste), ALBA (Barcelona), and ESRF (Grenoble). The application of XAS in the field of materials science and nanotechnology is carried out in close cooperation with numerous international partners such as, for example, Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin für Materialien und Energie (HZB) (Berlin, Germany), Bundesanstalt für Materialforschung und - prüfung (BAM) (Berlin, Germany), Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (Karlsruhe, Germany), Centre of Physics, University of Minho (Braga, Portugal), Department of Chemistry, Stony Brook University (Stony Brook, USA), Paul Scherrer Institute (Villigen, Switzerland), and Wigner Research Centre for Physics (Budapest, Hungary) and Center for X-ray Spectroscopy, University of Helsinki (Helsinki).

Collaboration with the high-tech industry is possible mainly within long-term projects due to the specificity of the XAS method. However, short-term consulting services can be provided in particular cases.

REFERENCES

- C. Giannini, V. Holy, L. De Caro, L. Mino, C. Lamberti, Watching nanomaterials with X-ray eyes: Probing different length scales by combining scattering with spectroscopy, Prog. Mater. Sci. 112 (2020) 100667.
- 2. L. Mino, E. Borfecchia, J. Segura-Ruiz, C. Giannini, G. Martinez-Criado, C. Lamberti, Materials characterization by synchrotron x-ray microprobes and nanoprobes, Rev. Mod. Phys. 90 (2018) 025007.
- 3. J.J. Rehr and C.R. Albers, Theoretical approaches to X-ray absorption fine structure, Rev. Mod. Phys. 72 (2000) 621–654.
- 4. C.R. Natoli, M. Benfatto, S. Della Longa, K. Hatada, X-ray absorption spectroscopy: state-of-theart analysis, J. Synchrotron Rad. 10 (2003) 26-42.
- 5. **A. Kuzmin** and J. Chaboy, EXAFS and XANES analysis of oxides at the nanoscale, IUCrJ 1 (2014) 571-589.
- A. Kuzmin, J. Timoshenko, A. Kalinko, I. Jonane, A. Anspoks, Treatment of disorder effects in X-ray absorption spectra beyond the conventional approach, Rad. Phys. Chem. 175 (2020) 108112.
- 7. J. Timoshenko, A. Anspoks, A. Cintins, A. Kuzmin, J. Purans, A.I. Frenkel, Neural network approach for characterizing structural transformations by x-ray absorption fine structure spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 225502.

- 8. M.M. Noack, K.G. Yager, M. Fukuto, G.S. Doerk, R. Li, J.A. Sethian, A Kriging-based approach to autonomous experimentation with application to X-ray scattering, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 11809.
- 9. J. Timoshenko, Z. Duan, G. Henkelman, R.M. Crooks, A.I. Frenkel, Solving the Structure and Dynamics of Metal Nanoparticles by Combining X-Ray Absorption Fine Structure Spectroscopy and Atomistic Structure Simulations, Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem. 12 (2019) 501-522.
- 10. J.C.H. Spence, XFELs for structure and dynamics in biology, IUCrJ 4 (2017) 322-339.
- 11. **I. Pudza**, A. Kalinko, **A. Cintins**, **A. Kuzmin**, Study of the thermochromic phase transition in CuMo_{1-x}W_xO₄ solid solutions at the W L₃-edge by resonant X-ray emission spectroscopy, Acta Mater. 205 (2021) 116581.
- 12. J. M. Ribeiro, F. J. Rodrigues, F. C. Correia, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, A. Kalinko, E. Welter, N. P. Barradas, E. Alves, A. P. LaGrow, O. Bondarchuk, A. Welle, A. Telfah, C. J. Tavares, The influence of Sb doping on the local structure and disorder in thermoelectric ZnO:Sb thin films, J. Alloys Compd. 939 (2023) 168751.
- 13. I. Pudza, K. Pudzs, A. Tokmakovs, N. R. Strautnieks, A. Kalinko, A. Kuzmin, Nanocrystalline CaWO₄ and ZnWO₄ tungstates for hybrid organic-inorganic X-ray detectors, Materials 16 (2023) 667.
- 14. A. Kuzmin, I. Pudza, M. Dile, K. Laganovska, A. Zolotarjovs, Examining the effect of Cu and Mn dopants on the structure of zinc blende ZnS nanopowders, Materials 16 (2023) 5825.
- 15. M. Dile, K. Laganovska, A. Zolotarjovs, I. Bite, E. Vanags, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, K. Smits, The effect of surfactants and precursors on the structure and properties of ZnS:Cu nanocrystalline particles, Nano-Struct. Nano-Objects 35 (2023) 101023.
- L. Nataf, F. Baudelet, A. Polian, I. Jonane, A. Anspoks, A. Kuzmin, T. Irifune, Recent progress in high-pressure X-ray absorption spectroscopy studies at the ODE beamline, High Pressure Res. 40 (2020) 82-87.
- 17. J. Purans, A. P. Menushenkov, S. P. Besedin, A. A. Ivanov, V. S. Minkov, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin, K. V. Klementiev, S. Pascarelli, O. Mathon, A. D. Rosa, T. Irifune, M. I. Eremets, Local electronic structure rearrangements and strong anharmonicity in YH₃ under pressures up to 180 GPa, Nat. Commun. 12 (2021) 1765.
- 18. E. Butanovs, A. Kuzmin, S. Piskunov, K. Smits, A. Kalinko, B. Polyakov, Synthesis and characterization of GaN/ReS₂, ZnS/ReS₂ and ZnO/ReS₂ core/shell nanowire heterostructures, Appl. Surf. Sci. 536 (2021) 147841.
- 19. **G. Bakradze, A. Kalinko, A. Kuzmin**, Evidence of dimerization of nickel ions in NiWO₄ and Zn_cNi_{1-c}WO₄ solid solutions probed by EXAFS spectroscopy and reverse Monte Carlo simulations, Acta Mater. 217 (2021) 117171.
- I. Pudza, D. Bocharov, A. Anspoks, M. Krack, A. Kalinko, E. Welter, A. Kuzmin, Unraveling the interlayer and intralayer coupling in two-dimensional layered MoS₂ by X-ray absorption spectroscopy and ab initio molecular dynamics simulations, Mater. Today Commun. 35 (2023) 106359.
- 21. E. P. George, D. Raabe, R. O. Ritchie, High-entropy alloys, Nat. Rev. 4 (2019) 515-534.
- 22. A. Smekhova, A. Kuzmin, K. Siemensmeyer, C. Luo, K. Chen, F. Radu, E. Weschke, U. Reinholz, A. Guilherme Buzanich, K. V. Yusenko, Al-driven peculiarities of local coordination and magnetic properties in single-phase Alx-CrFeCoNi high-entropy alloys, Nano Res. 15 (2022) 4845-4858.
- A. Smekhova, A. Kuzmin, K. Siemensmeyer, R. Abrudan, U. Reinholz, A. G. Buzanich, M. Schneider, G. Laplanche, K. V. Yusenko, Inner relaxations in equiatomic single-phase highentropy Cantor alloy, J. Alloys Compd. 920 (2022) 165999.
- 24. A. Smekhova, **A. Kuzmin**, K. Siemensmeyer, C. Luo, J. Taylor, S. Thakur, F. Radu, E. Weschke, A. Guilherme Buzanich, B. Xiao, A. Savan, K. V. Yusenko, A. Ludwig, Local structure and magnetic properties of a nanocrystalline Mn-rich Cantor alloy thin film down to the atomic scale, Nano Res. 16 (2023) 5626–5639.
- 25. **G. Bakradze**, E. Welter, **A. Kuzmin**, Peculiarities of the local structure in new medium- and high-entropy, low-symmetry tungstates, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 172 (2023) 111052.

Summary of planning updates

- Explore the combined use of X-ray absorption spectroscopy and reverse Monte Carlo simulations for the understanding of short-range order phenomena in high-entropy alloys and oxides.
- Explore the lattice dynamics and interlayer coupling phenomena in 2D layered materials using X-ray absorption spectroscopy coupled to atomistic simulations.
- Develop the methodology of X-ray absorption spectra analysis and interpretation based on artificial neural networks.
- Started a new collaboration with international partners.

MORPHOLOGY AND STRUCTURE

STATE OF THE ART

The main focus of material research activities in the last decades is on nano-sized and nanostructured materials and devices; therefore, high-resolution imaging and analytical measurement systems for the relevant length-scales play a crucial role in the development of new materials and devices. Electron and atomic force microscopy techniques are the main methods for characterization of nano-sized materials, structures and devices. Since the advent of the electron microscopy, it has experienced rapid resolution increase (over 10 000 times in the last 9 decades). Presently, sub-Ångstrom features can be resolved with standard laboratory equipment. Now the race for the direct resolution has slowed down and the development of microscopes is more focused on the increase of versatility of the setups, e.g. incorporation of additional spectral instruments, development of new detector technologies and improvements in the application of *in situ* stimuli (heating, cooling, electrical biasing etc.). This has led to improvements in imaging and understanding materials, which have been considered to be difficult by microscopists (high resolution on soft materials, biological samples, 2D materials, in situ imaging combined with simultaneous acquisition of chemical information). At the moment, computational microscopy is developing due to the low cost of computational power and increasing amount of data generated by a variety of ultra-fast detectors readily available to researchers. Methods like machine learning-based image acquisition, analysis and sample reconstruction from large data-sets combining imaging with other analytical methods are developed and getting traction in the research community. Our laboratory also participates in the application and development of advanced microscopy methods. For example, the hybrid density functional theory (DFT)/Hartree-Fock (HF) LCAO method was used in combination with the HR-TEM images to provide an insight on atomic lattice formation and growth characteristics of 2D materials [4].

Simultaneously with the enhancements in the field of electron microscopy, other analytical approaches are rapidly developing and taking their place in the routine workflow of material studies. The majority of methods are concerned with the chemical composition, with the notable examples of EDS (Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy), WDS (Wavelength Dispersive X-ray spectroscopy), EELS (Electron energy loss spectroscopy), XPS (X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy) and ToF-SIMS (Time-of-Flight Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry). These methods are widely used for chemical and electronic state analysis, mapping of the structures, as well as

for characterization of surface and/or bulk chemical compositions. In combination with regular microscopy images, the combined datasets can provide invaluable insight in sample homogeneity, composition and structural specifics of samples.

Nowadays, microscopy setups are used not only for imaging and analysis of samples, but also are often used to alter the structure of the samples by manipulating it at nanoscale. Complex electron and ion microscopy systems (SEM-FIB) equipped with nano-manipulators, gas injection systems and other precisely controlled tools/devices can be used for nanofabrication coupled with *in situ* electrical and optical measurement capabilities. Thus, the same setup can be used for the production of novel nanoscale devices as well as for evaluation of them. This allows a rapid prototyping and testing of devices as a part of R&D; that would be otherwise not possible with conventional technology. The SEM FIB systems also ensure quality specimen preparation for volumetric studies: cross-section lamella preparation and slice and view approach for 3d reconstruction.

OUR POSITION

Laboratory of Materials Morphology and Structure Investigations was established in 2017. It focuses on the study of materials structure, morphology and composition, by using modern experimental and theoretical methods. This is a method-based laboratory, which provides services to other research laboratories.

The laboratory has four main pillars: electron microscopy imaging and spectroscopy (I), X-ray and electron diffraction methods (II), microhardness and nanoindentation methods (III) and atomic force microscopy (IV).

I. Electron microscopy is a relatively new direction at ISSP UL; however, a significant effort has been involved to obtain the expertise in this field. This has led to multiple research publications already, and the number of publications, where these methods are actively used, increases with every year. In the past 10 years, three SEMs and one TEM have been acquired. The newest addition is a state of the art SEM-FIB system Helios G5 UX. This microscope is equipped with a variety of detectors and add-ons (EBSD and EDS) allowing high-level analysis. Contrary to the conventional SEM systems, this one enables analysis and visualization not only of the specimen's surface, but volume as well and can be used for 3d reconstruction of material [1]. In addition, all measurements can be performed at low acceleration voltage with super-high resolution: 0.7 nm at 1 kV for SEM and 2.5 nm at 30 kV for FIB. The high resolution and low voltages of ion beam column allows high quality lamella preparation even for challenging materials like polymers and porous nanostructured ceramics [5]. The other installed SEM-FIB system, Tescan Lyra is tailored to perform non-conventional studies right in the microscope, such as electrical, optical and force measurements. It is equipped with 5 nano-manipulators for *in situ* measurements and prototyping. Both SEM-FIB systems are equipped with electrical and optical inputs for in-situ electrical and optical properties measurements.

II. X-ray diffraction (XRD) is one of the most used characterization methods at ISSP UL. As with most characterization methods, the analysis of the results is as important as the acquisition itself; therefore, the laboratory maintains an access to the newest databases and has experience in efficient application of them. Two instruments are in active use: PANalytical X'Pert PRO and Rigaku MiniFlex Benchtop X-Ray diffractometer. X'Pert PRO device (max. 2.2 kW, 60 kV) can be used to provide high resolution powder diffraction data, phase identification and quantitative phase analysis, analysis of thin films and coatings, crystallite size and strain determination, as

well as has the ability to perform kinetic and non-ambient experiments. In addition, highly controlled in situ XRD measurements in temperature range from -170 to +450 °C can be performed. Second XRD device (MiniFlex benchtop X-ray diffractometer) is a multipurpose powder diffraction instrument used for rapid phase identification and quantitative phase analysis offering easy and fast sample loading and unloading, which is highly beneficial with large sample series and in industrial research.

Advanced XRD analysis of the results is available: Rietveld refinements of the XRD data are used to analyze X-ray diffraction data by fitting experimentally obtained spectra with theoretical models. Rietveld method is used to determine the phase distribution, sizes and shapes of crystallites and bond lengths of the material, as well as to identify structural defects and to solve crystal structure of the powder sample. The XRD data analysis can be used in combination with electron diffraction measurements done in TEM (SADP) and SEM (EBSD).

III. Surface properties of samples can be studied with microhardness and nanoindentation methods, which are of interest in many fields and applications. Personnel working in the laboratory has decades of experience in microhardness and nanoindentation (Agilent G200) and has a modern setup for such studies.

IV. Atomic force microscopy (AFM) nowadays is used only for very specific studies of samples. Despite that, the researchers from the laboratory successfully apply this technique to various materials and structures, as reflected in published results. With the expansion of the laboratory, purchase of new hardware for AFM is being considered to replace outdated instruments.

Scientific output in form of publications is accompanied by the fulfilment of multiple industry contracts and laboratory provides services for third parties. The recent progress and international cooperation demonstrate the scientific capacity of the laboratory to perform the material morphology and structure characterization.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The top priority of the laboratory is to provide high quality support for other laboratories at the Institute, and fulfil the needs of the industry. Keeping in mind that currently the laboratory is method-based (support) laboratory, the strategic development map should be focused on the modern characterization methods.

Therefore, two development threads should be pursued in sync: instrumentation and methods. To achieve this goal, the laboratory should consider using correlative microscopy, which combines multiple characterization techniques to study materials at different length scales. This can be accomplished through the use of in situ microscopy, which allows for the simultaneous observation of materials under working conditions. In situ microscopy can provide valuable information about material behavior and can be particularly useful in industrial research and development.

Firstly, although the laboratory has a wide range of measurement setups already available, they should be upgraded or expanded. The main concept is the expansion of combined analytical approaches. For example, the setup for AFM currently only supports imaging which is not ideal for extended R&D; therefore, additional features like Conductive Probe AFM, I-V Spectroscopy, Electrostatic Force Microscopy, Kelvin Probe Force Microscopy, Dynamic Contact EFM, Piezoelectric Force and Response Microscopy, Scanning Capacitance and Scanning Spreading Resistance Microscopy, Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy, Scanning Tunnelling Spectroscopy as well as Photocurrent Mapping methods are necessary. Despite the presently installed SEM-FIB

systems being on a high state-of-the-art level, an addition of analytical equipment dedicated for in-situ SEM measurements is needed. "In-SEM" AFM is a great tool for simultaneous registration of the data from both devices providing better research capabilities and versatility. At the moment we are working towards custom implementation of optical light detection/injection simultaneously with imaging in SEM. This approach could be beneficial to the whole ISSP-UL, as there are many initiatives considering photonics. To expand element analysis capabilities, spatial and spectral resolution and in-volume measurements, the installed SEM FIB system should be equipped with Time-of-Flight (TOF) secondary-ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) as well as with WDS (wavelength-dispersive spectroscopy) system. With this configuration, a full analysis will be possible inside the same setup, thus providing an extensive data-set.

Similarly, the TEM system should be expanded with electron energy loss spectrometry (EELS) detectors or replaced with a newer generation TEM with probe correction for ultimate STEM resolution and monochromator for high energy resolution for electron energy loss spectroscopy. Such a system can be more successfully used in combination with an X-Ray absorption spectroscopy setup.

A rather fresh initiative is to introduce in situ mechanical properties probing stage in XRD. Such approach links macroscopic properties of the materials with the inner workings at the atomic level.

Naturally, hardware should be coupled with novel and efficient data analysis methods, and characterisation capabilities should work in tandem with the equipment. Such modern material characterization methods must be the part of industrial R&D workflow, providing the companies with the necessary information to overcome the technological barriers they encounter. Novel and safe material design and reliable manufacturing process development are the basis for the rapid up-scaling and effective quality control, which is much valued by field leaders.

In addition to traditional characterization techniques, the laboratory should also consider using machine learning and artificial intelligence to analyze and interpret data. Machine learning algorithms can be trained to recognize patterns and trends in data, allowing for the automation of data analysis processes and the identification of previously unrecognized relationships. Artificial intelligence can be used to simulate complex systems and optimize processes, leading to more efficient and effective research and development. By incorporating machine learning and artificial intelligence into their workflow, the laboratory can gain a deeper understanding of materials and improve the quality and efficiency of their research.

A single technique usually cannot provide sufficient information on the material. Consequently, complementary characterization methods are used to map the local chemistry, crystallography, molecular structure as well as the local functional properties. The cross-correlation of complementary methods provides a more in-depth understanding of materials. Incorporation of *in situ* measurements allows to quantify material and device behaviour at working conditions, which is highly relevant for industrial applications.

NETWORKING

Since the laboratory is a support laboratory, we collaborate with many colleagues from other local institutes, as well as from international research institutions and companies.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dunce, M., Birks, E., Antonova, M., Bikse, L., Dutkevica, S., Freimanis, O., Livins, M., Eglite, L., Smits, K., Sternberg, A. Influence of sintering temperature on microstructure of Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ ceramics (2021) Journal of Alloys and Compounds, p.884
- Joost, U., Šutka, A., Oja, M., Smits, K., Döbelin, N., Loot, A., Järvekülg, M., Hirsimäki, M., Valden, M., Nõmmiste, E. Reversible Photodoping of TiO₂ Nanoparticles for Photochromic Applications, (2018) Chemistry of Materials, 30 (24), pp. 8968-8974.
- Labrador-Páez, L., Jovanović, D.J., Marqués, M.I., Smits, K., Dolić, S.D., Jaque, F., Stanley, H.E., Dramićanin, M.D., García-Solé, J., Haro-González, P., Jaque, D., Unveiling Molecular Changes in Water by Small Luminescent Nanoparticles, (2017) Small, 13 (30), art. no. 1700968,
- 4. **Polyakov, B., Kuzmin, A., Smits, K.**, Zideluns, J., **Butanovs, E., Butikova, J.**, Vlassov, S., **Piskunov, S., Zhukovskii, Y.F.**, Unexpected epitaxial growth of a few WS₂ Layers on {1100} facets of ZnO nanowires, (2016) Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 120 (38), pp. 21451-21459.
- 5. Laganovska, K., Olsteins, D., Smits, K., Bite, I., Bikse, L. Formation of translucent nanostructured zirconia ceramics (2021) Journal of the European Ceramic Society, 41 (13), pp. 6641-6648.
- 6. Bite, I., Krieke, G., Zolotarjovs, A., Laganovska, K., Liepina, V., Smits, K., Auzins, K., Grigorjeva, L., Millers, D., Skuja, L., Novel method of phosphorescent strontium aluminate coating preparation on aluminum, (2018) Materials and Design, 160, pp. 794-802.
- Schenk, T., Anspoks, A., Jonane, I., Ignatans, R., Johnson, B.S., Jones, J.L., Tallarida, M., Marini, C., Simonelli, L., Hönicke, P., Richter, C., Mikolajick, T., Schroeder, U., Local structural investigation of hafnia-zirconia polymorphs in powders and thin films by Xray absorption spectroscopy, (2019) Acta Materialia, 180, pp. 158-169.
- 8. Zukuls, A., **Eglītis, R**., Käämbre, T., Kook, M., Kisand, V., Maiorov, M., **Ignatans, R.**, Duarte, R.F., Järvekülg, M., Šutka, A., Magnetic and optical properties in degenerated transition metal and Ga co-substituted ZnO nanocrystals, (2019) Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 805, pp. 1191-1199.
- 9. Svirskas, Š., Shvartsman, V.V., **Dunce, M., Ignatans, R., Birks, E.**, Ostapchuk, T., Kamba, S., Lupascu, D.C., Banys, J., Two-phase dielectric polar structures in 0.1NBT-0.6ST-0.3PT solid solutions, (2018) Acta Materialia, 153, pp. 117-125.
- 10. Šutka, A., Malnieks, K., Lapčinskis, L., Kaufelde, P., Linarts, A., Berziņa, A., **Zabels, R.**, Jurķans, V., Gorņevs, I., Blums, J., Knite, M., The role of intermolecular forces in contact electrification on polymer surfaces and triboelectric nanogenerators (2019) Energy and Environmental Science, 12 (8), pp. 2417-2421.
- 11. Jõgiaas, T., **Zabels, R**., Tarre, A., Tamm, A., Hardness and modulus of elasticity of atomic layer deposited Al₂O₃-ZrO₂ nanolaminates and mixtures, (2020) Materials Chemistry and Physics, 240, art. no. 122270, .
- Dauletbekova, A., Skuratov, V., Kirilkin, N., Manika, I., Maniks, J., Zabels, R., Akilbekov, A., Volkov, A., Baizhumanov, M., Zdorovets, M., Seitbayev, A., Depth profiles of aggregate centers and nanodefects in LiF crystals irradiated with 34 MeV 84Kr, 56 MeV 40Ar and 12 MeV ¹²C ions, (2018) Surface and Coatings Technology, 355, pp. 16-21.
- 13. Černauskas, M., Marcinauskas, L., **Zabels, R.**, Synthesis of nanostructured amorphous carbon-copper composite films by plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition, (2016) Thin Solid Films, 615, pp. 195-201.
- 14. Manika, I., Maniks, J., Zabels, R., Grants, R., Kuzmin, A., Schwartz, K., Depth profiles of damage creation and hardening in MgO irradiated with GeV heavy ions, (2019) Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research. B 461, pp. 77-82.
- 15. Manika, I., Zabels, R., Maniks, J., Schwartz, K., Grants, R., Krasta, T., Kuzmin, A., Formation of dislocations in LiF irradiated with 3He and 4He ions, (2018) Journal of Nuclear Materials, 507, pp. 241-247.
- 16. Jõgiaas, T., **Zabels, R.,** Tarre, A., Tamm, A., Hardness and modulus of elasticity of atomic layer deposited Al₂O₃-ZrO₂ nanolaminates and mixtures, (2020) Materials Chemistry and Physics, 240, art. no. 122270.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

• No updates to the initial program (January 2021) are planned (as of January 2024)

OPTICALY ACTIVE DEFECTS IN SILICON DIOXIDE

STATE OF THE ART.

There is a large number of optical and photonics applications, requiring low-loss optical fiber waveguides, deep-ultraviolet transmitting optics, optical elements suitable for work in ionizing or particle radiation environments, or for transmitting high-power laser light. In most cases, the best material for these applications is pure or doped glassy SiO₂. (technical names used: "fused silica", "quartz glass"). Its large band gap, \approx 9eV, the largest among all glassy materials, makes it the material of choice for three application groups: (i) optical elements and devices operating in the ultraviolet (UV) spectral range: windows, lenses, filter and grating substrates, thin film coatings, UV fiber waveguides [1]; (ii) high optical power applications, ranging from fibers for laser surgery or for metal welding [2] to fs-laser writing [3] and lenses for laser-ignited nuclear fusion [2]; (iii) photonics devices for radiation environments. Devices made from SiO₂ are among the most resistant to radiation damage off all glass-based devices, they are widely used and studied for nuclear energy and space applications [3,4]. Presently emerging hollow-core fibers [5] show promise for even higher power optical power transmittance and for higher radiation resistance. A high density, multi-terabyte ultra-stable "5D" data storage by fs-laser writing in silica glass was demonstrated [11].

A key phenomenon, crucial for all these applications, is the presence or generation of optically active point defects in the material. It has been treated in many works, and a considerable level of understanding is achieved (see, e.g., reviews [3,4,6]). However, a number of problems are still not solved. Among them are: the specific origins of defect-related absorption in the deep UV region, the influence of technological impurities (chlorine, carbon), the incorporation of fluorine and the related defects in highly fluorine-doped SiO₂ glasses, the effect of internal surfaces in amorphous structure of SiO_2 on optical and photochemical properties. During the years 2021, and in particular 2022, a number of research and review papers, e.g., [14-17] have delineated a new trend, related to densification of silica-related glasses and engineering the size of nanovoids inherent to their structure. This has become a hot topic in the quest to further increase the transparency of the long -range optical communication fibers. At the presently reached glass purity level, the main cause of attenuation in optical fibers is Rayleigh scattering on fluctuations of glass density. It has been discovered that these fluctuations can be reduced by hot-pressing silica glasses [14], and this path is now pursued by a number of research groups. Apart from this new trend, a strong activity continues towards femtosecond laser writing in silica glass for Bragggratings and data storage [17-19, 21,22].

OUR POSITION

Researchers of the Laboratory of Optical Materials have detailed knowledge and long experience with SiO₂-based optical materials. Their past work has been crucial for identification and establishing of optical properties and radiochemical transformations of a number of basic defects in glassy SiO₂, like oxygen dangling bond ("non-bridging oxygen hole center", NBOHC), divalent Si ("silicon oxygen deficiency center", SiODC), interstitial hydrogen H_2 , oxygen O_2 and O_3 (ozone) molecules in SiO₂. They have authored several well-cited reviews on this field (see, e.g., ref. [6] and references therein). More recently, this group has tackled the problems of chlorine, a "technological impurity" in synthetic SiO₂ made from SiCl₄ [7,12], the dynamic properties of O_2 interstitials in SiO₂ [8] and the similarities and differences of defects in crystalline and glassy SiO₂ [9]. The group has identified a number of up-to now not understood carbon-related defects in silica, demonstrating that they are due to interstitial polycyclic hydrocarbons [13]. A PhD student works now on closely related topics. Most recently, in 2023, the group has identified the first paramagnetic defect in fluorine-doped silica, directly associated with fluorine [23]. The group is well-qualified in optical, vibrational and magnetic spectroscopies. It can make use both of the house-built equipment, such as vacuum-UV spectrometry, thermostimulated luminescence, radio-luminescence, and of the recently upgraded general-use equipment of ISSP UL. Most recently, the capability for in-laboratory sol-gel synthesis of silica glasses was added and is further developed.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

- Studies of factors limiting transparency of SiO₂ glass in ultraviolet, deep-ultraviolet and vacuum-ultraviolet spectral regions. This problem is most important in the context of developing wide spectral range and radiation/solarization-resistant optical fibers, which are required for analytical, medical, nuclear energy-fusion diagnostics and space applications. The importance of deep ultraviolet transmission materials is additionally boosted by prospective UV-disinfection applications in the wake of COVID-19 pandemics.
- Studies of chlorine- and carbon- related defects in SiO_2 based glasses. Presently, a transformation from chlorine-related to carbon-related technology in the synthesis of SiO_2 glasses is gradually taking place. This is caused in part by ecological considerations and in part by the detrimental effect of Cl trace impurities on optical properties and solarization resistance of SiO_2 glass and optical fibers. While the properties of Cl impurities are known to some extent [7,12], the nature and optical properties of carbon dopants are much less understood.
- Based the results of the recent (2021) work [13], particular activity will be focused on polycyclic hydrocarbons as optically active dopants in silica glass and on their possible role as precursors to other carbon-related defects and carbon nanodots.
- Studies of fluorine-related defects in glass. Fluorine is widely used in optical fiber technology to decrease the refraction coefficient and/or to reduce the fictive temperature of glassy SiO₂. Fluorine doping is presently studied as a way to further reduce the Rayleigh scattering in ultra-low loss optical fiber waveguides [10]. It generally increases the radiation resistance of the glass [2]; however, this effect decreases at large F concentrations. Relying on the recently discovered electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) evidence for fluorine-related defects [23], their optical properties and the nature of their precursors will be studied. This knowledge is needed in order to optimize the optical fiber technology.
- Studies of the effects of SiO₂ glass morphology on the optical and photochemical properties of the material. Amorphous SiO₂ can be obtained in a large number of different forms with different morphologies (nanoparticles, nanofibers, nanoporous,

micro- and mesoporous materials, porous crystalline (zeolite-like) structures. These materials possess large internal surfaces facilitating their use in chemical and biomedical applications.

- Developing of experimental capabilities supportive to the R&D needs of Latvian fiber optics industry. Performing of contract works on optical fiber spectroscopy.
- In view of the perspective of using nanoscale defect structures in silica for long-term information storage [11], it is planned to focus on studies of the properties of defects in silica induced within internal nanovoids, created by laser damage or high energy nuclear irradiation.
- Defects created by ion implantation of silica (in collaboration with prof. A.Hallen, KTH, Sweden)
- The studies of the effects of densification of silica on defect creation, in collaboration with Dr. N. Ollier, Ecole Politechnique, France (see ref.[20], this direction will be continued.

NETWORKING

The group has long-standing active international collaborations with research groups in:

- France: Prof. Sylvain Girard, Youcef Ouerdane (Univ. Saint-Etienne), Dr. Nadege Ollier (Ecole Polytechnique, University of Paris-Saclay);
- Japan: Prof. Koichi Kajihara (Tokyo Metropolitan University), prof. Hideo Hosono (Tokyo Institute of Technology);
- Italy: Prof. Marco Cannas, Simonpietro Agnello (Palermo University);
- United Kingdom: Prof. Peter Kazansky (Southampton University);
- The group collaborates with Latvia-based fiber-optics industrial companies, Ceram Optec and Light-Guide Optics.
- A collaboration with prof. Andres Hallén (KTH) on topics of ion-implantation and carbon-doping of silicon dioxide, will continue in 2024 with an emphasis on finding possible correlations between 3 different application fields, all related to carbon in SiO₂: silica glass as optical material; SiO₂ insulating layers obtained by oxidation of SiC; and organics-modified silica ("organosilicas") developed for low-k materials.
- Topics of further collaboration with Dr. Nadege Ollier (Ecole Polytechnique, University of Paris-Saclay) are outlined as (i) properties of pressure densified silica glass and (ii) MeV electron irradiation-induced defects in SiO₂ materials. Parts of this collaboration will be assisted by samples from Prof. K. Kajihara (Tokyo Metropolitan University).
- Collaboration with prof. Peter Kazansky (Southampton University, UK) will be focused on studies of defects in femtosecond-laser modified silica and their role in modification of glass for information storage

REFERENCES

- 1. D. Ehrt, Deep-UV materials, Advanced Optical Technologies. 7 (2018) 225–242, doi:10.1515/aot-2018-0023.
- 2. M.N. Zervas, C.A. Codemard, High Power Fiber Lasers: A Review, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics. 20 (2014) 219–241. doi:10.1109/JSTQE.2014.2321279.
- 3. M. Beresna, M. Gecevičius, P.G. Kazansky, Ultrafast laser direct writing and nanostructuring in transparent materials, Adv. Opt. Photon., AOP. 6 (2014) 293–339. doi:10.1364/AOP.6.000293.
- 4. F. Nürnberg, B. Kühn, A. Langner, M. Altwein, G. Schötz, R. Takke, S. Thomas, J. Vydra, Bulk damage and absorption in fused silica due to high-power laser applications, in: Laser-Induced Damage in Optical Materials, Proc. SPIE, International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2015: p. 96321R. doi:10.1117/12.2194289.
- 3. S. Girard, A. Alessi, N. Richard *et al.*, Overview of radiation induced point defects in silica-based optical fibers, Reviews in Physics. 4 (2019) 100032. doi:10.1016/j.revip.2019.100032.

- S. Girard, A. Morana, A. Ladaci, T. Robin, L. Mescia, J.-J. Bonnefois, M. Boutillier, J. Mekki, A. Paveau, B. Cadier, E. Marin, Y. Ouerdane, A. Boukenter, Recent advances in radiation-hardened fiber-based technologies for space applications, Journal of Optics (United Kingdom). 20 (2018) 093001 (1–48). doi:10.1088/2040-8986/aad271.
- F. Yu, M. Cann, A. Brunton, W. Wadsworth, J. Knight, Single-mode solarization-free hollow-core fiber for ultraviolet pulse delivery, Opt. Express, OE. 26 (2018) 10879–10887. doi:10.1364/OE.26.010879.
- 6. L. Skuja, K. Kajihara, M. Hirano, H. Hosono, Oxygen-excess-related point defects in glassy/amorphous SiO₂ and related materials, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms. 286 (2012) 159–168. doi:10.1016/j.nimb.2012.02.038.
- L. Skuja, K. Kajihara, K. Smits, A. Silins, H. Hosono, Luminescence and Raman Detection of Molecular Cl₂ and ClClO Molecules in Amorphous SiO₂ Matrix, J. Phys. Chem. C. 121 (2017) 5261–5266. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.6b13095.
- L. Skuja, K. Smits, A. Trukhin, F. Gahbauer, R. Ferber, M. Auzinsh, L. Busaite, L. Razinkovas, M. Mackoit-Sinkevičienė, A. Alkauskas, Dynamics of Singlet Oxygen Molecule Trapped in Silica Glass Studied by Luminescence Polarization Anisotropy and Density Functional Theory, J. Phys. Chem. C. 124 (2020) 7244–7253. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b11581.
- L. Skuja, N. Ollier, K. Kajihara, K. Smits, Creation of glass-characteristic point defects in crystalline SiO₂ by 2.5 MeV electrons and by fast neutrons, J. Non-Crystalline Solids. 505 (2019) 252–259. doi:10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2018.11.014.
- S. Urata, N. Nakamura, K. Aiba, T. Tada, H. Hosono, How fluorine minimizes density fluctuations of silica glass: Molecular dynamics study with machine-learning assisted forcematching potential, Materials & Design. 197 (2021) 109210. doi:10.1016/j.matdes.2020.109210.
- 11. Y. Lei, M. Sakakura, L. Wang, Y. Yu, H. Wang, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, High speed ultrafast laser anisotropic nanostructuring by energy deposition control via near-field enhancement, Optica, OPTICA. 8 (2021) 1365–1371. doi:10.1364/OPTICA.433765.
- 12.L. Skuja, N. Ollier, K. Kajihara, I. Bite, M. Leimane, K. Smits, A. Silins, Optical Absorption of Excimer Laser-Induced Dichlorine Monoxide in Silica Glass and Excitation of Singlet Oxygen Luminescence by Energy Transfer from Chlorine Molecules, Phys. Status Solidi A. 218 (2021) 2100009. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/pssa.202100009.
- L. Skuja, M. Leimane, I. Bite, D. Millers, A. Zolotarjovs, V. Vitola, K. Smits, Ultraviolet luminescence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in partially consolidated sol-gel silica glasses., Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids. 577 (2022) 121325. doi:10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2021.121325.
- 14. M. Ono, Void Engineering in Silica Glass for Ultralow Optical Scattering Loss, J. Lightwave Technol., JLT. 39 (2021) 5258–5262. https://doi.org/10.1109/JLT.2021.3089171.
- S. Urata, N. Nakamura, T. Tada, A.R. Tan, R. Gómez-Bombarelli, H. Hosono, Suppression of Rayleigh Scattering in Silica Glass by Codoping Boron and Fluorine: Molecular Dynamics Simulations with Force-Matching and Neural Network Potentials, J. Phys. Chem. C. 126 (2022) 2264–2275. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.1c10300.
- T. Du, S.S. Sørensen, T. To, M.M. Smedskjaer, Oxide glasses under pressure: Recent insights from experiments and simulations, Journal of Applied Physics. 131 (2022) 170901. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0088606.
- 17. L.A. Moore, C.M. Smith, Fused silica as an optical material [Invited], Opt. Mater. Express, OME. 12 (2022) 3043–3059. https://doi.org/10.1364/OME.463349.
- Y. Lei, H. Wang, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, Ultrafast laser nanostructuring in transparent materials for beam shaping and data storage [Invited], Opt. Mater. Express, OME. 12 (2022) 3327–3355. https://doi.org/10.1364/OME.463151.
- 19. H. Wang, Y. Lei, L. Wang, M. Sakakura, Y. Yu, G. Shayeganrad, P.G. Kazansky, 100-Layer Error-Free 5D Optical Data Storage by Ultrafast Laser Nanostructuring in Glass, Laser & Photonics Reviews. n/a (2022) 2100563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lpor.202100563</u>.
- 20. N. Ollier, I. Reghioua, O. Cavani, M. Mobasher, A. Alessi, S. le Floch, L. Skuja, Probing densified silica glass structure by molecular oxygen and E' center formation under electron irradiation, Sci Rep. 13 (2023) 13657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-40270-x</u>.

- 21. Y. Lei, H. Wang, L. Skuja, B. Kühn, B. Franz, Y. Svirko, Peter. G. Kazansky, Ultrafast Laser Writing in Different Types of Silica Glass, Laser & Photonics Reviews. 17 (2023) 2200978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lpor.202200978</u>.
- 22. Y. Lei, G. Shayeganrad, H. Wang, M. Sakakura, Y. Yu, L. Wang, D. Kliukin, L. Skuja, Y. Svirko, P.G. Kazansky, Efficient ultrafast laser writing with elliptical polarization, Light Sci Appl. 12 (2023) 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41377-023-01098-2</u>.
- 23. L. Skuja, M. Leimane, N. Ollier, A. Griscenko, Paramagnetic point-defect in fluorine-doped silica glass: The E'(F)-center, Phys. Rev. Letters, 131 (2023) 256903. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.131.256903.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Studies of correlations between paramagnetic defects in fluorine-doped silica glass and radiation induced optical absorption bands
- Studies of defects in femtosecond-laser-modified silica glass.
- Defects in fast electron-irradiated sol-gel silica glasses.

ANALYSIS OF PARAMAGNETIC DEFECT STRUCTURE IN FUNCTIONAL MATERIALS

STATE OF THE ART

Functionality of solid-state materials is inextricably linked to structural imperfections on atomic scale. Point defects are responsible for mechanical, thermal, chemical, electrical, magnetic and optical properties of the material. Peculiarities of intrinsic defect formation and activator ion incorporation have been well-documented in high symmetry hosts e.g., simple oxides and halides [1,2] – point defects can be categorized into electron centers, hole centers, interstitials and substitutional defects. The defects can occur in different charge states, often require charge compensation, may be localized at impurity ions and even form pairs and composite defect structures; therefore, their properties and stability vastly differ. As it stands characterization of point defects in lower symmetry systems with several cationic and/or anionic positions in the crystal lattice is still an ongoing quest in fundamental science. Some examples of recent results published in top-tier journals include identification of intrinsic defects and rare earth impurities in optical materials [3,4], determination of defect structure and thermal stability of neutron-irradiated oxides [5,6], incorporation and properties of transition metal ions in biomaterials [7–9] and others.

A key aspect in the characterization of point defect structure in complex matrices is the application of advanced spectroscopic techniques. Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy has been established as the central method for the investigations of paramagnetic centers in solids allowing unambiguous identification of the defect model and its local structure. A modern approach is to include variable temperature multifrequency EPR measurements, double resonance experiments, pulse techniques, and spectra simulations in correlation with complementary investigatory techniques and theoretical calculations.

OUR POSITION

ISSP UL is in possession of a modern Bruker continuous wave (CW) EPR system with multifrequency (X and Q band) capabilities in variable (4-300 K) temperature range with possibilities to conduct electron nuclear double resonance (ENDOR) experiments at the X band. There is also a custom-built optically detected magnetic resonance (ODMR) setup for the studies of luminescence mechanisms and the origin of optical absorption bands in materials. Advanced complementary spectroscopic techniques are also accessible at ISSP UL.

The EPR group of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy has expertise in defect analysis in systems ranging from single crystals [10–12] to nanomaterials and composites [13–15]. The main research activities are performed on inorganic solid-state materials to identify and analyze the presence of paramagnetic species – intrinsic defects and activator ions – and their role in the performance of the material.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

- Radiation defect creation and evolution in functional materials, including materials for fusion applications. Determination of defect local structure models and their stability characterization via correlated EPR and thermal annealing experiments. A prospective collaboration with the Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia has been initiated to investigate thermal properties of radiation-induced paramagnetic defects in potential solid-state candidate materials for tritium breeding in future thermonuclear fusion reactors. First-principle calculations have been implemented to explain the experimental EPR data of an X-ray induced center in LiYF₄ single crystal [23]; it is planned to extend this approach on other single crystal materials, *e.g.*, Gd₃Ga₅O₁₂.
- Intrinsic defect and activator ion characterization in optical materials luminescent and persistent phosphors, photochromic materials, optical temperature sensors. Establishing the role of defects in optical processes via combined optical and magnetic resonance techniques: EPR measurements during luminescence and ODMR. Recent results provide valuable insights into paramagnetic defect contribution to optical properties of complex materials [16-18]. A methodology for correlated EPR and luminescence (decay kinetics, thermally stimulated luminescence) measurements has been implemented within the group. The methodology will be further developed. Defect engineering of persistent phosphors emitting in the shortwave ultraviolet (UV-C) range is planned based on the recently published results on persistent luminescence mechanisms [24,25].
- Studies of paramagnetic defects and impurities in biomaterials. Development of variable temperature multifrequency EPR methodology including ENDOR and pulse (in collaboration with other groups) techniques. Joint investigations have expanded the knowledge base of substitution mechanisms of impurity ions and creation of radiation-induced defects in calcium phosphate materials [19-22]. The group at ISSP UL has obtained know-how in advanced EPR methodology and spectra simulations. Insights into radiation-induced defect formation and properties have been obtained in different polymorphs of calcium pyrophosphate [26], and it is planned to expand the studies on other complex calcium phosphate hosts, *e.g.*, brushite and monetite.
- Nanomaterials and nanocomposite materials ranging from nanoparticles, thin films to multiphase functional materials.

NETWORKING

There are several ongoing academic collaborations:

- Sol-Gel Chemistry Group, Vilnius University, Lithuania; prof. habil. Dr. Aivaras Kareiva, assist. prof. Dr. Aleksej Zarkov; applications of advanced EPR in biomaterials.
- Laboratory of Radiation Chemistry of Solids, Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia; Dr. Gunta Kizane; radiation-induced defects in tritium breeding materials.

There is a collaboration with the local fiber optics company Light Guide Optics International.

REFERENCES

- 1. A.E. Hughes, B. Henderson, Color Centers in Simple Oxides, in: Point Defects in Solids, 1972: pp. 381–490. doi:10.1007/978-1-4684-2970-1_7.
- B. Henderson, Anion vacancy centers in alkaline earth oxides, Crit. Rev. Solid State Mater. Sci. 9 (1980) 1–60. doi:10.1080/10408438008243569.
- E. V. Edinach, Y.A. Uspenskaya, A.S. Gurin, R.A. Babunts, H.R. Asatryan, N.G. Romanov, A.G. Badalyan, P.G. Baranov, Electronic structure of non-Kramers Tb³⁺ centers in garnet crystals and evidence of their energy and spin transfer to Ce³⁺ emitters, Phys. Rev. B. 100 (2019) 1–14. doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.104435.
- V. Laguta, M. Buryi, P. Arhipov, O. Sidletskiy, O. Laguta, M.G. Brik, M. Nikl, Oxygen-vacancy donor-electron center in Y₃Al₅O₁₂ garnet crystals: Electron paramagnetic resonance and dielectric spectroscopy study, Phys. Rev. B. 101 (2020) 24106. doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.024106.
- A. Lushchik, E. Feldbach, E.A. Kotomin, I. Kudryavtseva, V.N. Kuzovkov, A.I. Popov, V. Seeman, E. Shablonin, Distinctive features of diffusion-controlled radiation defect recombination in stoichiometric magnesium aluminate spinel single crystals and transparent polycrystalline ceramics, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020) 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-64778-8.
- 6. V. Seeman, A. Lushchik, E. Shablonin, G. Prieditis, D. Gryaznov, A. Platonenko, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov, Atomic, electronic and magnetic structure of an oxygen interstitial in neutronirradiated Al₂O₃ single crystals, Sci. Rep. (2020). doi:10.1038/s41598-020-72958-9.
- 7. J. V. Rau, I. V. Fadeeva, A.S. Fomin, K. Barbaro, E. Galvano, A.P. Ryzhov, F. Murzakhanov, M. Gafurov, S. Orlinskii, I. Antoniac, V. Uskoković, Sic Parvis Magna: Manganese-Substituted Tricalcium Phosphate and Its Biophysical Properties, ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng. (2019). doi:10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b01528.
- L. Sinusaite, A.M. Renner, M.B. Schütz, A. Antuzevics, U. Rogulis, I. Grigoraviciute-Puroniene, S. Mathur, A. Zarkov, Effect of Mn doping on the low-temperature synthesis of tricalcium phosphate (TCP) polymorphs, J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 39 (2019) 3257–3263. doi:10.1016/j.jeurceramsoc.2019.03.057.
- 9. L. Sinusaite, A. Popov, A. Antuzevics, K. Mazeika, D. Baltrunas, J.C. Yang, J.L. Horng, S. Shi, T. Sekino, K. Ishikawa, A. Kareiva, A. Zarkov, Fe and Zn co-substituted beta-tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP): Synthesis, structural, magnetic, mechanical and biological properties, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. (2020). doi:10.1016/j.msec.2020.110918.
- 10. I. Tale, M. Springis, U. Rogulis, V. Ogorodnik, P. Kulis, V. Tale, A. Veispals, H.J. Fitting, Self-trapped holes and recombination luminescence in LiBaF₃ crystals, Radiat. Meas. 33 (2001) 751–754. doi:10.1016/S1350-4487(01)00096-8.
- 11. **U. Rogulis,** R.C. Baetzold, J.M. Spaeth, Luminescence-detected EPR of Oxygen-fluorine vacancy complexes in CaF₂, Phys. Status Solidi Basic Res. (2009). doi:10.1002/pssb.200844373.
- A. Antuzevics, A. Fedotovs, D. Berzins, U. Rogulis, K. Auzins, A. Zolotarjovs, S.L. Baldochi, Recombination luminescence of X-ray induced paramagnetic defects in BaY₂F₈, J. Lumin. (2020). doi:10.1016/j.jlumin.2020.117216.
- 13. **A. Antuzevics, M. Kemere, G. Krieke,** Multisite formation in gadolinium doped SrF₂ nanoparticles, J. Alloys Compd. 762 (2018) 500–507. doi:10.1016/j.jallcom.2018.05.283.

- 14. A. Fedotovs, A. Antuzevics, U. Rogulis, M. Kemere, R. Ignatans, Electron paramagnetic resonance and magnetic circular dichroism of Gd³⁺ ions in oxyfluoride glass-ceramics containing CaF₂ nanocrystals, J. Non. Cryst. Solids. 429 (2015) 118–121. doi:10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2015.08.036.
- 15. S. Varnagiris, A. Medvids, M. Lelis, D. Milcius, **A. Antuzevics**, Black carbon-doped TiO₂ films: Synthesis, characterization and photocatalysis, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A Chem. 382 (2019) 111941. doi:10.1016/j.jphotochem.2019.111941.
- 16. **G. Doke, A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, A. Kalnina, M. Springis, A. Sarakovskis**, UV and X-ray excited red persistent luminescence in Mn²⁺ doped MgGeO₃ material synthesized in air and reducing atmosphere, J. Lumin. 234 (2021) 117995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2021.117995.
- 17. **G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, K. Smits, D. Millers**, Enhancement of persistent luminescence in Ca₂SnO₄: Sm³⁺, Opt. Mater. (Amst). 113 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2021.110842.
- 18. **G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, B. Berzina**, Defect formation in photochromic Ca₂SnO₄: Al³⁺, Mater. Today Commun. 28 (2021) 102592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtcomm.2021.102592.
- L. Sinusaite, A. Antuzevics, A.I. Popov, U. Rogulis, M. Misevicius, A. Katelnikovas, A. Kareiva, A. Zarkov, Synthesis and luminescent properties of Mn-doped alpha-tricalcium phosphate, Ceram. Int. 47 (2021) 5335–5340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceramint.2020.10.114.
- D. Griesiute, L. Sinusaite, A. Kizalaite, A. Antuzevics, K. Mazeika, D. Baltrunas, T. Goto, T. Sekino, A. Kareiva, A. Zarkov, The influence of Fe³⁺ doping on thermally induced crystallization and phase evolution of amorphous calcium phosphate, CrystEngComm. 23 (2021) 4627–4637. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1ce00371b.
- 21. D.V. Shurtakova, B.V. Yavkin, G.V. Mamin, S.B. Orlinskii, V.P. Sirotinkin, A.Y. Fedotov, A. Shinkarev, A. Antuzevics, I.V. Smirnov, V.I. Tovtin, E.E. Starostin, M.R. Gafurov, V.S. Komlev, X-ray diffraction and multifrequency epr study of radiation-induced room temperature stable radicals in octacalcium phosphate, Radiat. Res. 195 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1667/RADE-20-00194.1.
- 22. F.F. Murzakhanov, P.O. Grishin, M.A. Goldberg, B. V. Yavkin, G. V. Mamin, S.B. Orlinskii, A.Y. Fedotov, N. V. Petrakova, A. Antuzevics, M.R. Gafurov, V.S. Komlev, Radiation-Induced Stable Radicals in Calcium Phosphates: Results of Multifrequency EPR, EDNMR, ESEEM, and ENDOR Studies, Appl. Sci. 11 (2021) 7727. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11167727
- 23. J. Cirulis, A. Antuzevics, A. Fedotovs, U. Rogulis, G. Zvejnieks, Local structure of an oxygen impurity and fluorine vacancy complex in LiYF₄, Materialia (2023) 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtla.2023.101848
- A. Antuzevics, G. Doke, G. Krieke, P. Rodionovs, D. Nilova, J. Cirulis, A. Fedotovs, U. Rogulis, Shortwave Ultraviolet Persistent Luminescence of Sr₂MgSi₂O₇: Pr³⁺, Materials, (2023) 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma16051776
- 25. **D. Nilova, A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, G. Doke, I. Pudza, A. Kuzmin**, Ultraviolet-C persistent luminescence and defect properties in Ca₂Al₂SiO₇: Pr³⁺, J. Lumin (2023) 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2023.120105
- 26. **A. Antuzevics, J. Cirulis, G. Krieke,** D. Griesiute, A. Beganskiene, A. Kareiva, A. Dubauskas, V. Klimavicius, A. Zarkov, Paramagnetic radiation-induced radicals in calcium pyrophosphate polymorphs, Mat. Chem. Phys. (2023) 310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2023.128479

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Local structure analysis of radiation-induced defects in functional single crystals
- Defect engineering of UV-C persistent phosphors
- Comprehensive analysis of paramagnetic centers on complex biomaterials

ELECTRONIC PROCESSES AND CHARGE TRANSFER MECHANISMS IN LUMINESCENT MATERIALS

STATE OF THE ART

The research of luminescent materials having band gaps over 3 eV is of interest due to wide applications of these materials [1]. It is focused on luminescent centers, both doping-induced and intrinsic ones, electronic processes, generation and relaxation of excited states as well as on the charge transfer. This is an active research field with numerous studies dedicated to understanding the luminescence mechanisms (e.g., [2,3]). Among these studies, the research groups at ISSP LU stand out in the fields of luminescent dosimetry and persistent luminescence, i.e., photoinduced long-lasting luminescence (Optical Materials laboratory and Laboratory of Spectroscopy).

Materials emitting visible or ultraviolet luminescence must possess sufficiently wide band gap and are counted to insulators or wide-gap semiconductors. Apart from the "local" properties of the luminescence centres, the luminescent properties of these materials are to a large extent determined by charge carrier generation/ionization, transport, trapping and de-trapping or tunnelling. The exact fundamental mechanisms of these processes and their peculiarities in different luminescent materials are still not entirely understood [3,4].

In the wide field of luminescent materials, couple of promising directions can be outlined – mechanoluminescence [5] and electroluminescence [6], with subsequent studies of mechanisms as well as materials and production methods. Naturally, the interest for luminescence effects with such prominent practical applications is exceptionally high; however, the lack of understanding of underlying mechanisms often slows down the search for novel materials. Recently, a large increase of popularity was experienced by the field of additive manufacturing, where a range of challenges can be solved using optical properties of different materials, especially mechanoluminescence. The ever-increasing interest in improvement of the manufacturing, use cases and long-term quality assurance motivated scientists to look for ways to use existing luminophores (especially, doped metal oxides and complex oxide compounds) and develop new, application-tailored materials.

OUR POSITION

Significant work is invested world-wide in studies of long-lasting (persistent) luminescence of solids. While this phenomenon is the basis of numerous applications (visualization in darkness, various indicators, traffic signs etc.), the underlying fundamental mechanisms providing the ultra-long luminescence decay time are not clearly understood.

The team within the Optical Materials Laboratory has performed a series of in-depth studies of electronic processes in long-lasting luminescence materials [7,8]; a new mechanism of long-lasting luminescence involving electron tunnelling has been proposed [9]. The work of this and other international groups on mechanisms of long-lasting luminescence mechanisms is summarized in our recently published topical review paper [10].

Additionally, mechanoluminescence is extensively studied combining the previous knowledge on the electronic processes in persistent luminescence materials with the newly developed experimental setup for mechanoluminescence tests. Studies on various production methods, host materials and spectroscopic properties are performed with a row of publications in the making.

Not only the experimental setup for mechanoluminescence measurements was published in detail in year 2022 [14], but also a completely new data analysis protocol was developed and published for automated 2d image analysis of mechanoluminescence while the parts are deformed [15]. This allows the use of our developed materials to be used in a form of paint for real practical applications

In scintillator/dosimetry field, the radio- and photoluminescence studies of prospective scintillator ZnO:In and ZnO:Ga were conducted. The results of experiments show an extremely fast subnanosecond decay of near-band-edge luminescence [11]. The time constant determined for the decay of this luminescence was \approx 17 ps [12] and it is very close to the present best result 15 ps found by M. Kano et al. [13].

Thermostimulated luminescence investigation of Al_2O_3 :C layer on metallic aluminium was conducted [14] and it was shown that the charge traps in Al_2O_3 :C layer are similar to those known in the widely used thermoluminescent dosimeter TLD – 500. An understanding of the electronic processes in these layers is necessary to develop radiation-detecting 2D screens. An article on the improvement of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation on aluminium surface was published in the year 2022 outlining an inexpensive, reliable and energy-efficient way to create flat, large surface area dosimetric coatings with the composition Al_2O_3 :Cr, with TRL4 demonstration of the technology. [16]

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

For persistent luminescence materials:

The studies of the impact of spatial distribution of donor-acceptor pairs on persistent luminescence are planned. These studies should be fruitful for finding the material with temperature independent persistent luminescence significantly expanding the list of possible applications of such materials.

The two main directions are foreseen for ZnO based scintillator materials:

- to elucidate the main mechanism(s) contributing to room temperature luminescence;
- to find a more efficient donor and its optimal concentration in ZnO for an efficient suppression of charge carrier trapping at intrinsic defects.

For Al₂O₃:C and Al₂O₃:Cr based dosimeters, the research of underlying mechanisms will be performed as a part of optimisation of synthesis methods. The main aim is focused on two aspects: firstly, the scalability of synthesis for production of 2D dosimeters will be studied, and secondly, studies of electronic processes involved in optically stimulated luminescence (OSL) are planned.

In addition, the knowledge on alumina-based dosimetry is applied to create dosimetric coatings using Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. With efforts to produce alumina coatings on metal surface, the research can not only lead to the creation of a very promising method and material for practical applications, but also give an insight on alumina ceramic behaviour under ionizing radiation. The work on mechanoluminescence will be continued further, as initial feedback from companies working with additive manufacturing methods (Baltic 3D) was very positive, and the possibilities for joint projects or commercialisation are outlined.

NETWORKING

- Prof. P.Rodnyi (Peters the Great Saint Petersburg Polytechnic University, Russia)
- Dr. P. Boutachkov (GSI Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionnenforschung, Germany)
- Dr. E. Gorokhova (Federal State Unitary Organization "Research and Technological Institute of Optical Materials All Russia Scientific Center", Russia)
- Dr. V. Lahty (Tampere University), Dr. M. Lastusaari (University of Turku), Finland
- Dr. P. Bohacek and Dr. M. Nikl (Institute of Physics AS), Czech Republic
- Dr. S. Zazubovich and Dr. A. Krasnikov (Institute of Physics, University of Tartu), Estonia

References

- 1. C. Ronda, Challenges in Application of Luminescent Materials, a Tutorial Overview, Progress In Electromagnetics Research, 147, (2014), 81.
- 2. L. Yang, Q. Liu, H. Zheng, S. Zhou, W. Zhang, The decay model of Eu²⁺ and Eu²⁺, Dy³⁺substituted SrAl₂O₄ prepared by high temperature solid phase method, Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, 124, (2019), 151.
- 3. Luminescent Materials and Applications, ed. A. Kitai, (2012), John Wiley & Sons
- 4. J. Xu S. Tanabe, Persistent luminescence instead of phosphorescence: History, mechanism and perspective, Journal of Luminescence, 205, (2019), 581.
- 5. Bing Chen, Xin Zhang, and Feng Wang: Expanding the Toolbox of Inorganic Mechanoluminescence Materials, *Accounts of Materials Research* 2021 2 (5), 364-373 DOI: 10.1021/accountsmr.1c00041
- 6. Xin Zhang and Feng Wang Recent advances in flexible alternating current electroluminescent devices. APL Materials 9, 030701 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0040109
- 7. V. Vitola, D. Millers, K. Smits, I. Bite, A. Zolotarjovs, The search for defects in undoped SrAl₂O₄material, Optical Materials, 87, (2019), 48.
- V. Vitola, I. Bite, D. Millers, A. Zolotarjovs, K. Laganovska, K. Smits, A. Spustaka, The boron effect on low temperature luminescence of SrAl₂O₄:Eu,Dy, Ceramics International, 46, (2020), 26377.
- 9. V. Liepina, D. Millers, K. Smits, Tunneling luminescence in long lasting afterglow of SrAl₂O₄:Eu,Dy, Journal of Luminescence, 185, (2017), 151.
- 10. V. Vitola, D. Millers, I. Bite, K. Smits, A. Spustaka, Recent progress in understanding the persistent luminescence in SrAl₂O₄:Eu,Dy, Materials Science and Technology 35, (2019), 1661.
- 11. L. Grigorjeva, J. Grube, I. Bite, A. Zolotarjovs, K. Smits, D. Millers, P. Rodnyi, K. Chernenko, Sub-nanosecond excitonic luminescence in ZnO:In nanocrystals, Radiation Measurements, 23, (2019), 69.
- D. Millers, L. Grigorjeva, A. Zolotarjovs, F. Muktepavela, J. Grube, A. Spustaka, P. Rodnyi, I. Venevtsev, E. Gorokhova, ZnO and ZnO:Ga ceramics for advanced scintillators, Advanced Materials, accepted, 2020
- 13. M. Kano, A. Wakamiya, K. Sakai, K. Yamanoi, M. Cadatal-Raduban, T. Nakazato, T. Shimizu, N. Sarukura, D. Ehrentraut, T. Fukuda, Response-time-improved ZnO scintillator by impurity doping, Journal of Crystal Growth, 318, (2011),788.
- 14. A. Zolotarjovs, K. Smits, K. Laganovska, I. Bite, L. Grigorjeva, K. Auzins, D. Millers, L. Skuja, Thermostimulated luminescence of plasma electrolytic oxidation coatings on 6082 aluminium surface, Radiation Measurements, 124, (2019), 29.
- 15. **E. Einbergs, A. Zolotarjovs,** Programmable material testing device for mechanoluminescence measurements, HardwareX Volume 12, 2022

- 16. E. Einbergs, A. Zolotarjovs, I. Bite, V. Vītola, A. Spustaka, G. Tunēns, A. Arnautov, A mechanoluminescence based approach to spatial mechanical stress visualisation of additively manufactured (3D printed) parts, Materialia, Volume 24 2022
- 17. A. Zolotarjovs, R. Piksens, K. Smits, V. Vitola, Gatis Tunens, E. Einbergs, A. Zarins and G. Kizane, Chromium Luminescence in Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Aluminum Surface, Coatings **2022**, 12, 1733

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- New directions (mechanoluminescence and electroluminescence) are outlined.
- Recent developments on alumina dosimetry now include coatings.
- Updates are partly based on new projects or achievements.
- Work on persistent luminescence temperature dependence continues.
- Mechanoluminescece setup and data analysis methods are developed
- Electroluminescence field is expanded with the search of new luminophores and dielectric layers
- Plasma electrolytic oxidation for production of dosimetric coatings is greatly improved with future research plans

THIRD ORDER NON-LINEAR OPTICAL EFFECTS, MATERIALS AND DEVICES

STATE OF THE ART

In the last years third-order nonlinear optical materials have seen a new rise in interest due to the development of soliton microresonators [1] for microwave applications, telecommunications, and optical sensors as well as for quantum photonics [2] with the main focus on entangled photon sources and non-destructive photon interaction. In all of these technologies materials with a strong Kerr effect play a key role [3]. One of the main limitations for this technology transition from laboratory tests to commercial applications is the lack of efficient materials with strong Kerr effect and low optical losses. On the other hand, materials with high optical loses due to strong Two-photon absorption (TPA) can be used in optical limiting applications. In case of developing slow thermo-optical switches materials with a strong thermo-optical effect is essential and the interference from other effects must be limited. Although there are plenty of published papers about Kerr effect into fast electronic response and slower molecular effects and evaluation of relaxation time for each effect are among important methodological problems in

investigations of third-order nonlinear optical materials [7]. Most of scientific groups use different methodologies, making it difficult to correctly compare the studied materials.

For practical application mainly two third-order NLO effects have been considered - Kerr effect and Two-photon absorption. These effects characterize refractive index and optical absorption variations with changes of optical field intensity. The main issue with third-order NLO studies is the correct interpretation of nonlinear refractive index changes - are they induced by thermooptical or Kerr effect and how large are each of the Kerr effect components - electronic, vibrational and reorientational. To study these effects, the term Optical Kerr spectroscopy has been present in the scientific literature for a while [3]. Most of these works are mainly based on Beam-Deflection or specific Pump-probe measurement methods to study temporal and some spectral aspects of Kerr effect. At the same time, many publications have already indicated that pulse repetition rate [5], polarization resolved Z-scan [8] and other measurement methods can give significant information about nonlinear refractive index of material absent from the previously mentioned Optical Kerr spectroscopy works. Recently much attention has been given to application of Laguerre-Gaussian vortex beams in NLO studies [9]. While most of literature has been focused on third-harmonic generation studies scientists are slowly exploring possibility to use vortex beams in Kerr studies [10]. To step forward in this field, a more detailed study of TPR Kerr spectroscopy incorporating Z-scan and Beam deflection methods with pulse width, pulse repetition rate and polarization-resolved measurements is necessary as well as wider exploration of vortex beam applications.

To employ for practical applications third-order effects like Optical Kerr effect (OKE) and twophoton absorption (TPA) effect [11] -, various material groups as NLO media are being studied with different pros and cons. These include:

- *Metamaterials* that allow for creation of materials with unique electromagnetic properties;
- *Inorganic/organic hybrid materials* for whom d-orbital electrons can increase polarizability and coulombic interaction lead to strong local field;
- **2D NLO materials** with strong non-linear absorption properties. Also 2D delocalization of π-electrons provides enhancement of third-order nonlinearities;
- **Organic materials** with possibility to tune NLO properties with structural alterations and low production costs are very promising for possibility to find efficient and cheap NLO materials for practical applications. Especially for applications in visible range of light where most alternatives possess strong absorption.

Compared to other material groups organic materials are promising for all-optical applications due to immense number of molecular structures, compatibility with other commonly used inorganic and organic materials, low price, and possibility to tune material properties by varying material structure and ability to form flexible photonic devices. Recent studies have demonstrated significant growth in organic material OKE coefficient values [11], making them a promising substitute for silicon in photonic devices. OKE values of organic materials have been demonstrated to be four orders larger than of pure silicon – reaching 0.17 cm²/GW in the visible range of light [12]. Depending on application type, different material selection rules can be used. Material requirements for optical limiting are large TPA coefficient, while for all-optical switching two terms are used as figures of merit (FOM): (i)OKE coefficient, (ii)T= $2\cdot\alpha_2\cdot\lambda/(n_2)$, where α_2 is TPA and n_2 is OKE coefficient [13]. Material to be used in all-optical switch device should have large OKE values while satisfying T<1 condition.

For practical all-optical device implementation, it is necessary to achieve a high confinement of light. To realize such confinement, typically waveguide and photonic crystal devices are considered. Such devices should employ NLO material with optical intensity-dependent
refractive index or absorption. Despite that the subject of all-optical devices is growing in popularity, only some experimentally validated examples have been demonstrated as summarized in the review article [11]. Current state-of-the-art includes few examples of devices using graphene for optical switching [14] or polariton opto-optical devices using organic materials [15]; even so, these devices are still in early development phase. Due to the low efficiency of available third-order materials, just a limited amount of waveguide devices have been experimentally validated and reported. Fortunately, there is no shortage of reported waveguide and photonic crystal theoretical device designs that may be used to create novel all-optical switching devices. The most common include whispering gallery mode (WGM) resonators [16], waveguide MZIs [17] and photonic crystal cavities [18] which have been used in sensing, communications, spectrometry and other applications.

OUR POSITION

The competence of Laboratory of organic materials at Institute of Solid State Physics allows dealing with the main issues related to studying properties and assessing applications of NLO materials. We have broad experience in structure-property relation studies of second- [19–21] and third-order [6,22] NLO organic materials. Along with these studies, we have gained experience in performing Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC) to obtain first and second-order hyperpolarizabilities of organic materials.

Great attention has been given to development of experimental methodology for investigation second-order [23,24] and third-order NLO [6,25,26] properties. Development of polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements [27] allows us to study in more detail the origin of Kerr effect in specific media. This is especially essential as only the electronic part of Kerr effect is applicable for high-bandwidth all optical processing.

Laboratory of Organic materials has conducted research to create photonic devices based on SU-8, PMMA and active NLO organic materials. By combining SU-8 as passive material for optical waveguides with guest-host system of active NLO chromophores and PMMA as active materials, we have been able to demonstrate functioning electro-optical switch [17] as well as all-optical gas sensor [28].

Recently we have begun to study NLO properties of nanoparticles and quantum dots. This includes both silver nanoparticles [26] as well as more complex materials such as HgTe [29], HgS [30] and Bi₂Te₃ [31]. These researches have also extended to studies about silver nanoparticle influence on reorientation Kerr effect of organic chromophores have been published [26]. Recently we have also started to study near-zero-epsilon materials with main focus on ITO nanoparticles and their usage for NLO applications [32].

Laboratory of Organic materials has long established a workflow for characterization of secondorder NLO properties. The workflow includes: a) sample preparation; b) characterization of linear optical properties (Spectrophotometer Cary 7000; Spectral ellipsometer Woollam RC2, Metricon 2010); b) second-order NLO properties (Maker-fringe method for SHG measurements; Hyper-Rayleigh scattering measurements; Mach-Zehnder interferometer and Teng–Man method for electro-optical measurements). For third-order NLO studies custom built Z-scan and Mach-Zehnder interferometer setups are developed at ISSP UL.

All NLO effects studies at ISSP could be supported by exceptional set of lasers covering excitation from UV to the Mid-IR and pulse durations from the ns to fs:

• Nanosecond laser (1064 nm 8 ns) with pulse repetition rate from 200 – 40 000 s-1;

- Tuneable picosecond laser (400-1600 nm, 15 ps) with a pulse repetition rate of 1000 s-1;
- Femtosecond laser (1030 nm, continuously tuneable 200 fs 10ps pulse duration with pulse repetition rate from 1 kHz 1 MHz);
- Tuneable femtosecond laser (OPA, 190 nm 2500 nm, < 190 fs pulse duration with pulse repetition rate up to 1 MHz).

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The important goal of future activities will be acquiring new knowledge that will contribute: a) to basic understanding of third-order NLO effects in organic materials; b) to develop correct measurement methodology to characterize their NLO properties. This could lead to new structure-property studies and third-order NLO organic materials designs. Moreover, the planned development and verification of Quantum Chemical Calculations (QCC) methods for third-order NLO material property calculations could lead to faster molecule screening. For the scientific community such results may serve as a crucial stepping-point towards the development of novel NLO organic materials that may be used in building the ultra-broadband communication networks or in the next-generation quantum computing systems.

DEVELOPMENT OF MEASUREMENT METHODOLOGY

Measurement methodology developments will be supported by project "Development of Time and Polarization Resolved Kerr (effect) Spectroscopy":

- **Polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements** will be extended to fs range with tuneable fs laser (should be available at beginning 2021). In combination with already available (tuneable 15 ps and 1064 nm 8 ns Nd:YAG laser). Such laser systems with different pulse repetition rates, spanning wavelengths ranges from the UV to the Mid-IR and pulse durations from the fs to ns allows us to perform fundamental studies of Kerr effect origins and develop third-order NLO materials for practical applications;
- Beam-deflection method as alternative to z-scan for Kerr effect characterization;
- *Fluorescence anisotropy measurements* to study in more detail two-photon absorption properties of materials will be implemented.

We have established both Polarization-resolved Z-scan method for spectral measurements and Beam-deflection method. First experimental results regarding spectral Z-scan measurements have been published [23,24]. Next planned measurement methods are:

- *Third-harmonic generation* will allow to extend characterization of NLO properties to study correlation between different third-order effects.
- *Vortex beam application in measurements* will be evaluated to study NLO effects in more fundamental studies.

DEVELOPMENT OF KERR EFFECT EVALUATION THROUGH QUANTUM CHEMICAL CALCULATIONS (QCC)

Use of reliable QCC for predicting and/or describing non-linear optical properties of materials allows to improve significantly the efficiency of the structure screening through rationalizing the structure–property relationships. With the goal to validate selected QCC methods, great attention will be paid to the comparison of QCC results with the experimentally measured data for all contributions to Kerr effect. By means of QCC we plan to obtain:

- *Linear polarizability values,* which allows us to estimate reorientation contribution [33];
- *Raman scattering intensities and frequency,* which allows us to calculate the vibration contribution [34];
- *Second-order hyperpolarizability* values, which allows us to calculate the electronic contribution [35].

For reorientation and vibration effects additional attention will be given to time constant calculations [7].

DEVELOPMENT OF THIRD-ORDER NLO MATERIALS

Compared to other material groups, organic materials are promising for all-optical applications due to immense number of molecular structures, compatibility with other commonly used inorganic and organic materials, low price, and possibility to tune material properties by varying material structure and ability to form flexible photonic devices. Therefore, we are planning to work in three directions:

- 1. **Development of Organic materials** for third-order NLO applications. This includes the goal of finding NLO organic materials with large third-order NLO values (exceeding 0.1 cm²/GW that is four orders larger than silicon and corresponds to the state-of-the-art materials for NLO applications) from which an amorphous thin-films can be produced;
- 2. *Enhance NLO response of organic materials through plasmonic structures*. This will include studies of NLO response of nanoparticles, designing of plasmonic structures/metamaterials and how nanoparticles and plasmonic structures enhance third-order NLO response of organic materials. First results about silver nanoparticles influence on organic chromophores in solution have been shown [26]. Next step will be focusing more on thin films.
- 3. *Study of Near-Zero-Epsilon NLO properties*. This type of materials exhibits high-efficiency NLO properties.

DEVELOPMENT OF PHOTONIC DEVICES BASED ON THIRD-ORDER NLO MATERIALS

Development of all-optical photonic devices will proceed for the following applications:

- *All-optical sensors* -two types of all-optical sensor devices Asymmetric Mach-Zehnder interferometers and Whispering Gallery Mode resonators;
- *All-optical switch d*evelopment of organic all-optical transistor will be based on thirdorder NLO organic materials studied by Laboratory of Organic Materials. Device design will be based on Mach-Zehnder interferometer with active third-order NLO cladding that will allow for interaction between two beams in adjacent waveguides. Here the main focus will be on materials with large electronic part of Kerr effect to ensure ultra-fast processing;
- **Soliton microresonators** research will be conducted towards development of soliton microresonators implementing third-order NLO organic materials. We plan to use organic materials that possess large Kerr effect values and low TPA in near infrared and visible spectral range. The goal is to create a microresonator that could convert CW laser pulse into multiple peaks covering wide spectral range. While this theme is very prominent in the latest *Nature* publications, such devices based on organic materials still have not been demonstrated;
- *Entangled Photon sources* third-order NLO materials can be used for entangled photon pair generation using Spontaneous Four-wave mixing. The main goal would be to

develop such light source for visible spectrum based on organic materials. Mainly two design types will be considered – Whispering Gallery Mode resonator and Delay line with active cladding.

NETWORKING

Latvia:

- Riga Technical University Institute of Applied Chemistry
- Ceram Optec optical fiber company
- Rashid Ganeev from Laboratory of Nonlinear Optics, UL
- Janis Alnis from Quantum Optics Laboratory, UL
- Kaspars Leduskrasts Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis

Europe:

- Kaunas University of Technology Faculty of Chemical Technology
- Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne Photonic Systems Laboratory

Additional:

Kevin Chiou - National Sun Yat-sen University

REFERENCES

- 1. X. Shen, R. C. Beltran, V. M. Diep, S. Soltani, and A. M. Armani, "Low-threshold parametric oscillation in organically modified microcavities," Sci. Adv. 4, eaao4507 (2018).
- 2. A. W. Elshaari, W. Pernice, K. Srinivasan, O. Benson, and V. Zwiller, "Hybrid integrated quantum photonic circuits," Nat. Photonics **14**, 285–298 (2020).
- 3. S. R. Vigil and M. G. Kuzyk, "Absolute molecular optical Kerr effect spectroscopy of dilute organic solutions and neat organic liquids," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **18**, 679 (2001).
- 4. P. Zhao, M. Reichert, S. Benis, D. J. Hagan, and E. W. Van Stryland, "Temporal and polarization dependence of the nonlinear optical response of solvents," Optica **5**, 583 (2018).
- 5. N. Wickremasinghe, X. Wang, H. Schmitzer, and H. P. Wagner, "Eliminating thermal effects in z-scan measurements of thin PTCDA films," Opt. Express **22**, 23955 (2014).
- A. Bundulis, E. Nitiss, I. Mihailovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "Study of Structure– Third-Order Susceptibility Relation of Indandione Derivatives," J. Phys. Chem. C 120, 27515– 27522 (2016).
- D. Mcmorrow, W. T. Lotshaw, and G. A. Kenney-Wallace, "Femtosecond Optical Kerr Studies on the Origin of the Nonlinear Responses in Simple Liquids," IEEE J. Quantum Electron. 24, 443–454 (1988).
- 8. M. S. Melhado, T. G. B. de Souza, S. C. Zilio, E. C. Barbano, and L. Misoguti, "Discrimination between two distinct nonlinear effects by polarization-resolved Z-scan measurements," Opt. Express **28**, 3352 (2020).
- 9. M. Singh, M. A. Fareed, A. Laramee, E. Isgandarov, and T. Ozaki, "Intense vortex high-order harmonics generated from laser-ablated plume". Appl. Phys. Lett. **115**, 231105 (2019).
- S. Sirohi, S. Dey, T. Agrawal, S. Singh, P. B. Bishet, "Laguerre-Gaussian vortex beam for reduced thermal effects in nonlinear optical studies" Optics Communications 537, 129468 (2023).
- 11. B. Gu, C. Zhao, A. Baev, K.-T. Yong, S. Wen, and P. N. Prasad, "Molecular nonlinear optics: recent advances and applications," Adv. Opt. Photonics **8**, 328 (2016).
- Y. U. Lee, E. Garoni, H. Kita, K. Kamada, B. H. Woo, Y. C. Jun, S. M. Chae, H. J. Kim, K. J. Lee, S. Yoon, E. Choi, F. Mathevet, I. Ozerov, J. C. Ribierre, J. W. Wu, and A. D'Aléo, "Strong Nonlinear Optical Response in the Visible Spectral Range with Epsilon-Near-Zero Organic Thin Films," Adv. Opt. Mater. 6, 1–12 (2018).

- 13. A. Bahtiar, K. Koynov, A. Kibrom, T. Ahn, and C. Bubeck, "Multiphoton spectroscopy of polymers for all-optical switching," in *Proceedings of SPIE*, A. T. Yeates, K. D. Belfield, and F. Kajzar, eds. (2006), Vol. 6330, p. 63300C.
- 14. M. Ono, M. Hata, M. Tsunekawa, K. Nozaki, H. Sumikura, H. Chiba, and M. Notomi, "Ultrafast and energy-efficient all-optical switching with graphene-loaded deep-subwavelength plasmonic waveguides," Nat. Photonics **14**, 37–43 (2020).
- A. V. Zasedatelev, A. V. Baranikov, D. Urbonas, F. Scafirimuto, U. Scherf, T. Stöferle, R. F. Mahrt, and P. G. Lagoudakis, "A room-temperature organic polariton transistor," Nat. Photonics 13, 378–383 (2019).
- 16. M. R. Foreman, J. D. Swaim, and F. Vollmer, "Whispering gallery mode sensors," Adv. Opt. Photonics **7**, 168 (2015).
- E. Nitiss, A. Tokmakovs, K. Pudzs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-organic electro-optic waveguide modulator comprising SU-8 and nonlinear optical polymer," Opt. Express 25, 31036 (2017).
- T. Ozawa, H. M. Price, A. Amo, N. Goldman, M. Hafezi, L. Lu, M. C. Rechtsman, D. Schuster, J. Simon, O. Zilberberg, and I. Carusotto, "Topological photonics," Rev. Mod. Phys. **91**, 015006 (2019).
- 19. **M. Rutkis** and K. Traskovskis, "Triphenylmethyl and triphenylsilyl based molecular glasses for photonic applications," in C. E. Tabor, F. Kajzar, T. Kaino, and Y. Koike, eds. (2015), p. 93600H.
- K. Traskovskis, V. Kokars, A. Tokmakovs, I. Mihailovs, E. Nitiss, M. Petrova, S. Belyakov, and M. Rutkis, "Stereoselective synthesis and properties of 1,3-bis(dicyanomethylidene)indane-5-carboxylic acid acceptor fragment containing nonlinear optical chromophores," J. Mater. Chem. C 4, 5019–5030 (2016).
- L. Laipniece, V. Kampars, S. Belyakov, A. Tokmakovs, E. Nitiss, and M. Rutkis, "Dendronized azochromophores with aromatic and perfluoroaromatic fragments: Synthesis and properties demonstrating Ar ArF interactions," Dye. Pigment. 162, 394–404 (2019).
- D. Gudeika, A. Bundulis, S. Benhattab, M. Ben Manaa, N. Berton, J. Bouclé, F. T. Van, B. Schmaltz, D. Volyniuk, M. Rutkis, and J. V. Grazulevicius, "Multifunctional derivatives of dimethoxy-substituted triphenylamine containing different acceptor moieties," SN Appl. Sci. 2, (2020).
- E. Nitiss, M. Rutkis, and M. Svilans, "Electrooptic coefficient measurements by Mach Zehnder interferometric method: Application of Abelès matrix formalism for thin film polymeric sample description," Opt. Commun. 286, 357–362 (2013).
- E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakov, J. Busenbergs, E. Linina, and M. Rutkis, "Review and comparison of experimental techniques used for determination of thin film electro-optic coefficients," Phys. Status Solidi Appl. Mater. Sci. 212, 1867–1879 (2015).
- A. Bundulis, V. V. Kim, J. Grube, and R. A. Ganeev, "Nonlinear refraction and absorption of spectrally tuneable picosecond pulses in carbon disulfide," Opt. Mater. (Amst). 122, 111778 (2021).
- 26. A. Bundulis, J. Mikelsone, and M. Rutkis, "Impact of silver nanoparticles two-photon resonance on Kerr effect of organic dye solutions," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B (2021).
- 27. A. Bundulis, I. Mihailovs, and M. Rutkis, "Origin of the Kerr effect: investigation of solutions by polarization-dependent Z-scan," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **37**, 1806 (2020).
- E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-Organic Waveguide Sensor for Volatile Solvent Sensing," Photonic Sensors 9, 356–366 (2019).
- 29. A. Bundulis, I. A. Shuklov, V. V. Kim, A. A. Mardini, J. Grube, J. Alnis, A. A. Lizunova, V. F. Razumov, and R. A. Ganeev, "Nonlinear Absorption and Refraction of Picosecond and Femtosecond Pulses in HgTe Quantum Dot Films", Nanomaterials, 11, (2021).
- 30. V. V. Kim, I. A. Shuklov, A. A. Mardini, A. Bundulis, A. I. Zvyagin, R. Kholany, A. A. Lizunova, J. Grube, A. Sarakovskis, O. V. Ovchinnikov, R. A. Ganeev, "Investigation of Nonlinear Optical Processes in Mercury Sulfide Quantum Dots", Nanomaterials, 12, (2022).
- 31. V. V. Kim, A. Bundulis, V. S. Popov, N. A. Lavrentyev, A. A. Lizunova, I. A. Shuklov, V. P. Ponomarenko, J. Grube, R. A. Ganeev, "Third-order optical nonlinearities of exfoliated Bi2Te3 nanoparticle films in UV, visible and near-infrared ranges measured by tunable femtosecond pulses," Opt. Express, 30, (2022).

- 32. A. Bundulis, A. Berzina, V. V. Kim, B. Polyakov, A. Novikovs, Rashid A. Ganeev, "Variation of Nonlinear Refraction and Three-Photon Absorption of Indium-Tin Oxide Quantum Dot Thin Films and Solutions in Near Infrared Range", Nanomaterials, 13, 2320, (2023).
- D. H. Close, C. R. Giuliano, R. W. Hellwarth, L. D. Hess, F. J. Mcclung, and W. G. Wagner, "The Self-Focusing of Light of Different Polarizations," IEEE J. Quantum Electron. 2, 553–557 (1966).
- D. N. Christodoulides, Ielsha. C. Khoo, G. J. Salamo, G. I. Stegeman, and E. W. Van Stryland, "Nonlinear refraction and absorption: mechanisms and magnitudes," Adv. Opt. Photonics 2, 60 (2010).
- 35. M. G. Kuzyk, K. D. Singer, and G. I. Stegeman, "Theory of Molecular Nonlinear Optics," 4–82 (2013).

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Collaboration with Kevin Chiou from National Sun Yat-sen University to study NLO properties of their nanowire samples,
- Build stronger collaboration with people in institute that synthesize different nanomaterials,
- Third-harmonic measurements and vortex beam NLO studies of thin films made from guest-host systems containing organic dyes and polymers.

RADIATION DAMAGE STUDIES IN FUNCTIONAL MATERIALS FOR FUSION AND PARTICLE PHYSICS

STATE OF THE ART

Optical and dielectric materials will play a substantial role in various diagnostic systems of future deuterium-tritium fusion reactors, which have to withstand 14 MeV neutron irradiation of unprecedented intensity. The development of novel neutron resistant optical and dielectric functional materials becomes an unavoidable part of EUROfusion Roadmap, because radiation induced lattice defects strongly affect functionality of different functional components (windows, lenses, fibres, etc.) and therefore deep understanding of the defect creation in solids is of fundamental importance.

Research and development of scintillating materials and novel ionizing radiation detecting devices for particle physics, neutron research and medical imaging - such as positron emission tomography, single photon emission computed tomography that are in the priority list of European grand research centres: CERN, ESS, Helmholtzzentrum für Schwerionenforschung (GSI), Grand Accélérateur National d'Ions Lourds (GANIL), Institute Laue-Langevin (ILL) and many others outside Europe: Japanese National Research and Development Agencies (RIKEN), Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO), etc. Novel crystal detectors are continuously being discovered and developed in academia and industry.

All these materials are working in a harsh radiation environment, where various particles, such as γ rays, neutrons, and even charged hadrons, are expected. Thus it is of fundamental importance, to understand, control and predict their radiation damage under intensive neutron/gamma radiation environment.

The key point for all these applications is the formation of point and extended defects in the materials, understanding their defect structure, the processes of defect interconversion and annihilation. Many works have been devoted to this problem, and a significant level of understanding has been achieved (see, for example, reviews [1-4]). Among numerous insulating materials, in general, wide-band gap refractory oxides, nitrides and diamond show the highest radiation resistance. Specific attention within the fusion research program was given to MgO, Al₂O₃, MgAl₂O₄, BeO, AlN, Si₃N₄, diamond and few others. The available from literature threshold displacement energies [1-4] as well as some optical characteristics of point defects therein are documented in our recent reports [1,3].

However, a large number of problems remain unresolved. In particular, at present, more or less enough information is available on structure and mutual/thermal behaviour of radiation defects only for binary oxides - ionic MgO and partly covalent Al₂O₃, common model objects because of simplicity and being structural units of MgAl₂O₄ spinel. The corresponding detailed systematized data on radiation damage (especially, induced by fast neutrons) in other materials, including MgAl₂O₄, is practically absent. One very important aspect of radiation damage that should be mentioned is impurity effects. Although impurities themselves are quite well characterized in all important materials, the appropriate data on their contribution to neutron/gamma damage is very rare and scarce. We further notice that the nature, the structure of radiation induced oxygen interstitials and the possible role of impurities in their stabilization is more or less established only for the most simple MgO crystals, where the formation of the $(O_2)^-$ superoxide ions, stabilized near unknown impurities and/or other structural defects was perfectly established by EPR and theory. The vast majority of the experiments on point defects were performed using an optical absorption and luminescence, while such rapidly developing techniques as Raman spectroscopy and neutron scattering methods were used only in very rare cases. Note that optical absorption methods do not work in the region of large defect concentrations due to the optical density saturation, which apparently explains the poorness of existing experimental results, while laser-based methods of Raman spectroscopy were not yet widely available.

OUR POSITION

Over the past ten years, Laboratory of Kinetics in Self-Organizing Systems, ISSP UL has been actively involved in the solving of the above problems via the following projects:

- EUROfusion: Multiscale modelling of radiation effects in MgAl₂O₄ spinel and general oxides.
- EUROfusion: Advanced experimental and theoretical analysis of defect evolution and structural disordering in optical and dielectric materials for fusion applications
- Radiation damage studies in scintillator materials for high-energy physics and medical applications.

In November 17, 2017, after the successful presentation of the research report at Crystal Clear Collaboration Board at CERN, the appropriate collaboration agreement between ISSP UL and CERN was approved and signed on February 5, 2018 by both sides.

Since November 2020, our group is participating in a National Research Programme "High Energy Physics and Accelerator Technologies" that has been launched to strengthen the

development of the Latvian scientific community in cooperation with CERN. In December 2022 this program was continued for another three years (2023-2025).

In the framework of EUROfusion activities, our group had performed comprehensive studies of defect structure, *in-situ* defect evolution and their post-irradiated thermal annealing in many materials, including MgO, Al₂O₃, MgF₂, MgAl₂O₄, Y₃Al₅O₁₂, Gd₃Ga₅O₁₂, BeO. More than 50 papers were published in the last 5 years, some of them are referenced in refs [5-12].

Currently, we participate in the consortium within the framework of EUROfusion Enabling Research Project ENR-MAT.01.UT-T002-D001 jointly with Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT) and University of Tartu: "Investigation of defects and disorder in nonirradiated and irradiated Doped Diamond and Related Materials for fusion diagnostic applications (DDRM) -Theoretical and Experimental analysis". This project is focused on the development of diamond windows and related dielectric materials for DEMO reactor. More precisely, the project aims to find out how the purity of diamond ceramics, various protective layers and other technological innovations affect the radiation resistance of such windows. We also want to know how and for how long the properties of the window persist under radiation. According to the tasks planned for 2022, Raman, IR, EPR, PL (including via synchrotron radiation), EBSD characterization of different-size diamond windows (pristine/ irradiated), silica and alumina were performed. Furthermore, comparative 2D mapping of the oversized virgin and irradiated CVD diamond disks via CL spectra was carried on. Stepwise annealing of radiation-induced optical absorption in CVD diamonds exposed to energetic iodine ions was investigated and simultaneous decay of complementary Frenkel defects was detected, while a total loss of transparency and strong swelling of the samples gradually took place at pre-heatings above 650 °C. The first principles calculations of the atomic/electronic/vibronic spectra and basic radiation defects in diamond (N, single vacancies) were implemented.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Future research, to be carried out in subsequent EUROfusion projects and CERN-related National Research Programme, will be focused on detailed theoretical calculations of the atomic, electronic and magnetic (EPR) structure; optical absorption, Raman and IR spectra; and annealing kinetics of the basic defects in functional materials, including:

- Development of efficient method for accurate calculations of the vibrational spectra of defects in functional non-metallic materials based on the first principles computer codes;
- First principles calculations of the atomic, electronic, vibrational properties for diamond doped with N, B and diamond containing vacancies and internal cavities;
- Experimental Identification of the Raman and IR modes due to above-mentioned defects/impurities;
- Calculation of dielectric properties and tg δ for defective/irradiated diamond, Al₂O₃, AlN and SiOx;
- Modelling of the interfacial effects in diamond covered by thin AlN and SiOx films;
- Theoretical analysis of peculiarities of diffusion-controlled processes in heavily irradiated insulating materials;
- Analysis of the radiation-induced disordering though defect annealing kinetics measured under different neutron, proton, fast electron or heavy ion fluencies in AlN, SiC, SiO₂ and diamond;
- neutron spectroscopy (inelastic and small angle neutron scattering) of pristine/irradiated samples

• detailed understanding of the optical degradation of irradiated CVD diamonds at high temperatures

Another consortium, we are participating, is HORIZON 2020 - RISE – RADON Project "Irradiation driven nanofabrication: computational modelling versus experiment", where are partner and principal investigator - MBN Research Center GmbH, Frankfurt-M, Germany), where our main goal is deep understanding of how different nanostructures are formed under irradiation.

NETWORKING

The group has active international collaborations with research groups in:

- France: Dr. Martin Boehm (Institut Laue-Langevin, Grenoble);
- Germany: Prof. Dr. J. Maier (Max-Planck Institute, Stuttgart), Prof. Dr. T. Scherer (KIT, Karlsruhe), Dr, G. Pintsuk (Forschunzentrum Julich GmbH); Prof. Dr. Andrey V. Solov'yov (MBN Research Center GmbH at FiZ Frankfurter Innovationszentrum Biotechnologie)
- Spain: Dr. Rafael Vila, (CIEMAT, Madrid);
- Sweden: Prof.Dr. Helmut Schober (ESS, Lund), Dr. Kirill Chernenko (MAXIV, Lund)
- Switzerland: Dr. Etiennette Auffray, K. Dreimanis (CERN)
- Estonia: Prof. A.Ch. Lushchik (University of Tartu).

REFERENCES

- 1. E.A. Kotomin and A.I. Popov, Radiation-induced point defects in simple oxides. *Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Research B*, 1998, **141**, p. 1-15.
- 2. S.J. Zinkle, L.L. Snead, Designing radiation resistance in materials for fusion energy. *-Annual Review of Materials Research*, 2014, **44**, 241-267.
- 3. A.I. Popov, E.A. Kotomin, and J. Maier, Basic properties of the F-type centers in halides, oxides and perovskites. *Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Research B*, 2010, **268**, p. 3084-3089.
- D. Simeone, J.M. Costantini, L. Luneville, L. Desgranges, P. Trocellier, P. Garcia. Characterization of radiation damage in ceramics: old challenge new issues? J. Mater. Res., 2015, 30 (9), 1495-1515
- 5. E. Kotomin, V. Kuzovkov, A.I. Popov, J. Maier, and R. Vila. Anomalous kinetics of diffusioncontrolled defect annealing in irradiated ionic solids. - *J. Phys. Chem. A*, 2018, **122**, pp. 28–32.
- 6. A.I. Popov, A. Lushchik, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, E.A. Kotomin, A.M. Moskina, and V.N. Kuzovkov. Comparison of the F-type center thermal annealing in heavy-ion and neutron irradiated Al₂O₃ single crystals. Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B, 2018, 433, pp. 93-97.
- 7. V.N. Kuzovkov, E.A. Kotomin, and A.I. Popov. Kinetics of the electronic center annealing in Al₂O₃ crystals. J. Nucl. Mater., 2018, 502, pp. 295-300
- V. Seeman, E. Feldbach, T. Kärner, A. Maaroos, N. Mironova-Ulmane, A.I. Popov, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, A. Lushchik. Fast-neutron-induced and as-grown structural defects in magnesium aluminate spinel crystals with different stoichiometry. Optical Materials., 2019, 91, pp. 42-49.
- 9. V. Seeman, A. Lushchik, E. Shablonin, G. Prieditis, **D. Gryaznov, A. Platonenko**, **E.A. Kotomin**, **A.I. Popov**. Atomic, electronic and magnetic structure of an oxygen interstitial in neutronirradiated Al₂O₃ single crystals. - *Scientific. Reports.*, 2020, **10**, 15852 (pp. 1-14).

- A. Lushchik, E. Feldbach, E.A. Kotomin, I. Kudryavtseva, V.N. Kuzovkov, A.I. Popov, V. Seeman, E. Shablonin. Distinctive features of diffusion-controlled radiation defect recombination in stoichiometric magnesium aluminate spinel single crystals and transparent polycrystalline ceramics.- *Scientific. Reports.*, 2020, **10**, 7810 (pp. 1-9)
- 11. V.N. Kuzovkov, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov, R. Vila. Peculiarities of the diffusion-controlled radiation defect accumulation kinetics under high fluencies. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B*, 2020, 480, pp. 45–48.
- A.I. Popov, E. Elsts, E.A. Kotomin, A. Moskina, Z.T. Karipbayev, I. Makarenko, S. Pazylbek, V.N. Kuzovkov. Thermal annealing of radiation defects in MgF2 single crystals induced by neutrons at low temperatures.- *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B*, 2020, 480, pp. 16–210.
- 13. L.L. Rusevich, **E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov**, G. Aiello, T.A. Scherer, A. Lushchik. The vibrational and dielectric properties of diamond with N impurities: First principles study. -Diamond Relat. Mater., 2022, 130, 109399 (pp. 1-7)
- 14. V. Seeman, **A.I. Popov**, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, A. Lushchik. EPR-active dimer centers with S=1 in α-Al2O3 single crystals irradiated by fast neutrons. J. Nucl. Mater., 2022, 569, 153933 (pp. 1-10).
- A. Lushchik, V. Seeman, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, V.N. Kuzovkov, E.A. Kotomin, A.I. Popov. Detection of hidden oxygen interstitials in neutron-irradiated corundum crystals. -Optical Materials: X, 2022, 14, 100151 (pp. 1-10)
- 16. M.G. Brik, C.-G. Ma, T. Yamamoto, M. Piasecki, **A.I. Popov**. First-principles methods as a powerful tool for fundamental and applied research in the field of optical materials. Chapter in: R.-S. Liu and X. Wang (Eds.), Phosphor Handbook: Experimental Methods for Phosphor Evaluation and Characterization (CRC Press, Boca Raton), 2022, pp. 1-25.
- 17. H. Klym, I. Karbovnyk, **S. Piskunov, A.I. Popov**. Positron annihilation lifetime spectroscopy insight on free volume conversion of nanostructured MgAl2O4 ceramics. Nanomaterials, 2021, 11, 3373 (pp. 1-11).
- A. Lushchik, V.N. Kuzovkov, E.A. Kotomin, G. Prieditis, V. Seeman, E. Shablonin, E. Vasil'chenko, A.I. Popov. Evidence for the formation of two types of oxygen interstitials in neutron-irradiated α-Al2O3 single crystals. Scientific Reports, 2021, 11, 20909 (pp. 1-10).
- 19. E. Shablonin, **A.I. Popov, G. Prieditis,** E. Vasil'chenko, A. Lushchik. Thermal annealing and transformation of dimer F centers in neutron-irradiated Al2O3 single crystals. J. Nucl. Mater., 2021, 543, 152600 (pp. 1-7).

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

• No updates to the initial program (January 2021) are planned (as of January 2024)

SPECTROSCOPIC ELLIPSOMETRY OF ADVANCED MATERIALS

STATE OF THE ART

Unconventional metamaterials and structures [1, 2] have huge potential for new photonic devices. For example, sub-wavelength periodic nanostructures give rise to interesting optical phenomena like effective refractive index, perfect absorption, cloaking, etc. The concept of point of darkness has received much attention for biosensing based on phase-sensitive detection and perfect absorption of light [2].

There are technological hardness and limits for complete suppression of reflection. Kravets et al. proposed a concept known as topological darkness [3]. According to this concept, an optical system that follows the Jordan curve theorem is able to provide a complete suppression of reflection at certain incident angles and frequencies. This concept was first experimentally implemented using plasmonic gold nanoarrays fabricated by electron-beam lithography [3]. Since then, different subwavelength nanostructures have been proposed for the implementation of topological darkness [4]. The suppression of reflection is, in fact, achievable by simple materials by modelling and combination of proper multilayer stack thicknesses.

Since the first roots of ellipsometry, the time progress has been enormous, and given the essential metrological contributions of spectroscopic ellipsometry (SE) to integrated-circuit (IC) technology, its economic impact has been immense.

Advances in many areas of science and technology showed SE as a powerful tool for various nondestructive investigations [5] with broad application fields (academic research, IC, photonics, biomedical, optical metrology):

- Anisotropy, optical gradient, nanostructures, periodic structures [6-8]
- Biosensing [9]
- Plasmonic nanostructures [10]
- Multilayer optical coatings [11]
- Thermo-optics: phase transitions in the interface, film and on the surface [12, 13]
- Impact of the defects, e.g., oxygen vacancies, on optical properties [14, 15]

The fast developments in micro- and nanoelectronics, in materials for photonics and in advances of new hybrid and materials [16-18] have caused a steep rise in interest in the structure, phase state and properties of the surfaces of solids and films. There are only a few existing studies of phase transitions in thin and especially in ultra-thin films (thickness < 10 nm), and the majority of them are destructive methods that demand very specific precise sample preparation. In this situation, it is very attractive to have non-destructive optical methods of research and diagnostics.

The operation of organic, inorganic and hybrid electronic devices is strongly influenced by interphases, optical gradient and anisotropy in the electronic and optical properties of the conjugated material films. Accurate knowledge of the optical constants of these materials is important in optical modelling and design of photonic devices.

OUR POSITION

We have long-term experience with spectroscopic ellipsometry (SE). Our past work has been crucial for establishing of electronic band structure behaviour in dependence of temperature and detecting phase transitions for various materials (e.g. [19-21]).

SE technique has proved to be an effective method for the detection of phase transitions in thin films, as well as an effective technique to establish the quality of thin films while studying the technological aspects, which could cause the optical gradient forming in thin films [19]. Spectra of dielectric function measured by the SE are able to provide information on electronic and phonon band structure.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Studies of thermo-optic coefficients of thin films by integrating a temperature controlled hot stage to the ellipsometer and applying the modelling in order to obtain information on the phase transitions in the thin film, as well as in the interface and on the surface of the thin film.

Studies of Mueller matrix-based scatterometry for advanced materials and technology nodes. It is resent that complete Mueller matrix measurements are possible. These measurements open the possibility of studying a wide range of materials that so far have been deemed too complex to measure, and for which data are consequently unavailable.

Developing the method for determining the complex refractive index of ultra-thin films (< 10 nm). Modelling and design of new optical sensors using CompleteEASE[®] [22].

Studying interfaces in organic and inorganic multilayer systems in co-operation with the Laboratory of Organic Materials.

Research on innovative metal-oxide, -oxyhydrate and -hydrate thin films and effects of deposition parameters on thin film development in co-operation with Thin Films Laboratory.

To continue collaboration with Nonlinear and Quantum Photonics Group of Prof. Katia Gallo in KTH on dielectric tensor determination of domain walls (DWs) and to understand the optical contribution of DWs of different periodically polled LiNbO3 (PPLN) crystals and to investigate their optical properties and phonon modes.

NETWORKING

The group has long-standing active international collaborations with research groups in:

- Czech Republic: Czech Academy of Science, Institute of Physics, Prague (Dr. phys. A. Dejneka)
- Taiwan: National Taiwan University, Taipei (Profs. Li-Chyong Chen, Kuei-Hsien Chen)
- France: Paris Institute of Nanosciences (prof. N. Witkowski)
- Sweden: Uppsala University (Prof. Lars Österlund, Prof. Claes-Göran Granqvist)
- Semiconductor interphases: Prof. A. Hallen, Prof. M. Hammer (KTH)
- Optical anisotropy in periodically polled LiNbO₃ thin films and crystals: Prof. K. Gallo (KTH)
- SiO₂ and SiC: Dr.phys. S. Karlsson (RISE AB)

REFERENCES

- 1. S. Manzeli et al., 2D transition metal dichalcogenides, Nature Reviews Materials 2 (2017) 17033
- 2. K. V. Sreekanth, et al., Biosensing with the singular phase of an ultrathin metal-dielectric nanophotonic cavity, Nature Communications 9 (2018) 369
- 3. Kravets, V. G. et al., Singular phase nano-optics in plasmonic metamaterials for label-free single-molecule detection. Nat. Mater. 12 (2013) 304
- 4. Malassis, L. et al. Topological darkness in self-assembled plasmonic metamaterials. Adv. Mater. 26 (2014) 324
- 5. E. Garcia-Caurel et al., Application of Spectroscopic Ellipsometry and Mueller Ellipsometry to Optical Characterization, Applied Spectroscopy Reviews 67(1):1 (2013) 21
- 6. J. N. Hilfiker et al, Spectroscopic ellipsometry characterization of coatings on biaxially anisotropic polymeric substrates, Applied Surface Science 421 (2017) 500

- 7. N. Hong, et al., Mueller matrix characterization of flexible plastic substrates, Applied Surface Science 421 (2017) 518
- 8. S. Liu et al., Mueller matrix imaging ellipsometry for nanostructure metrology, Optics Express 22 (2015) 13719
- 9. K. Li, et al., Fast and Sensitive Ellipsometry-Based Biosensing, Sensors 18(1) (2018) 15
- 10. Y. Feng et al., Giant polarization anisotropic optical response from anodic aluminum oxide templates embedded with plasmonic metamaterials, Optics Express 28:20 (2020) pp. 29513
- 11. J. N. Hilfiker, Spectroscopic ellipsometry characterization of multilayer optical coatings, Surface & Coatings Technology 357 (2019) 114
- 12. Y.-S. Duh et al., Giant photothermal nonlinearity in a single silicon nanostructure, Nature Communications 11 (2020) 4101
- 13. A. Dejneka, I. Aulika, Spectroscopic ellipsometry applied to phase transitions in solids: possibilities and limitations, Optics Express Vol. 17, No. 16 (2009) 14322
- 14. O. Pacherova, et al., thermooptical evidence of carrier stabilized ferroelectricity in ultrathin electrodeless films, Scientifc Reports 8 (2018) 8497
- 15. A. Dejneka, et al., Optical effects induced by epitaxial tension in lead titanate, Applied Physics Letters 112:3 (2018) 031111
- 16. S. Manzeli et al., 2D transition metal dichalcogenides, Nature Reviews Materials 2 (2017) 17033
- 17. M. Kim et al., Recent advances in 2D, 3D and higher-order topological photonics, Light: Science & Applications 9:130 (2020) 1
- 18. S. R. Amanaganti et al., Collective photonic response of high refractive index dielectric metasurfaces, Scientific Reports 10 (2020) 15599
- 19. I. Aulika, A. Dejneka, V. Zauls, K. Kundzins, Optical gradient of the trapezium-shaped NaNbO₃ thin films studied by spectroscopic ellipsometry", Journal of Electrochemical Society, 155 G209 (2008)
- 20. I. Aulika, A. Deyneka, V. Zauls and K. Kundzins, Thermo-optical studies of NaNbO₃ thin films, Journal of Physics, Conference Edition, V 93 (2007) 012016
- 21. I. Aulika, J. Petzelt, J. Pokorny, A. Deyneka, V. Zauls, K. Kundzins, Structural and Optical Studies of NaNbO₃ Thin Films Grown by PLD on SrRuO₃ Bottom Electrode", Review of Advanced Material Science, V 15 (2007) 158
- 22. I. Aulika, M. Zubkins, J. Butikova, J. Purans, Enhanced Reflectivity Change and Phase Shift of Polarized Light: Double Parameter Multilayer Sensor, Phys. Status Solidi A (2021) 2100424
- 23. M. Zubkins, I. Aulika, E. Strods, V.Vibornijs, L.Bikse, A.Sarakovskis, G.Chikvaidze, J.Gabrusenoks, H.Arslan, J.Purans, Optical properties of oxygen-containing yttrium hydride thin films during and after the deposition, Vacuum 203 (2022) 111218
- 24. L. Trinkler, I. Aulika, G. Krieke, D. Nilova, R. Ruska, J. Butikova, B. Berzina, M. M.-C. Chou, L. Chang, M.-C. Wen, T. Yan, R. Nedzinskas, Characterization of wurtzite Zn_{1-x}Mg_xO epilayers grown on ScAlMgO₄ substrate by methods of optical spectroscopy, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 912 (2022) 165178
- 25. H. Arslan, I. Aulika, A. Sarakovskis, L. Bikse, M. Zubkins, J. Gabrusenoks, J. Purans, Reactive pulsed DC magnetron sputtering deposition of narrow band gap semiconducting yttrium oxide thin film in ultralow oxygen atmosphere: A spectroscopic and structural investigation of growth dynamics, Vacuum 211 (2023) 111942
- 26. M. Zubkins, V. Vibornijs, E. Strods, I. Aulika, A. Zajakina, A. Sarakovskis, K. Kundzins, K. Korotkaja, Z. Rudevica, E. Letko, J. Purans, A stability study of transparent conducting WO₃/Cu/WO₃ coatings with antimicrobial properties, Surfaces and Interfaces 41 (2023) 103259

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Temperature controlled hot stage integrated to the ellipsometer: system ready for thermo-optical investigations.
- Complex dielectric dispersion curves, optical band gap and optical depth profile as a function of the sputtering pressure obtained for the HiPIMS sputtered YHO thin films [23].

- Theoretical modelling of enhanced reflectivity change and phase shift of polarized light for double parameter multilayer sensor development: biomedical applications.
- Optical anisotropy study of epitaxial β -Ga₂O₃ thin films sputtered on *c*-, *a*-, and r-sapphire substrates.
- Evaluation of the optical band gap, complex dielectric curves and optical depth profile variation in ZnMgO thin films with different Zn content [24].
- First determination of refractive index and extinction coefficient for reactive pulsed DC magnetron sputtered narrow band gap semiconducting yttrium oxide thin film [25].
- Evaluation of the Cu diffusion in WO_x layers in antipathogenic multilayer structure PET/WO_x/Cu/WO_x.
- Simulation of complex dielectric function for domain walls in PPLN crystals (collaboration with KTH).
- Determination of complex dielectric function for irradiated and non-irradiated MgAl₂O₄, YAG, PbF₂, GGAG, and other crystals for fusion diagnostic applications.
- New project application submitted in May 2023 about development of 2D materials on periodically poled lithium niobate platform for novel applications in opto- and nanoelectronics with enhanced functionalities. Project received good evaluation (13.5 from 15) but did not receive founding. The project description will be improved and resubmitted in 2024.
- Interphase layers simulations for OLED systems using CompleteEASE[®] (LZP-2022/1-0331 project started on January 2023).
- Thermo-optical investigations of VO_x thin films: direct observation of the phase transition at 68°C for main ellipsometric angles (SWEB project started on November 2022).
- Automated rotation stage installed to the ellipsometer: system ready for high precision sample rotational experiments highly necessary for anisotropic studies.
- Spectroscopic ellipsometry investigation of the oxidation and migration of Cu in WO₃ films over time in three-layer antibacterial and antiviral WO₃/Cu/WO₃ transparent and counting coatings (ERDF project No. 1.1.1.1/21/A/050). Optical property modelling is used to optimize the thickness of the three-layer coatings to obtain the highest figure-of-merit for a transparent electrode. A structure of glass/WO₃ (70 nm)/Cu (10 nm)/WO₃ (45 nm) gives a sheet resistance of 14 Ω /sq. and a light transmittance of 65% at 600 nm [26].
- The time-dependent optical and structural change investigations occurring in a photochromic YHO thin film during the transition from a transparent to a dark state. The study revealed the expansion and contraction processes and change in optical properties taking place within the photochromic YHO film under UV illumination (paper draft prepared).

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL FUNCTIONAL MATERIALS

This section comprises research plans of studies having their primary focus points at creating new materials for photonics; nuclear energy; radiation detection and conversion; for energy storage and harvesting.

STATE OF THE ART

Nanomaterials are defined as materials with at least one spatial dimension in the scale of 10⁻⁹ m, or usually below 100 nm [1]. They exhibit physical and chemical properties different from their bulk counterparts due to the large surface/volume ratio and, thus, the important contribution of surface atoms, as well as quantum confinement and other quantum phenomena [1]. Nanomaterials are classified by the number of dimensions in the nanoscale. 2D materials have one dimension below 100 nm, 1D and 0D materials have 2 and 3 dimensions in nanoscale, respectively. Examples are nanoparticles and quantum dots (0D), nanowires and nanotubes (1D), layered van der Waals materials (2D).

Zero-dimensional (0D) nanomaterials are the cornerstone of nanotechnology. Due to the inherent structural properties of 0D nanomaterials, such as ultra-small sizes and high surface-to-volume ratios, they have more surface area per unit mass. The high surface-to-volume ratio and quantum confinement effects of 0D nanomaterials provide improved or novel properties such as, for example, high photoluminescence (PL) quantum efficiency and enhanced catalytic activity. Various 0D nanomaterials have been extensively explored: carbon-based quantum inorganic quantum dots (QDs), magnetic nanoparticles, noble metal nanoparticles, upconversion nanoparticles. 0D nanomaterials have numerous potential applications in materials science, photovoltaic science, catalysis, energy, sensing, biomedicine and ink-jet printed devices [2].

1D nanostructures - nanowires (NWs) and nanotubes (NTs) – are being explored as promising materials for applications in electronics, optoelectronics, photonics and microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) [3]. Two different approaches of NW integration in devices are used – single-NW devices consist of individual separate NWs, whereas "bulk" devices contain periodic NW arrays or randomly dispersed NWs. The challenge is to develop a scalable device fabrication process that could compete with current technologies, such as silicon microfabrication. This is an active research field. Several concepts have been proposed, for instance, controlled printing of NWs with roll-to-roll technology that uses microfluidics to align the NWs [4]. Besides upscaling problems, the current 1D materials research focuses on finding new NW-based materials and studying their fundamental properties for novel applications [5]. NW characteristics can be engineered by creating core-shell heterostructures – modifying NW by a thin (compared to the diameter of the NW) coating of a different material [6]. Surface of NWs has a significantly reduced lattice mismatch restriction compared to conventional semiconductor thin film growth thus enabling greater flexibility in choosing the materials to produce heterostructures and in engineering their properties [7,8].

2D layered van der Waals (vdW) materials have attracted great interest since the isolation of monolayer graphene in 2004, due to their unique structure and the promising physical properties that appear when the thickness of the material is reduced to one atomic layer. These materials have an atomic structure similar to well-known graphite – strong in-plane bonds and weak interlayer bonding [9]. Bulk materials of this group have been widely studied in the last century, as most of these materials are quite abundant and have been used in different technological fields, however until 2004 it was believed that it is not possible to obtain an only one separate stable layer [10]. There was some research done in 1960s that showed that electrical conductivity in a few-layer graphite is higher when measured laterally in-plane rather than between the planes, but it was still assumed and assumptions justified by experimental and theoretical research that stable two-dimensional (2D) atomic crystals cannot exist separately in nature, as all attempts to obtain such were unsuccessful – with the used methods the layers

tended to curl, roll or deform in other ways [11–13]. The ground-breaking discovery by K. Novoselov and A. Geim in 2004 proved otherwise – by mechanically exfoliating highly crystalline graphite with a Scotch tape they were able to obtain one atomic layer of graphite (graphene) on an oxidized silicon substrate and measure its electrical properties [10]. Graphene exhibits extraordinary electrical and mechanical properties [14]. For their contribution, Geim and Novoselov were awarded The Nobel Prize in Physics in 2010.

Afterwards, 2D materials became one of the "hottest" topics in modern physics – in 2011 an intensive research started on layered transition metal dichalcogenide (TMD) semiconductors, mainly MoS_2 and WS_2 [15–17], and around 2015 more exotic compounds were started to be studied, such as NbS_2 and ReS_2 [18,19].

TMDs are described by a general chemical formula MX_2 , where M is a periodic table Group 4 – 7 transition metal and X is a chalcogen, and have a potentially useful property of thickness-dependent bandgap [20]. TMDs layers have terminated surfaces without dangling bonds, bound together by weak vdW forces, therefore, they can be sequentially stacked unstrained without any covalent interlayer bonding and even if materials are slightly lattice-mismatched [21]. Large-scale synthesis methods of TMDs on different substrates need to be developed, before any practical applications could be realized.

The family of 2D materials includes several subgroups, classified by materials chemical formula and atomic structure: (1) transition metal dichalcogenides (i.e. MoS₂, WSe₂) and their related compounds (2) group IIIA chalcogenides (i.e. GaS, InSe) and (3) Group IVA dichalcogenides (i.e. SnS₂), most of these compounds are semiconductors, semi-metals or metals; (4) insulator hexagonal boron nitride (h-BN); (5) black phosphorus; (6) X-enes (i.e. graphene, germanene); (7) MX-enes (transition metal carbides and nitrides); and other compounds, such as few oxides, halides etc. [22–24] Some of these materials are naturally occurring, however some are only synthesized chemically, h-BN for example.

Combining NWs and TMDs in core-shell heterostructures could lead to new knowledge about the interface formation between different materials and solid-state reactions in such systems, to novel nanostructures with enhanced properties, and development of new TMDs synthesis methods as NWs are a convenient template to study materials growth.

OUR POSITION

In the recent past we have focused on synthesis and investigation of mechanical and tribological properties of 0D and 1D nanomaterials (nanoparticles, nanodumbbells, nanowires, nanotubes) [25-41, 54, 56].

For example, pentagonal Ag and Au nanowires (NWs) were bent in cantilever beam configuration inside a scanning electron microscope [27]. We demonstrated an unusual, abrupt elastic-to-plastic transition, observed as a sudden change of the NW profile from smooth arc-shaped to angled knee-like during the bending in the narrow range of bending angles. Moreover, we found that if the NWs are coated with alumina or silica, the abrupt plastic event is not observed and the NWs can withstand severe deformation in the elastic regime without fracture. The coating may possibly prevent formation of dislocations. Mechanical durability under high and inhomogeneous strain fields is an important aspect of exploiting Ag and Au NWs in applications like waveguiding or conductive networks in flexible polymer composite materials.

More recently, we studied mixed-dimensional core-shell NWs, the shells made of layered 2D materials (WS₂, MoS₂, ReS₂, PbI₂, etc.) [42-50]. We found that the combination of properly chosen materials can bring improved and advanced properties of these NWs.

We found enhanced and fast photoresponse of ZnO-WS₂ nanowires applied as visible light photodetectors [42]. In this work we demonstrated, that even a very thin coating can greatly improve the optoelectronic properties of nanostructures by modifying the light absorption and spatial distribution of charge carriers. To use these advantages, ZnO/WS₂ core/shell NWs with a-few-layers-thick WS₂ shell were fabricated. Then, a single-nanowire photoresistive device was assembled by mechanically positioning ZnO/WS₂ core/shell nanowires onto gold electrodes inside a scanning electron microscope. The results show that a few layers of WS₂ significantly enhance the photosensitivity in the short wavelength range and drastically (almost 100×) improve the photoresponse time compared to uncoated ZnO NWs. The fast response time of ZnO/WS₂ core/shell NW was explained by electrons and holes sinking from ZnO nanowire into WS₂ shell, which serves as a charge carrier channel in the ZnO/WS₂ heterostructure. First-principles calculations suggest that the interface layer i-WS₂, bridging ZnO nanowire surface and WS₂ shell, might play a role of energy barrier, preventing the backward diffusion of charge carriers into ZnO nanowire.

The three main accomplishments during the last year, which have an impact on the future planning, are:

- Published an original research work on stress induced reversible kink formation in CuO nanowires [52]. This work reports for the first time the post-synthesis formation of such defects, achieved by exploiting a peculiar plasticity that may occur in nanosized covalent materials. Specifically, in this work the authors found that single-crystal CuO NWs can form double kinks when subjected to external mechanical loading. Both the microscopy and atomistic modelling suggest that deformation-induced twinning along the (110) plane is the mechanism behind this effect. In a single case the authors were able to unkink a NW back to its initial straight profile, indicating the possibility of reversible plasticity in CuO NWs, which is supported by the atomistic simulations. The phenomenon reported here provides novel insights into the mechanisms of plastic deformation in covalent NWs and offers potential avenues for developing techniques to customize the shape of NWs post-synthesis and introduce new functionalities.
- Published a critical review article on ZnO nanowires Young's modulus determination by experimental and theoretical methods [53]. Main attention was focused on a widespread problem related to the vast disagreement in elastic moduli values reported by different authors for nanostructures made of the same material (in this case ZnO nanowires). The most of works consider the same growth direction and wurtzite crystal structure, reported values of Young's modulus vary drastically from author to author ranging from 20 to 800 GPa. Moreover, both diameter dependent and independent Young's modulus values have been reported. In this work, the authors provide a critical overview and perform a thorough analysis of the available experimental and theoretical works on the mechanical characterization of ZnO NWs to find out the most significant sources of errors and to bring out the most trustable results. A special attention was paid to clarification of strong discrepancy between theory and experiment in regard of size effect dependence for Young's modulus of ZnO nanowires.
- Published a research work dedicated to comparison of Ag, Cu, Cu-Ag nanomaterials functional parameters for conductive coating applications. Spray deposition and inkjet printing of various nanostructures are emerging complementary methods for creating conductive coatings on different substrates. In comparison to established deposition techniques like vacuum metal coating and lithography-based metallization processes, spray deposition and inkjet printing benefit from significantly simplified equipment. However, there are number of challenges related to peculiar properties and behaviour of nanostructures that require additional studies. In present work, we investigate electroconductive properties and sintering behaviour of thin films produced from

nanostructures of different metals (Ag, Cu and Cu-Ag) and different shapes (nanowires and spherical nanoparticles), and compare them to the reference Ag and Cu magnetron deposited films. All nanowires-based films provided high conductivity and required only modest thermal treatment ($200 \circ C$), which make them very attractive for large area transparent conductive electrode applications using spray deposition. To achieve sufficient sintering and conductivity of nanoparticles-based films, higher temperatures are required ($300^\circ C$ for Ag nanoparticles and $350 \circ C$ for Cu and Cu-Ag nanoparticles). Nanoparticle based inks are ideal for precise deposition of conductive patterns using functional ink-jet printing.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

There are three main activities of ISSP UL in field of nanomaterials are planned in near future:

(1) Development of 1D core-shell nanowire heterostructures based on charge density wave (CDW) materials (TaSe₂, TiSe₂, VSe₂); (2) Development of superconducting MgB₂ thin films and 1D core-shell nanowire heterostructures with superconducting MgB₂ shell; (3) Development of nanomanipulation setup for nanotribological and nanomechanical experiments with 0D, 1D and 1D / quasi 3D (e.g., ZnO tetrapods) nanomaterials. Development of MEMS device for 1D nanostructures simultaneous stretching and electrical conductivity measurements.

1. We are investigating new charge density wave (CDW) material hybrid nanowire heterostructures suitable for photodetection in a particularly wide wavelength range. The idea is based on the combination of 2D CDW material cladding and semiconductor 1D nanowire core, resulting in hybrid core-shell nanowires. The electronic and optoelectronic properties of the core-shell nanowires will be studied by integrating them into a single nanowire device, such as a field effect transistor and a phototransistor.

2. We are developing technology of superconducting coatings based on MgB2 material and hybrid superconducting nanowire synthesis with goal to create nanomaterial suitable for photodetection in broad wavelength range. It is planned to experimentally investigate the effect of strain in MgB2 nanocoatings on its superconductivity transition temperature using various approaches of strain engineering in a core-shell nanowire (NW) configuration, including epitaxial mismatch strain, interstitial impurity strain and nanomechanical tensile tests of individual NWs in situ cryostat.

3. Nanomanipulation setup for nanomechanical experiments with 0D, 1D and 1D / quasi 3D nanomaterials is under development. There are several possible configurations depending on application: a) set Kleindiek "robot-arm"nanomanipulators, suitable for controllable deformation of 1D nanostructures, measurement of electrical properties and electrical excitation of mechanical oscillations; b) quartz tuning fork based sensor mounted on SmarAct 3D orthogonal nanomanipulator for force detection in nano-range. This configuration needs smooth piezo-scanners and controllers to make possible line or raster scanning like in AFM.

NETWORKING

Five Laboratories of ISSP UL are working in field of nanomaterials: Thin Films Laboratory, Laboratory of Spectroscopy, Laboratory of Materials for Energy Harvesting and Storage, Laboratory of Optical Materials, Laboratory of Computer Modelling of Electronic Structure of Solids.

Of essential importance is ongoing development of ISSP UL research infrastructure and modern equipment, which allows to synthesize and comprehensively study novel nanomaterials, as well

as to fabricate prototype devices. Moreover, full spectrum of theoretical modelling and calculations are available to simulate and interpret the obtained experimental results.

Thin Films Laboratory has ongoing collaboration with research groups from Latvia and abroad: Institute of Physics and Institute of Technology, University of Tartu (Estonia), Royal Institute of Technology KTH Stockholm and RISE Research Institutes of Sweden, Daugavpils University (Latvia), Riga Technical University (Latvia).

REFERENCES

- 1. Jeremy Ramsden. Nanotechnology: An Introduction. (Elsevier, 2016)
- 2. Z. Wang, T.Hu, R. Liang, M. Wei Application of Zero-Dimensional Nanomaterials in Biosensing, Front. Chem., 2020, Article 320, https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00320
- 3. Dasgupta, N. P. et al. 25th Anniversary Article: Semiconductor Nanowires Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications. Adv. Mater. 26, 2137–2184 (2014)
- 4. Fan, Z. et al. Toward the Development of Printable Nanowire Electronics and Sensors. Adv. Mater. 21, 3730–3743 (2009)
- Yang, P., Yan, R. & Fardy, M. Semiconductor Nanowire: What's Next? Nano Lett. 10, 1529–1536 (2010)
- 6. Sun, Y., Sun, B., He, J. & Wang, C. Compositional and structural engineering of inorganic nanowires toward advanced properties and applications. InfoMat 1, 496–524 (2019)
- 7. Lauhon, L. J., Gudiksen, M. S., Wang, D. & Lieber, C. M. Epitaxial core–shell and core–multishell nanowire heterostructures. Nature 420, 57–61 (2002)
- 8. Dong, Y., Tian, B., Kempa, T. J. & Lieber, C. M. Coaxial Group III-Nitride Nanowire Photovoltaics. Nano Lett. 9, 2183–2187 (2009)
- 9. Chhowalla, M. et al. The chemistry of two-dimensional layered transition metal dichalcogenide nanosheets. Nat. Chem. 5, 263–275 (2013)
- 10. Novoselov, K. S. Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films. Science (80-.). 306, 666–669 (2004)
- 11. Joensen, P., Frindt, R. F. & Morrison, S. R. Single-layer MoS₂. Mater. Res. Bull. 21, 457–461 (1986)
- 12. Yang, D. & Frindt, R. F. Li-intercalation and exfoliation of WS₂. J. Phys. Chem. Solids 57, 1113– 1116 (1996)
- 13. Lu, X., Huang, H., Nemchuk, N. & Ruoff, R. S. Patterning of highly oriented pyrolytic graphite by oxygen plasma etching. Appl. Phys. Lett. 75, 193–195 (1999)
- 14. Geim, A. K. & Novoselov, K. S. The rise of graphene. Nat. Mater. 6, 183-91 (2007)
- 15. Mak, K. F., Lee, C., Hone, J., Shan, J. & Heinz, T. F. Atomically thin MoS₂: A new direct-gap semiconductor. Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 2–5 (2010)
- 16. Splendiani, A. et al. Emerging Photoluminescence in Monolayer MoS₂. Nano Lett. 10, 1271– 1275 (2010)
- 17. Gutiérrez, H. R. et al. Extraordinary Room-Temperature Photoluminescence in Triangular WS₂ Monolayers. Nano Lett. 13, 3447–3454 (2013)
- 18. Duong, D. L., Yun, S. J. & Lee, Y. H. van der Waals Layered Materials: Opportunities and Challenges. ACS Nano 11, 11803–11830 (2017)
- 19. cations. Adv. Funct. Mater. 27, 1606129 (2017)
- 20. Choi, W. et al. Recent development of two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides and their applications. Mater. Today 20, 116–130 (2017)
- 21. Walsh, L. A. & Hinkle, C. L. van der Waals epitaxy: 2D materials and topological insulators. Appl. Mater. Today 9, 504–515 (2017)
- 22. Rao, C. N. R., Ramakrishna Matte, H. S. S. & Maitra, U. Graphene analogues of inorganic layered materials. Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 52, 13162–13185 (2013)
- 23. Anasori, B., Lukatskaya, M. R. & Gogotsi, Y. 2D metal carbides and nitrides (MXenes) for energy storage. Nat. Rev. Mater. 2, 16098 (2017)
- 24. Mannix, A. J., Kiraly, B., Hersam, M. C. & Guisinger, N. P. Synthesis and chemistry of elemental 2D materials. Nat. Rev. Chem. 1, 0014 (2017)

- 25. Oras, S. Vlassov, S. Vigonski, S. **Polyakov, B.** Antsov, M. Zadin, V. Lõhmus, R. Mougin, K. The effect of heat treatment on the morphology and mobility of Au nanoparticles. Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology, 11 (2020) 61-67.
- 26. Antsov, M., Polyakov, B., Zadin, V., Mets, M., Oras, S., Vahtrus, M., Lõhmus, R., Dorogin, L., Vlassov, S. Mechanical characterisation of pentagonal gold nanowires in three different test configurations: A comparative study. Micron, 124 (2019)124, art. no. 102686.
- 27. S Vlassov, M Mets, **B Polyakov**, J Bian, LM Dorogin, V Zadin. Abrupt elastic to plastic transition in pentagonal nanowires under bending. Beilstein J. Nanotechnol. 10 (2019) 2468–2476.
- M.Antsov, B. Polyakov, V. Zadin, M. Mets, S. Oras, M.Vahtrus, R. Lõhmus, L. Dorogin, S.Vlassov. Mechanical characterisation of pentagonal gold nanowires in three different test configurations: A comparative study. Micron, 124 (2019) 102686.
- S. Vlassov, S. Oras, M. Antsov, I. Sosnin, B. Polyakov, A.Shutka, M.Y. Krauchanka, L.M. Dorogin, Adhesion and mechanical properties of PDMS-based materials probed with AFM: A review. Reviews on Advanced Materials Science, 56 (2018) 62-78.
- S. Vigonski, V. Jansson, S.Vlassov, B.Polyakov, E.Baibuz, S.Oras, A.Aabloo, F. Djurabekova, V.Zadin.. Au nanowire junction breakup through surface atom diffusion. Nanotechnology, 29 (2018) 015704 (10pp).
- S. Vlassov, S.Oras, M.Antsov, J. Butikova, R. Lõhmus, B. Polyakov. Low-friction Nanojoint Prototype. Nanotechnology, 29 (2018) 195707 (6pp).
- 32. S. Vlassov, B. Polyakov, M. Vahtrus, M. Mets, M. Antsov, S. Oras, A. Tarre, T. Arroval, R. Lohmus, J. Aarik. Enhanced flexibility and electron-beam-controlled shape recovery in alumina-coated Au and Ag core-shell nanowires. Nanotechnology, 28 (2017) 505707.
- 33. M. Mets, M. Antsov, V. Zain, L. Dorogin, A. Aabloo, B. Polyakov, R Lõhmus. Structural factor in bending testing of fivefold twinned nanowires revealed by finite element analysis. Physica Scripta, 91 (2016) 115701.
- 34. M. Vahtrus, A. Šutka, B. Polyakov, S. Oras, M. Antsov, N. Doebelin, R. Lõhmus. Effect of cobalt doping on the mechanical properties of ZnO nanowires. Materials Characterization,121 (2016) 40-47.
- 35. S.Vlassov, B.Polyakov, S.Oras, M.Vahtrus, M.Antsov, A.Šutka, K.Smits, L. Dorogin, R. Lõhmus. Complex tribomechanical characterization of ZnO nanowires: nanomanipulations supported by FEM simulations. Nanotechnology 27 (2016) 335701 (10pp).
- B.Polyakov, R.Zabels, A.Sarakovskis, S.Vlassov, A.Kuzmin. Plasmonic photoluminescence enhancement by silver nanowires. Physica Scripta, 90 (2015) 094008 (4pp).
- B.Polyakov, S.Vlassov, L.Dorogin, J.Butikova, K.Smits, M.Antsov, S.Oras, R.Zabels, R.Lõhmus. Metal nanodumbbells for nanomanipulations and tribological experiments. Physica Scripta, 90 (2015) 094007 (7pp).
- M.Vahtrus, M.Umalas, B.Polyakov, L.Dorogin, R.Lõhmus, S.Vlassov. Mechanical characterization of annealed Al₂O₃ nanofibers. Materials Characterization, 107 (2015) 119– 124.
- M.Vahtrus, A.Shutka, S.Vlassov, A.Shutka, B.Polyakov, R.Saar, L.Dorogin, R.Lõhmus. Mechanical characterization of TiO₂ nanofibers produced by different electrospinning techniques. Materials Characterization, 100 (2015) 98–103.
- M.Umalas, S.Vlassov, B.Polyakov, L.Dorogin, R.Saar, I.Kink, R. Lõhmus, A.Lõhmus, A.Romanov. Electron beam induced growth of silver nanowhiskers. Journal of Crystal Growth, 410 (2015) 63–68.
- 41. **Butanovs, E., Piskunov, S., Zolotarjovs, A., Polyakov, B**. Growth and characterization of PbI₂-decorated ZnO nanowires for photodetection applications. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 25 (2020) 154095.
- 42. E. Butanovs, S. Vlassov, A. Kuzmin, S. Piskunov, J. Butikova, B. Polyakov. Fast-response single-nanowire photodetector based on ZnO/WS₂ core/shell heterostructures. Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 10 (2018) 13869–13876.
- 43. E.Butanovs, J. Butikova, A.Zolotarjovs, B. Polyakov. Towards metal chalcogenide nanowire-based colour-sensitive photodetectors. Optical Materials,75 (2018) 501-507.
- 44. E. Butanovs, A.Kuzmin , J. Butikova, S. Vlassov, B. Polyakov, Synthesis and characterization of ZnO/ZnS/MoS₂ core-shell nanowires, Journal of Crystal Growth, 459 (2017) 100–104.
- 45. B.Polyakov, A.Kuzmin, K. Smits, J. Zideluns, E. Butanovs, J. Butikova, S. Vlassov, S. Piskunov, Y. F. Zhukovskii. Unexpected Epitaxial Growth of a Few WS₂ Layers on {1-100} Facets of ZnO Nanowires. J. Phys. Chem. C, 120 (2016) 21451-21459.

- 46. E.Butanovs, A. Kuzmin, S. Piskunov, K. Smits, A. Kalinko, B. Polyakov. Synthesis and characterization of GaN/ReS₂, ZnS/ReS₂ and ZnO/ReS₂ core/shell nanowire heterostructures, Applied Surface Science 536 (2021) 147841.
- 47. **E. Butanovs, L. Dipane, A. Zolotarjovs**, S. Vlassov, **B. Polyakov**. Preparation of functional Ga₂S₃ and Ga₂Se₃ shells around Ga₂O₃ nanowires via sulfurization or selenization Optical Materials 131 (2022) 112675
- 48. K. Kadiwala, E. Butanovs, A. Ogurcovs, M. Zubkins, B. Polyakov. Comparative study of WSe₂ thin films synthesized via pre-deposited WO₃ and W precursor material selenization, Journal of Crystal Growth 593 (2022) 126764
- 49. E. Butanovs, K. Kadiwala, A. Gopejenko, D. Bocharov, S. Piskunov, B. Polyakov. Different strategies for GaN-MoS₂ and GaN-WS₂ core–shell nanowire growth Applied Surface Science 590 (2022) 153106
- 50. **E. Butanovs, A. Kuzmin, A. Zolotarjovs**, S. Vlassov, **B. Polyakov**. The role of Al2O3 interlayer in the synthesis of ZnS/Al₂O₃/MoS₂ core-shell nanowires, Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 918 (2022) 165648
- 51. A. Ogurcovs, K. Kadiwala, E. Sledevskis, M. Krasovska, I. Plaksenkova, E. Butanovs. Effect of DNA Aptamer Concentration on the Conductivity of a Water-Gated Al:ZnO Thin-Film Transistor-Based Biosensor, Sensors 22(9) (2022) 3408
- 52. S.Vlassov, S.Oras, **A.Trausa**, T.Tiirats, **E.Butanovs**, **B.Polyakov**, V.Zadin, A.Kyritsakis, Reshaping Covalent Nanowires by Exploiting an Unexpected Plasticity Mediated by Deformation Twinning, Small, 2023, doi.org/10.1002/smll.202304614.
- 53. S.Vlassov, **D.Bocharov**, **B.Polyakov**, M. Vahtrus, A.Šutka, S.Oras, V. Zadin, A. Kyritsakis. Critical review on experimental and theoretical studies of elastic properties of wurtzite-structured ZnO nanowires, Nanotechnology Reviews, 12(1) (2023) 20220505.
- 54. **B.Polyakov, A.Novikovs, M. Leimane, K. Kadiwala, M.Zubkins, E. Butanovs**, S. Oras, E. Damerchi, V. Zadin, S.Vlassov, Comparison of the resistivities of nanostructured films made from silver, copper-silver and copper nanoparticle and nanowire suspensions, Thin Solid Films 784 (2023) 140087.
- 55. E.Butanovs, M.Zubkins, R.Nedzinskas, V.Zadin, B.Polyakov, Comparison of two methods for one-dimensional Ga2O3-ZnGa2O4 core-shell heterostructure synthesis, Journal of Crystal Growth, 618 (2023) 127319.
- 56. A.Bundulis, A.Berzina, V.Kim, B.Polyakov, A. Novikovs, R.A. Ganeev, Variation of Nonlinear Refraction and Three-Photon Absorption of Indium–Tin Oxide Quantum Dot Thin Films and Solutions in Near Infrared Range, Nanomaterials, 13(16) (2023), 2320.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- New method of core-shell nanowires preparation is under development, where 2D shell is produced from transition metals in quartz ampoule at low pressure at elevated temperature using sulphur or selenium precursors.
- Alternative method of core-shell nanowires preparation is under development, where 2D shell is produced from soluble transition metals salts in quartz tube in inert atmosphere of glovebox at elevated temperature using sulphur or selenium precursors.
- Development of MgB₂ thin film deposition using direct magnetron deposition of Mg and B precursors using dual magnetron sputtering and following annealing in inert atmosphere.
- Nanomanipulation setup, based on Kleindiek and SmarAct nanopositioners equipped with quartz tuning force sensor, is under construction. Sharp W or AFM tip is glued to tuning fork and can be used for nanomanipulations of 0D, 1D and 1D/quasi 3D nanostructures.
- Silicon based MEMS actuator for simultaneous 1D nanostructures stretching and conductivity measurements is under development. Such MEMS device can be inserted into SEM microscope for in-situ experiments, and more advanced version of the device can be inserted in Liquid Helium cryostat for experiments at low temperatures.

MATERIALS FOR PHOTONICS APPLICATIONS

ELECTROLUMINESCENCE AND ORGANIC LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES

STATE OF THE ART

One of the largest shares of the total energy consumption is consumed by lighting and displays. Highly efficient artificial lighting with good spectral properties is still one of the biggest issues. Organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs) are one of the possible solutions in these fields. Such diodes systems could be implemented in Smart Cities and highly energy-efficient buildings. Artificial lighting could be implemented in the windows or through the ceiling. Smart TV and displays can be fitted in mirrors or walls. The energy consumption of such systems could be lowered several times [1,2,3]. The number of publications containing the keyword "OLED" has risen from 6 publications in year 1996 to 2207 publications in year 2021 (data from SCOPUS database). At the same time this technology has already taken a large market share in areas like OLED displays. The forecasted market revenue for OLED displays will reach 16 billion US dollars this year with a predicted multiple rise the following decade (data from market research company IDTechEx). Nevertheless, many unresolved problems exist that delay even more rapid growth of this technology. Throughout these years the development of suitable light-emitting organic molecules has always been the main culprit for technological advancement of OLEDs. The first devices featured purely fluorescent compounds, but soon it became clear that these first generation (G1) emitters are fundamentally flawed. Due to the statistics of spin state recombination process, electric charge driven excitation of organic molecules results in excited states that in 25% of the cases are singlets (S), but 75% - triplets (T) [4]. Exclusively singlets are emissive in G1 emitters since the spin-forbidden nature of $T_1 \rightarrow S_0$ transition renders these excited states to being unable to relax through the radiative pathways. Only in 1998 it was demonstrated that internal quantum efficiency of OLEDs can be elevated to 100% with a use of second generation (G2) phosphorescent emitters [5]. Structurally, G2 materials are organo-metallic compounds that feature a heavy transition metal atom. The presence of a large atom induces spin-orbit coupling (SOC) process. This, in turn, drastically changes photo-physical behaviour of the molecules. First, due to the characteristic fast intersystem-crossing (ISC), all the excited states undergo almost immediate transition to the lowest-energy T_1 level [4]. From there, instead of being non-emissive, radiative relaxation takes place for compounds in a form of phosphorescence. This occurs as SOC causes mixing of S and T states, making the $T_1 \rightarrow S_0$ transition probable on a reasonable timescale. Phosphorescence lifetimes (τ) for these compounds are usually 1.5-5 microseconds long, in contrast to second-long lifetimes for typical purely organic fluorophores. In such way OLEDs based on G2 emitters can harvest all the excited states, elevating internal quantum efficiency of the devices from 25 to 100%. Transition metals as osmium, rhenium, rhodium, platinum and iridium are used to synthesize these materials, with the last two being the most commonly applied. Up to this moment, G2 emitters are the go-to materials among OLED industry members due to a combination of relatively low emission lifetimes, chemical stability and wide selection of attainable emission wavelengths. The only exception is blue-light emitters. Operational stability of organic emitters is mandatory, as

practically used emitters must retain 95% of the original brightness (T_{95}) after 10000 h of device operation [6]. In contrast, state-of the-art blue G2 emitters show T_{80} of less than 160 h [6]. This is the reason, why G1 emitters are still exclusively used as blue-light source in commercial OLEDs. As a consequence, blue-light generation consumes about 50% of driving power for such devices as modern smartphone displays [7].

The extensive use of noble metals, such as iridium and platinum, is causing concerns among OLED industry members and academics. The cost and scarcity together with negative environmental impact associated with these metals create limitations for the potential sustainability and expansion of this industrial sector [8]. In order to circumvent the issue and to the develop possible triplet harvesting blue-emitters, the recent years have witnessed extensive development of compounds that exhibit thermally activated delayed fluorescence (TADF). The interest in this research direction sparked in 2012, with the first demonstration of efficient OLEDs with TADF emitters [9]. Often labelled as the third generation (G3) emissive materials, these compounds are purely organic molecules, with no metal atoms present. The ability of G3 emitters to harvest triplet excited states originates from the closely located S₁ and T₁ levels. If this energy gap (ΔE_{S1-T1}) is not much larger than 0.12 eV, thermal energy at room temperature can elevate T₁ to the higher lying S₁ energetic state. Such process is called reverse intersystem-crossing (rISC). Combination of G2 and G3 emitters could lead to the highest and most stable OLED.

Another disadvantage is the high production costs of the OLED devices. During the device production stage the active light emitting organic components are usually processed using energy intensive and technologically complex vacuum deposition (sublimation) methods. To increase the competitiveness level of OLED devices the new light emitting materials need to be developed, which can be processed with inexpensive solution-based methods (spin-coating, inkjet printing), while maintaining high efficiencies and chemical stability. At the moment this problem has not been completely solved and a considerable effort is made by research community in this direction. Recently Cu-based organic materials were used in the OLED. [15]

Nowadays, there are two more generations of OLED. The fourth generation (G4) is related to the combination of G1 and G3 molecules, where electrically excited states from G3 molecules move to G1 molecules via Forster resonance energy transfer. This process is known as superfluorescence. The latest generation of OLED materials (G5) consists of molecules with inverted singlet-triplet states. This means that electrically excited triplet states can transition to the singlet state and emit light.

OUR POSITION

Laboratory of Organic Materials has a long-time experience in the investigation of original organic materials for application in an organic light emitting diode (OLED). One of the first steps is quantum chemical calculations to predict molecule applicability as efficient light emitting material with necessary semiconductor properties. The solution containing organic molecules is further investigated to determine the properties of the compounds themselves. Then, obtained thin films are studied. The laboratory has expertise in the determination of both the optical and electrical properties of organic materials. Optical properties like photoluminescence spectrum, photoluminescence quantum yield, and fluorescence kinetics are essential to define possible organic compound applications in OLED [10]. Nevertheless, semiconductor properties are equally important. Therefore, the laboratory pays great attention to the investigation of energy structure and electrical properties of organic semiconductors [11]. Energy levels of the compounds have been studied by photoelectron emission spectroscopy (PES) and spectral

dependence of intrinsic photoconductivity, which provides information about molecule ionization energy (IE). The second method gives a good estimation of the energy bandgap between IE and electron affinity (EA) energy [12]. Local trap states in the bandgap have been investigated by temperature modulated space charge limit current method. Charge carrier mobility has been obtained by Time of Flight (ToF) or Charge Carrier Extraction by Linearly Increasing Voltage (CELIV) techniques [13]. Obtaining complete information about a chemical compound can determine its potential use in the organic light emitting diode. So far, most activities have focused on the investigation of the organic compound. As the main group of compounds, molecular glasses with fluorescence, phosphorescence or thermally activated delayed fluorescence properties have been used. Recently, the laboratory has started the investigation of light emitting organic ionic compounds and has investigated carbene-metalamide (CMA) type organic emitters for OLED.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

In the future, the activities related to the investigation of OLED will be broadened. Investigation of thin film morphology and intermixing of two thin films will be added in the research action. It will be linked to the performance and lifetime of the diode. Use of flexible substrate is one of the advantages of organic light-emitting diode, which should also be developed in the laboratory of organic material.

• Establishment of all necessary experimental methods for investigation of organic lightemitting compounds

Basic knowledge of optical and electrical properties of organic materials is essential for the preparation of high-performance OLED. Up to now, the Institute has established most of the necessary investigation methods that include UPS, XPS, PYS I-V-L curve measurement, TM-SCLC, AFM, SEM, thin film thickness and profile measurement, optical steady-state and time-resolved spectroscopy. Still, some investigations are missing. Two methods to study semiconductors charge carrier mobility will be developed. One is Time of Flight (ToF) method that allows estimating both electron and hole mobility. The second method is Charge extraction with linearly increasing voltage (CELIV). The method is valid for thin films and can be used to investigate charge carrier recombination, but it cannot separately determinate charge carrier mobility for each charge carrier type. Time-resolved electroluminescence measurement is essential for lightemitting electrochemical cells. The completely new system will be established for such measurements. Time-resolved emission measurements in different temperatures are critical for thermally activated delayed fluorescence compound measurements. Edinburgh instruments Photoluminescence Spectrometer FLS1000 could be used for this purpose, but it should be upgraded with the cryogenic system. Recently bought thermal evaporator in glovebox will be used to prepare high quality OLED structures.

• Correlative methods for OLED efficiency and lifetime investigations

Intermixing of the layers and roughness of the layers is one of the reasons for a short lifetime and low performance of organic light-emitting diodes. We will use a correlative characterisation (analyses) method approach to investigate the relation between morphology and the performance of OLED. The deep profile of the OLED will be investigated by XPS, SEM and AFM. The measurements will be done for virgin and aged OLED structures. OLED performance and ageing will be correlated to the changes between original OLED stuck and after the operation. To perform such correlative analyses, we must be sure that all prepared samples are identical as after deep profiling, the sample cannot be used. To overcome this issue, a new approach will be developed. Spectral ellipsometry is a non-destructive method that can provide information about

multilayer system and possible layer intermixing. It gives the possibility to measure the same pixel before and after OLED operation. In some cases, *in-situ* measurements are possible while voltage is applied on OLED.

• Methods for preparation of OLED on flexible substrates

ITO-coated polyethylene terephthalate (PET) films fits for the preparation of a flexible organic light-emitting diode. Cleaning procedure of PET substrate will be developed to increase the wettability of organic compounds. A new type of chucks will be bought in order to perform layer deposition from solution by spin-coating method. Vacuum deposition system and measurement system will be adapted to flexible thin films. Also, new encapsulation methods will be used to maintain flexibility. At the beginning, $25 \times 25 \text{ mm}^2$ will be used, and then they will be gradually increased to $50 \times 50 \text{ cm}^2$.

• Degradation mechanism investigation by ellipsometry

Investigation physicochemical properties of the interfaces, and their dependence on the deposition conditions and their role in the performance and degradation kinetics of organic electronic devices is very important. Interfaces between thin films of different organic materials and multilayer structures should be investigated to understand the interface contribution to interfacial transport of electrons and the degradation of OLEDs, and to explore the possibilities of interfacial tuning with the aim to improve the OLEDs performance. Advanced spectroscopic ellipsometry (SE) technique can be used to study layered polymer/molecular glass systems tailored to the parameters of the film deposition and post-deposition treatments, and analyse insitu the degradation kinetics of the OLEDs device under the thermal and electrical load.

NETWORKING

Laboratory of Organic Materials is the best place in Latvia with all the necessary equipment and competence to produce and investigated organic light emitting devices. Further development of OLED field will be divided into two parts. One is related to the research of new compounds and systems for emitting system, and it will be done in close collaboration with chemists from other academic institutions. The second is related to the commercial offer of OLED investigation to the industry. OLED production and investigation competence will be transferred to new students and young scientists.

Latvia:

- Institute of Organic Synthesis (prof. Edgars Suna)
- Riga Technical University (prof. Valdis Kokars and prof. Maris Turks)
- Daugavpils University (Dr.chem. Jelena Kirilova)
- EmiBLUE company
- EVOLED company
- Europe:
- Kaunas University of Technology (prof. Saulius Grigalevicius and prof. Juozas Vidas Grazulevicius)
- Vilnius University (prof. Vidmantas Gulbinas)
- World:
- National Tsing Hua University (Prof. Jwo-Huei Jou)

REFERENCES

- 1. Yuge Huang, En-Lin Hsiang, Ming-Yang Deng, Shin-Tson Wu, Mini-LED, Micro-LED and OLED displays: present status and future perspectives, Light: Science & Applications 9, Article number: 105 (2020)
- 2. Ramchandra Pode, Organic light emitting diode devices: An energy efficient solid state lighting for applications, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 133, 110043 (2020)
- 3. Ho Jin Jang, Jun Yeob Lee, Progress of display performances: AR, VR, QLED, OLED, and TFT, Journal of Information Display 20 (2019)
- 4. Hartmut Yersin, Andreas F.Rausch, Rafał Czerwieniec, Thomas Hofbeck, Tobias Fischer, The triplet state of organo-transition metal compounds. Triplet harvesting and singlet harvesting for efficient OLEDs, Coord. Chem. Rev. 255, 2622 (2011)
- 5. M. A. Baldo, D. F. O'Brien, Y. You, A. Shoustikov, S. Sibley, M. E. Thompson, S. R. Forrest, Highly efficient phosphorescent emission from organic electroluminescent devices, Nature 395, 151 (1998)
- 6. Denis Jacquemin, Daniel Escudero, The short device lifetimes of blue PhOLEDs: insights into the photostability of blue Ir(III) complexes, Chem. Sci. 8, 7844 (2017)
- 7. https://www.oled-info.com/google-details-oled-power-consumption-shows-how-androidsdark-mode-can-help-extend-your-battery-life
- 8. Philip Nuss, Matthew J Eckelman, Life cycle assessment of metals: a scientific synthesis, PLoS One, 9, e101298 (2014)
- 9. Hiroki Uoyama, Kenichi Goushi, Katsuyuki Shizu, Hiroko Nomura, Chihaya Adachi, Highly efficient organic light-emitting diodes from delayed fluorescence, Nature 492, 234 (2012)
- Armands Ruduss, Valdis Kokars, Natalija Tetervenoka, Aivars Vembris, Kaspars Traskovskis, Effects of steric encumbrance of iridium(III) complex core on performance of solutionprocessed organic light emitting diodes, RSC Adv., 10, 27552-27559, (2020)
- 11. Kaspars Traskovskis, Valdis Kokars, Sergey Belyakov, **Natalija Lesina, Igors Mihailovs, and Aivars Vembris**, Emission Enhancement by Intramolecular Stacking between Heteroleptic Iridium(III) Complex and Flexibly Bridged Aromatic Pendant Group, Inorg. Chem. 58, 7 (2019)
- 12. Raitis Grzibovskis, Aivars Vembris, Energy level determination in bulk heterojunction systems using photoemission yield spectroscopy: case of P3HT:PCBM, Journal of Materials Science Vol. 53, Issue 10, 7506–7515 (2018)
- 13. Armands Ruduss, Kaspars Traskovskis, Aivars Vembris, Raitis Grzibovskis, Kaspars Pudzs, Marcis Lielbardis, Valdis Kokars, Synthesis and investigation of charge transport properties in adducts of hole transporting carbazole derivatives and push-pull azobenzenes, Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids 127 (2019) 178–18
- 14. Stergios Logothetidis, Flexible organic electronic devices: Materials, process and applications, Materials Science and Engineering: B, 152, 96-104 (2008)
- 15. Ao Ying, Yu-Hsin Huang, Chen-Han Lu, Zhanxiang Chen, Wei-Kai Lee, Xuan Zeng, Tianhao Chen, Xiaosong Cao, Chung-Chih Wu*, Shaolong Gong*, and Chuluo Yang, High-Efficiency Red Electroluminescence Based on a Carbene–Cu(I)–Acridine Complex, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 13 13478–13486 (2021)

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

• OLED degradation

LIGHT AMPLIFICATION AND ORGANIC SOLID-STATE LASERS

STATE OF THE ART

Low-energy consumption light emitters with high energy conversion efficiency are critical for sensor and telecommunication applications. Personalised medicine requires low-cost test probes (like Lab-on-a-chip) that every person can use to get the results of the lab test fast, so that targeted therapy could be applied. One of the principles how the test probes work is the detection of light changes (spectra or intensity). In such a case small, highly efficient, and probably wavelength-tuneable light source is necessary. Organic solid-state lasers could be flexible, wavelength-tuneable, and several micrometres large. They can be integrated in organic or inorganic photonic-integrated chips. Short-range telecommunication could be achieved within the polymer fibres. In such a case, the telecommunication window will be in the near-infrared region. Organic solid-state laser offers highly efficient energy conversion in the infrared spectral region [1,2].

Organic compounds have been widely used in dye lasers. The same or similar compounds can be found in organic solid-state lasers. All type of organic molecules as low molecular weight compounds, dendrimers, and polymers are used. The best systems with the lowest amplified spontaneous excitation (ASE) threshold values (below 1 μ J/cm²) are dye-doped matrixes [3,4]. Without matrix, the distance between the molecules is small, and significant intermolecular interaction takes place that quenches the excited states. It was partially solved by added bulky groups to the dye molecule, but still, ASE excitation threshold value is one order of magnitude higher [5,6] compared to the guest-host systems. ASE excitation energy is different for various spectral ranges. It is the smallest for blue emitters (below μ J/cm²) [3]. The same is for green emitters (around below µJ/cm²) [4]. A yellow emitter has around 10 µJ/cm² [7], a red emitter has around 24 µJ/cm² [8], and for infra-red emitter it is 20 µJ/cm² [9]. Our group has demonstrated that emitting molecular glasses based on pyranyliden derivatives in neat films also show ASE excitation threshold values comparable to the best published ones in the red spectral region (24 μ J/cm²). This value is still one order of magnitude higher in infra-red spectral region (165 μ [/cm²] [8]. Such low threshold values were obtained even despite small photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) below 25%. Lower ASE threshold energy values could be achieved if PLQY was higher. One of the possibilities to enhance luminescence in organic material is the introduction of metallic nanoparticles (NPs) into the organic matrix. In the presence of the electromagnetic field, plasmon field emitted by the properly exciting metal nanoparticle can enhance the luminescence of an organic molecule [10]. Still, the are many factors affecting luminescence enhancement, being shape, size, and dimensionality of NPs [11], the orientation of the dye dipole moments relative to the nanoparticle surface normal, dye-metal distances, overlapping of plasmon and organic dye absorption and emission band, radiative decay rate, and quantum yield of luminescent molecules [12]. Luminescence can be increased if appropriate conditions in the metal NPs-organics matrix are created. Among the metallic NPs, silver NPs are the most popular due to their physical, chemical, and biological properties. The advantage of Ag NPs over others metallic NPs is small loss of the optical frequency during the surface-plasmon propagation, nontoxicity, high electrical and thermal conductivity, stability at ambient conditions, low cost in comparison to other metals such as gold or platinum, high-primitive character, wide absorption of visible and far IR region of the light, and chemical stability [13]. Till now, several papers have reported ASE efficiency enhancement by applying nanoparticles [14] and metal nanostructures in gain media [15,16]. It has been shown that the ASE threshold value could be reduced up to 10 times. Surface plasmon interaction with organic semiconductors opened a new type of organic lasers - surface plasmon amplification by stimulated emission of radiation ("spasers") [17,18].

New type of organic solid state lasers were developed that can be excited by organic lightemitting diode.

OUR POSITION

Laboratory of Organic materials has started an investigation of light amplification in 2010. During this time, investigation method for a full description of the compounds has been established. Optical properties of solution containing organic molecules have been investigated to determine the further investigated compounds. Investigation of thin film deposition parameters is investigated afterwards. Emission spectra and photoluminescence quantum yield are one of the most important parameters which are studied in thin films. Light amplification properties are obtained via amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) by line method. Specific measurement set-up was made to measure ASE excitation threshold energy, light gain and losses coefficients. More than 100 compounds were investigated during this time in close collaboration with chemists. The investigated compounds emit light in the red and infrared spectral region. All investigated compounds were molecular glasses, and ASE properties were investigated in neat films or polymer matrix. Thin-film preparation from solution and reduced photoluminescence quenching are one of the advantages of molecular glasses.

One of the first works in the field of optical amplification systems was done in 2012, where amplified spontaneous emission of molecular glasses were investigated [18]. 4-(Dicyanomethylene)-2-methyl-6-(4-dimethylaminostyryl)-4H-pyran (DCM) red-emitting molecule has served as a base of all derivatives. Glass state of thin films was archived by adding bulky trityloxyethyl groups at the electron donor side of the molecule. The neat film of DCM does not exhibit fluorescence, but the photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) of the systems that we have prepared was up to 3% [19]. As a result, amplified spontaneous emission excitation energy as low as 90 μ J/cm² was obtained. Further work was done to increase the synthesis yield of investigated compounds with a double increase in PLQY, but without significant changes in ASE excitation energy [20]. It was achieved by substituting methyl group with tert-butyl group (DWK-1TB molecule). Several other modifications were done to electron donor and/or electron acceptor group to improve emission efficiency till DWK-1TB molecule was modified by changing malononitrile group as the electron acceptor to ethyl and one nitrogen group. These changes benefited in the optical properties of the neat thin film. PLQY increased up to 23%, while ASE threshold energy was decreased to $24 \,\mu$ J/cm² [8], which now is close to the best results for red emitters found in the literature. During the investigation of DCM derivatives, bis-DCM derivatives with the light emission in the near-infrared region were developed. The best performance of 170 μ J/cm² ASE threshold energy with emission at 743 nm was obtained [21].

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The results obtained so far are by no means final and conclusive. Further work should be done in the field of hybrid structure. Absorption and emission properties of the organic semiconductor can be improved if metal nanoparticles are mixed in the system due to the organic molecule interaction with metal nanoparticle surface plasmon resonance. Unfortunately, metal nanoparticles should be synthesised in water, but organic compounds cannot be dissolved in water. It means that metal nanoparticles should be transferred in an organic solvent, which is a challenging task. Introduction of Bragg grating in the ASE system is one additional task which should be done in this period.

• Influence of metal nanoparticle surface plasmon resonance on ASE properties of organic materials

Regarding optical light amplification systems, the main goal will be the development of metal layer preparation protocol and selection of plasmonic design for optical amplification of light. To achieve this, we will develop a methodology for nanoscale metal structure fabrication using EBL, optical lithography and vacuum deposition system. This includes selection of adequate photoresist for lithography process and its processing, guidelines for metal deposition and stripping of photoresist. Alongside this, theoretical study of different plasmonic structures will be carried out to select the most appropriate ones for optical modulation and light amplification. For chemical metal nanoparticle synthesis, metal precursor, reducing agent, and stabilizing/capping agents are needed. Reducing agent concentration determines the size and shape of metal nanoparticles. Unprotected metal nanoparticles can easily agglomerate due to their small size; therefore, stabilizing is required. It allows obtaining a stable metal nanoparticle solution. Nanoparticles will be synthesised in aqueous solution, but organic material usually cannot be dissolved in water; therefore, metal nanoparticles will be transferred to an organic solution like chloroform or toluene afterwards. For this reason, reducing agent and stabilizing should be changed to one which can disperse nanoparticles in organic solution. The transfer can be made through a chemical reaction, centrifugation, and ultrasonic treatment. The size of nanoparticles will be tuned to match absorption and/or emission spectra of organic compounds. Synthesised nanoparticles will be mixed with laser dye or laser dyes deposited on the prepared metal nanostructure. Pyranyliden derivatives with one and two-electron donor groups that have been previously investigated in our laboratory will be used as laser dyes. Light absorption and emission of the hybrid systems will be obtained to investigate the impact of nanostructures on the optical properties of organic compounds. Mainly photoluminescence spectra, quantum yield and kinetics will be measured. For the best systems, ultrafast spectroscopy measurements will be done.

Computer modelling and preparation of resonator structure for organic solid-state laser will be fully done in the scope of polymer photonics technology platform.

• ASE preparation methods on flexible substrates

PET or other low-refractive index polymer substrates will be used for the preparation of flexible organic solid-state laser. Cleaning procedure of PET substrate will be developed to increase the wettability of organic compounds. A new type of chucks will be bought to make possible layer deposition from solution by spin-coating method. Possibility of introducing low-index intermediate layer between the substrate and laser active media will be investigated.

The limits of lithography technique for writing diffraction gratings in systems with flexible substrates will be investigated within the scope of the polymer photonics technology platform.

• Investigation of NIR emitters.

Organic compounds have been widely used in dye lasers and the same or similar compounds can be found in organic solid-state lasers. Most of the compounds have emission in the visible spectral region with the amplified spontaneous emission or laser emission excitation threshold energy below 1 μ J/cm². Organic near infrared emitters have higher threshold energies, but they are more competitive compared to inorganic infrared lasers. Inorganic III-V semiconductor has low exciton binding energy (around 6 meV) which partially is the reason of low photoluminescence quantum yield of these materials. Additionally, a specific three or mostly a four-level system should be made to get population inversion. Organic materials exhibit the fourlevel energy system in the molecule and no additional modifications should be done. Organic compounds have higher Frenkel exciton binding energy (more than 200 meV), which increases the recombination possibility of the excitons. Organic materials that form thin films from solution would additionally benefit due to the possibility to make lasers by simple wet casting methods. Thus, such properties could increase the applications of lasers in telecommunication, bioimaging and lab-on-chip

• Preparation of the media for CW organic solid-state laser.

To obtain a solid-state laser able to operate in CW conditions, the following scientific solutions for the design of the laser-active media are proposed: Functionalization and/or re-design of all the components (triplet manager, Alq₃, DCM/DWK-1 molecules as well as the quencher functional groups, structural fragments or molecules if required) necessary for producing the solid-state light-emitting system. All the obtained components can be mixed either in a polymer matrix or into a single glassy film-forming component. Design and synthesis of solution-processable laser dye based on bulky amorphous phase promoting bulky triphenylmethylmoiety-containing derivative of DWK-1 with additionally incorporated "triplet manager" fragments, and, if required, one with triplet quencher functional groups. Obtained products also can either be mixed in a polymer matrix with functionalized or non-functionalized Alq₃ or the glassy lasing medium, which can be acquired just from the newly synthesized compounds.

To achieve the goals mentioned above, technology and experimental setup should be developed:

• Time-resolved photoluminescence emission measurement at different temperatures.

NETWORKING

Laboratory of organic materials is the only place in Latvia with all the necessary equipment and competence to investigate organic compounds for light amplification. The further development of organic solid-state laser will be focused on preparation of more efficient gain media and design and preparation of laser resonator. Increase of gain media efficiency will be done in close collaboration with chemists from other academic institutions. ASE investigation and laser production competence will be transferred to new students and scientists.

Latvia:

Riga Technical University (prof. Valdis Kokars and prof. Maris Turks)

Daugavpils University (Dr.chem. Jelena Kirilova)

Europe:

Kaunas University of Technology (prof. Saulius Grigalevicius and prof. Juozas Vidas Grazulevicius)

• Vilnius University (prof. Vidmantas Gulbinas)

REFERENCES

- 1. Yi Jiang, Yuan-Yuan Liu, Xu Liu, He Lin, Kun Gao, Wen-Yong Lai, Wei Huang, Organic solidstate lasers: a materials view and future development, Chem. Soc. Rev.,49, (5885-5944 2020)
- 2. Guo-Qing Wei, Xue-Dong Wang, Liang-Sheng Liao, Recent Advances in 1D Organic Solid-State Lasers, Advance Functional Materials, 29, 1902981, (2019)
- 3. H. Nakanotani, S. Akiyama, D. Ohnishi, M. Moriwake, M. Yahiro, T. Yoshihara, S. Tobita C. Adachi, Extremely Low-Threshold Amplified Spontaneous Emission of 9,9'-Spirobifluorene

Derivatives and Electroluminescence from Field-Effect Transistor Structure, Adv. Funct. Mater. 17, 2328–2335 (2007)

- 4. H. Nakanotani, T. Furukawa, C. Adachi, Light Amplification in an Organic Solid-State Film with the Aid of Triplet-to-Singlet Upconversion, Adv. Opt. Mater., 3(10), 1381–1388 (2015)
- T. Komino, H. Nomura, M. Yahiro, K. Endo, C. Adachi, J. Selectively Controlled Orientational Order in Linear-Shaped Thermally Activated Delayed Fluorescent Dopants, Phys. Chem. C 115, 19890–19896 (2011)
- J.-C. Ribierre, L. Zhao, M. Inoue, P.-O. Schwartz, J.-H. Kim, K. Yoshida, A. S. D. Sandanayaka, H. Nakanotani, L. Mager, S. Méry, C. Adachi, Low threshold amplified spontaneous emission and ambipolar charge transport in non-volatile liquid fluorene derivatives, Chem. Commun. 52, 3103–3106 (2016)
- 7. B. H. Wallikewitz, D. Hertel, K. Meerholz, Cross-Linkable Polyspirobifluorenes: A Material Class Featuring Good OLED Performance and Low Amplified Spontaneous Emission Thresholds, Chem. Mater. 21, 2912-2919 (2009),
- 8. Elmars Zarins, Karina Siltane , **Julija Pervenecka, Aivars Vembris**, Valdis Kokars, Glassforming derivatives of 2-cyano-2-(4H-pyran-4-ylidene) acetate for light-amplification systems, Dye. Pigment 163, 62–70 (2019)
- 9. D'Aléo, M. H. Sazzad, D. H. Kim, E. Y. Choi, J. W. Wu, G. Canard, F. Fages, J.-C. Ribierre, C. Adachi, Boron difluoride hemicurcuminoid as an efficient far red to near-infrared emitter: toward OLEDs and laser dyes, Chem. Commun. 52, 7003–7006 (2017)
- 10. Burunkova, S. Keki, A. Veniaminov, M. Nagy, L. Daroczi, S. Kokenyesi, Influence of Gold Nanoparticles on the Luminescence of an Acrylated Isocyanonaphthalene Derivative, Advances in Condensed Matter Physics ID 8084659 (2019)
- 11. Munechika, Y. Chen, A. F. Tillack, A. P. Kulkarni, I. J.-L. Plante, A. M. Munro, D. S. Ginger, Spectral Control of Plasmonic Emission Enhancement from Quantum Dots near Single Silver Nanoprisms, Nano Lett. 10, 2598–2603 (2010)
- 12. O.G. Tovmachenko, C. Graf, D.J. van den Heuvel, A. van Blaaderen, H.C. Gerritsen, Fluorescence Enhancement by Metal-Core/Silica-Shell Nanoparticles, Adv. Mater. 18, 91– 95 (2006)
- 13. Chouhan, Silver Nanoparticles, IntechOpen, Chapter 2, 978-1-78923-479-4 (2018)
- 14. S. Ning, Z. Wu, N. Zhang, L. Ding, X. Hou, F. Zhang, Plasmonically enhanced lasing by different size silver nanoparticles-silver film hybrid structure, Organic Electronics 50, 403-410 (2017)
- 15. L. Long, D. He, W. Bao, M. Feng, P. Zhang, D. Zhang, S. Chen, Localized surface plasmon resonance improved lasing performance of Ag nanoparticles/organic dye random laser, J. Alloys Compd 693, 876-881 (2017)
- 16. T. Jiang, Y. Du, Y. Ma, J. Zhou, C. Gu, S. Tang, Decrease of amplified spontaneous emission threshold achieved by core-shell Ag nanocube@ SiO₂ with ultrasmall shell thicknesses, Materials Research Express 4, 115030 (2017)
- 17. F. Koenderink, Plasmon Nanocavity Array Lasers: Cooperating over Losses and Competing for Gain, ACS Nano 13, 7377–7382 (2019)
- 18. **A. Vembris, I. Muzikante,** R. Karpicz, G. Sliauzys, A. Miasojedovas, S. Jursenas, V. Gulbinas, Fluorescence and amplified spontaneous emission of glass forming compounds containing styryl-4H-pyran-4-ylidene fragment, J. Lumin. 132, 2421–2426 (2012)
- 19. **A. Vembris,** E. Zarins, J. Jubels, V. Kokars, **I. Muzikante**, A. Miasojedovas, S. Jursenas, Thermal and optical properties of red luminescent glass forming symmetric and nonsymmetric styryl-4H-pyran-4-ylidene fragment containing derivatives, Opt. Mater. 34, 1501 – 1506 (2012)
- E. Zarins, A. Vembris, E. Misina, M. Narels, R. Grzibovskis, V. Kokars, Solution Processable 2-(Trityloxy)Ethyl and Tert-Butyl Group Containing Amorphous Molecular Glasses of Pyranylidene Derivatives with Light-Emitting and Amplified Spontaneous Emission Properties, Opt. Mater. 49, 129–137 (2015)
- 21. Elmars Zarins, **Julija Pervenecka**, **Aivars Vembris**, Valdis Kokars, Glass-forming nonsymmetric bis-styryl-DWK-type dyes for infra-red radiation amplification systems, Opt. Mater. 93, 85–92 (2019)

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Investigation of NIR emitters
- CW laser

MATERIALS FOR RADIATION CONVERSION

NOVEL MATERIALS FOR IONIZING RADIATION AND UV LIGHT DOSIMETRY

STATE OF THE ART

Thermo- and optically-stimulated luminescence (TL and OSL) have been known and practically used in dosimetry for a long time. TL materials have been used in personnel, environmental and clinical dosimetry for many years. Key issues to consider when selecting a radiation dosimeter are: What is the application? What are the anticipated radiation fields? What are the anticipated dose levels? The main groups for dosimetric materials studied are fluorides (LiF:Mg,Ti; LiF:Mg, Cu,P; CaF2:Mn; CaF2:Dy), sulphates (CaSO4:Mn; CaSO4:Dy: CaSO4:Tm), borates (Li2B4O7:Mn; Li₂B₄O₇:Cu), oxides (Al₂O₃:C; Al₂O₃:Mg,Y; BeO, MgO) and others. Among the prospective materials for the new clinical dosimetry and space exploration areas the nanopowdered materials and optical fibres with different dopants are being studied [12, 13]. At present, standard commercially available dosimeters are used for the needs of most radiation fields (among them the highest-sensitive are LiF:Mg,Cu,P (TL) and Al₂O₃:C (OSL)), but in some areas like 2D-dosis mapping for medical needs, temperature sensing, UV dosimetry [1,2] there is still a demand for new materials with tailored properties. Two-dimensional dose mapping in medical dosimetry at present is done with use of TL, though OSL could be a better choice. Some OSL systems described had demonstrated disadvantages, e.g., Al₂O₃:C has too long luminescence lifetime. In 2D and 3D dosimetry, the main challenge is development of dosimetric OSL materials with fast luminescence lifetimes (much less than 1 μ s), to allow the fast readout of films using laserscanning techniques such as those used in computed radiography. TL for temperature sensing needs material with multiple TL peaks that are light-insensitive. The only material with such properties known at present is LiF:Mg,Ti, however, its complex defect structure makes it dependent on the entire temperature history. UV radiation dosimetry is an actual issue: exposure to solar ultraviolet radiation is considered a risk to public health, however, there are still no adequately effective UV dosimeter materials. Usually Al₂O₃:C (TLD-500) is used for UV dose detection, and recently CaSO₄:Dy (TLD-900) was tested for this purpose and shows some prospective UV dosimeter features, however, it has high fading rate. Also the traditional areas of TL and OSL dosimetry would benefit from introduction of new materials with enhanced properties. One of the most important and still actual aspects of TL and OSL application is basic research of materials [4], which together with photoluminescence (PL), radioluminescence (RL) and photoluminescence excitation (PLE) studies allows effective revealing of luminescence mechanisms in many fundamental problems.

Different TLD materials in the form of glass, microcrystalline, nanocrystalline phosphors have been studied in search of new prospective TL/OSL materials. It was concluded that studies on TL dosimetry materials should be focused fundamentally on the development of more efficient phosphors, compared with existing materials. The search for new TL materials should aim for simplicity of glow curves, a high range of TL response linearity and very low fading. Furthermore, the TL mechanism is also very important and must be considered before developing new efficient materials for different applications.

OUR POSITION

Researchers of the dosimetry group (L. Trinkler, B. Berzina, A. Zolotarjovs) have a long-term experience in studies of dosimetric properties of various dielectric materials, revealed in a number of publications [4-6]. The main task of these investigations was elucidation of the luminescence mechanisms using TL/OSL methods and estimation of dosimetric properties suitable for practical application. The dosimetry group has a specific knowledge of in the field of luminescence processes and modern sophisticated equipment, such as Lexsyg Research TL/OSL reader (Freiberg Instruments) apart from other equipment for spectral measurements. At present the main direction of study is connected with luminescence and dosimetric properties of wide band dielectrics: Al₂O₃, AlN, LiGaO₂.

Al₂**O**₃ (alumina)-based dosimetry materials. The best known and widely used dosimeter material on alumina basis is carbon-doped aluminium oxide Al₂O₃:C (TLD-500) (E_g > 6 eV), used as highly sensitive TL, and OSL material for personal dosimetry [7]. However, as a personal dosimeter, Al₂O₃:C is useful only in the dose range 10 µGy–10 Gy and is not suitable at higher doses. Efforts were undertaken to find other alumina-based dosimeter materials using different dopants. It was found [8] that doping of nanopowdered Al₂O₃ with Cr ions makes it sensitive to higher γ-ray doses (100 Gy–20 kGy without saturation). It was shown by us [9], that only for α phase Al₂O₃ Cr³⁺ ions give the well-pronounced luminescence bands around 690 nm in TL emission spectra. Our data, e.g. ref. [5, 14] indicate that dosimetric properties of Al₂O₃ the form of ceramics from nanopowder produced by means of nanotechnology, can possess such advantages as high sensitivity to ionizing radiation, uniform distribution of luminescence centres, appropriateness to high radiation doses and low price compared to corresponding single crystals. In future we plan the investigation of the material using mainly the OSL method.

AlN (aluminum nitride) has been previously studied by us for TL and OSL applications (ref. [6] and references therein). It has a number of advantages compared to Al_2O_3 , a much higher sensitivity to ionizing radiation and in particular to UV radiation [6], a wider linear dynamic range, lesser dependence of TL response on the readout (heating) rate. However, on the negative side, it has much higher signal fading rate at room temperature. We have assigned the fading to tunnel recombination process between donor –acceptor pairs [10]. Our ideas to diminish the detrimental fading phenomenon include creating deep traps by additional doping of AlN with transition metals and rare earth ions. AlN ceramics samples, pure and doped with Y_2O_3 , Eu_2O_3 and GaN were studied for photoelectric effect, photoluminescence spectra and kinetics and thermoluminescence under irradiation with UV light from above- and below- bandgap spectral region [15]. The additional studies of materials are planned using mainly the OSL method.

Wide band gap dielectrics, on the example of LiGaO₂ **(LGO). LGO** is a wide band gap (E_g =5.6-6 eV) wurtzite-structure crystal, relatively recently proposed for TL/OSL dosimetry with Cu+ as dopant. Our study of nominally pure LiGaO₂ crystal [11] has shown that UV light irradiation of this material produces complicated recombination processes, which are followed by TL and OSL. The further investigations have shown that, although this material provides only a weak

response to ionising radiation and UV light and hardly can be applied as a dosimetric material, the TL/OSL methods used are very useful instruments for elucidation of the energy transfer and luminescence mechanisms, which allows revealing and characterization of pyroelectrical luminescence in LGO [16, 17].

Novel approaches under development include two and three-dimensional dosimetry for radiotherapy applications, dosimetry for new radiotherapy modalities, such as laser-induced particle beams, FLASH radiotherapy, and magnetic resonance-guided radiotherapy; accident dosimetry and neutron dosimetry using fluorescent nuclear track detectors. The need for new TL and OSL materials exists, it is limited to specific applications; any new material must satisfy the requirements for those applications. Research of new materials should substantially advance the understanding of a physical process and demonstrate that these materials have advantages compared to the existent materials or technologies. The models must be developed that provide a deeper understanding of the defects involved and the role played by them. Investigating and elucidating the roles and predominance of defect clustering and localized transitions in highsensitivity TL/OSL materials may also play a key role towards a more guided "defect engineering" of new material. The main challenge for luminescence dosimetry is in materials engineering. Of importance is a more efficient and systematic development of new TL/OSL materials, potentially offering properties currently not available in the existing ones. Some of these properties may not only satisfy the presently identified needs, but perhaps can open the possibility of new, not-yet-envisioned applications of TL/OSL materials [18,19]. A better understanding of the influence of synthesis parameters and methods on the final luminescence and dosimetric properties is required.

TL/OSL investigation of wide band-gap dielectrics, including oxides single crystals, polycrystals, powders and ceramics, optical glass fibres will give new insights in luminescence mechanisms and estimate applicability of new materials for dosimetry of ionising and UV radiation in the fields of medicine, radiation safety, environment, industry and space flights.

There are many commercial dosimeters available for use in radiation dosimetry, but these are applicable only within a specific range of radiation doses. Although researchers have suggested the use of high intense phosphor as SO₄:Dy, this phosphor is not accurate due to variation in the glow peaks at high doses. Moreover, another limitation was saturation of the TL signal in many materials at higher doses. Therefore, there is a need to explore more sensitive materials that show linear TL responses over a wide range, materials that are energy independent, thermally stable and have low fading. Research is progressing rapidly to develop new TL materials. One of such new materials is AlN, studied in our works.

There is continuous demand for efficient TL dosimeters for monitoring high-dose levels of swift heavy ion (SHI) radiation. This demand is growing daily, as these ions are used extensively in medical applications. The significance of SHI ion therapy over photon radiotherapy is that it delivers a better mean energy per unit length at a particular depth. SHI irradiation also modifies the luminescence properties of the material. Moreover, SHI-exposed phosphors can be used for high energy space dosimetry, ion beam dosimetry for personnel applications, radiotherapy, or diagnostic purposes, etc. Therefore, there is considerable scope for work on SHI dosimetry. [20]

Studies on nanomaterials have reported high sensitivity and saturation at very high doses. Therefore, they have potential application in dosimetry of ionizing radiations for measurements of high doses, at which conventional microcrystalline phosphors saturate. Therefore, future work may focus on developing nanomaterials based on their wide linear range. The use of personal neutron dosimetry currently grows rapidly. Recently, CaSO₄:Dy and MgB₄O₇:Ce, Li were synthesized to study neutron dosimetry. Moreover, materials containing Li, or Li and B

simultaneously, were found to be more sensitive to neutrons. If these materials were enriched in ⁶Li and B, isotopes became sensitive to thermal neutrons [20]. Therefore, future work may be focused on developing a thermoluminescent material sensitive to neutrons.

Another prospective area of luminescence dosimetry is OSL dosimetry for case of high energy physics (HEP). The specifications to be met by a radiation monitor in this environment should be 1) a total dose measurement range of 10 kGray and 2) with reset capabilities it should be able to measure short radiation bursts. The main advantages of the OSL materials are: 1) a dynamic range that covers seven orders of magnitude; 2) a very high sensitivity (100 μ Gy) that depends on both the amount of material in the sensor and the photosensor used to collect the luminescence; 3) a 50- μ m resolution when used as silk-screen printed films. [21]. Different examples of OSL dosimetry already used for HEP can be mentioned:

- The SrS:Ce,Sm phosphor suitable for operation in harsh radiation environments where real-time dosimetry measurements. The advantages of this system are the combination of OSL and optical fibers, immediate readout, simplicity of use, low cost, reliability, flexibility, and robustness. The applications targeted are the measurement of the dose delivered during a treatment in radiation therapy and the monitoring of the dose or dose-rate around or in nuclear reactor and accelerator facilities in high energy physics [22 2008].
- To characterize the hadron environment of Large Hadron Collider (LHC) the OSL material based on kapton foil was used and an OSL sensor produced. To enhance the sensitivity of the material to neutron irradiation it was mixed with polyethylene or doped with boron [23 theses]

Further experiments are still to be conducted in order to fully characterize the system and evaluate the feasibility of each application mentioned.

Furthermore, TL/OSL methods have a fundamental role in research on luminescent materials, including scintillators and persistent phosphors. TL is extremely sensitive to small concentrations of defects and can be used to detect defect energy levels or to investigate phenomena such as tunnelling between defects. This will help to engineer new luminescent materials for a variety of applications.

The planned experimental study is relatively well-supported by the existing infrastructure. In year 2020 due to the ISSP UL Infrastructure project, a new, state-of-the-art experimental dosimetric system was obtained, Lexsyg Research TL/OSL reader (Freiberg Instruments, Germany), which enables TL and OSL measurements after X-ray and beta-ray irradiation. Its capabilities are further enhanced by a self-made accessory, allowing an additional sample irradiation UV light. The TL, OSL and radioluminescence signals can be spectrally analysed using an additional spectrometer and CCD camera. Development of the OSL experimental setup is planned using LED sources of different wavelengths. Additionally, the dosimetric studies are complemented by photoluminescence emission and excitation spectra measurements. Therefore, there is a need to enhance the experimental basis for the PL/TL spectral measurements by acquisition of Andor Spectrograph Kymera with 4 gratings, with ICCD IStar 320 and accessories), and closed cycle cryostat (5.5- 800 K) for optical spectroscopy.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

- Development of Al2O3 and AlN-based dosimetric materials in the form of ceramics using mainly the OSL method.
- TL/OSL Investigation of wide band-gap dielectrics, including oxides single crystals, polycrystals, powders and ceramics, optical glass fibres for application in medicine,

radiation safety, environment, industry, space flights placing the main emphasis on material study for UV light dosimetry.

Future development of the TL/OSL measurement equipment is planned in the following directions: - upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader for irradiation with a UV light source (UV lasers, Deuterium lamp), using the optical lightguides; - upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader software; - development of the OSL experimental setup using LED sources of different wavelengths; -upgrade of the set-up for PL/TL spectral measurements with a new spectrograph and CCD camera; - upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader by installing a Peltier cooling element in the device, thus enabling TL/OSL measurements at temperatures below RT (beginning from -50 C).

NETWORKING

Historically the studies were implemented in cooperation with scientists from

- Riso National Laboratory, Denmark (Dr. P. Christensen and Dr. L.Botter-Jensen)
- Nice University, France (Dr. M. Benabdesselam).

At present the active scientific cooperation is developed with

- Sun Yat Sen University, Taiwan (Prof. Dr. Mitch Chou and Prof. Dr. Liuwen Chang)
- Center for physical Sciences and Technology, Vilnius, Lithuania Dr. R. Nedzinskas and Dr.S. Tumenas, Dr.Jurga Juodkazyte).
- Institute of Applied Research, Vilnius University, Lithuania (Dr. S. Miasojedovas, Dr. P. Scaev).
- Technological group of Riga Technical University (Dr. I. Steins)
- Company Freiberg Instruments, Freiberg, Germany (Dr. M. Richter).

REFERENCES

- 1. Yukihara E.G., Milliken E.D., Let al., J. Lum, 133 (2013) 2013-21
- 2. Olko P., Advantages and disadvantages of luminescence dosimetry, Radiat. Meas. 45 (2010) 506-511.
- 3. Bos A.J.J., Materials, 10 (2017) 1357.
- 4. Benabdesselam M., Iacconi P., **Trinkler L., and Berzina B.**, phys.stat.sol. (c) 2, No. 1, (2005) 539-542.
- 5. Grigorjeva L.,Zolotarjovs A., Sokovnin S.Y., Millers D., Ceramics International, 43(8) (2017) 6187-6191.
- 6. **Trinkler L. and Berzina B.,** Luminescence properties in AlN ceramics and its potential application for solid state dosimetry. (pp. 59-82) A chapter in book Advances in Ceramics Characterization, Raw Materials, Processing, Properties, Degradation and Healing. ISBN 978-953-307-504-4, 370 pages, Publisher: InTech, 2011.
- 7. Akselrod M. S., McKeever S.W.S., Radiat. Prot. Dosim. 81 (1999) 167-76.
- 8. Salah N., Khan Z.H., Habib S. S. Nucl. Instr. and Meth. B 269 (2011) 401-404.
- 9. Trinkler L., Berzina B., et al., Optical Materials, 32 (2010) 789-785.
- 10. Trinkler L., Berzina B., Radiation Measurements, 71 (2014) 232-236.
- 11. Trinkler L., Trukhin A., et al., Optical materials, 69 (2017) 449-459.
- 12. Novina Konopka M., Bilski P., Obryk B., et al, Nonlinear Optics and Quantum Optics, 48 (2017) 133-146.
- 13. Hassan M.F., Rahman W.N., Tominaga T., et al, Radiat. Phys. Chem. 165 (2019) 108390.
- 14. Einbergs E., Zolotarjovs A., Bite I., Cipa J., Vitola V., Laganovska K., Trinkler L., Latvian J. of Phys. and Techn. Sc., 1 (2021) 15-22.
- 15. Trinkler L., Trukhin A., Cipa J., Berzina B., Opt. Mater. 121 (2021) 111550.
- 16. Trinkler L., Trukhin A., Cipa J., Berzina B., Korsaks V., Mitch M.C. Chou, Chu-An Li, Opt. Mater. 94 (2019) 15–20.
- 17. L. Trinkler, V. Pankratov, A. Trukhin, B. Berzina, M.M.C. Chou, L. Chang, <u>Opt. Mater. 132</u> (2022) 112856.
- 18. Yukihara E.G., Bos A. J.J., Bilski P., McKeever S.W.S. Rad. Measur. 158 (2022) 106846.
- 19. Yukihara E.G., McKeever S.W. S., Andersen C.E., Bos A. J. J., Bailiff I.K., Yoshimura E.M., et al., Nature Reviews Methods Primers (2022) 2:26.
- 20. A.Duragkar, A.Muley, N.R.Pawar et al., <u>Luminescence</u> 34, (2019) 656 6651.
- 21. L. Dusseau, G. Polge, S. Mathias, et al., IEEE Transactions On Nuclear Science, 48, (2001) 2154-2160.
- 22. D. Benoit, F. Ravotti, P. Garcia et al., phys. stat. sol. (a) 205, (2008) 1196–1202.
- 23. F. Ravotti, Doctor Theses, Academie de Montpellier, Universite de Montpellier II, 2006

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Dosimetric properties of Al₂O₃ and AlN related materials will be studied focusing mainly on OSL method. Development of the OSL method using of the Freiberg Legxyg equipment.
- TL/OSL investigation of wide band-gap dielectrics is planned, including oxides single crystals, polycrystals, powders and ceramics and optical glass fibres placing the main emphasis on materials luminescence mechanisms and dosimetric properties for application in medicine, radiation safety, environment, industry and space flights.
- Upgrade of the experimental set-up is planned with Andor Spectrograph Kymera and Closed Cycle Cryostat (totally 5.5- 800 K).
- Upgrade of the Lexsyg research TL/OSL reader by installing a Peltier cooling element in the device, thus enabling TL/OSL measurements at temperatures below RT (beginning from -50 C).

SYNCHROTRON RADIATION SPECTROSCOPY OF SCINTILLATORS

STATE OF THE ART

Scintillation is luminescence induced by ionizing radiation in transparent dielectric media. Nowadays, scintillator detectors play an irreplaceable role in high-energy physics, spectrometry of low energy γ -quanta, applications in medical imaging, safety systems, space applications, well and mud logging [1].

The search and development of scintillators in the last decades has been mainly focused towards higher light yield and better proportionality in order to improve the energy resolution at high energy to detect narrow states like the Higgs boson over a large background and at low energy for precise spectroscopy in applications like homeland security. Recent years have seen the emergence of fast timing capability as a new requirement, mainly driven by high-energy physics to cope with higher event rates while minimizing pile-up and time-of-flight positron emission tomography medical applications to improve the image signal-to-noise ratio [2]. Timing resolution in the 10 ps range are required in both cases, which boosts the research into

scintillators with a high light yield, a short rise and decay time, as well as into ultrafast scintillation mechanisms to produce prompt photons [1-3].

However, scintillators as ionizing radiation detectors are naturally subject to radiation influence. Therefore, the stability of their parameters under ionizing radiation and in radiation environment is mandatory. Thus, the search for and development of fast and radiation-resistant scintillation materials is highly relevant and important for many modern applications.

OUR POSITION

The development of scintillating materials is well-supported by the research infrastructure of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy. The laboratory's infrastructure has all necessary experimental capabilities for the successful research in the field of scintillating materials involving materials synthesis, structure analysis and spectroscopic characterization including time-resolved technique (tuneable picosecond laser and pulsed X-ray and electron beam setups) with picosecond time resolution. Advanced experiments based on synchrotron methods have been carried out by group members on the European synchrotron centres MAX IV (Sweden) and DESY (Germany). The FinEstBeAMS beamline at MAX IV has an end station called FINESTLUMI, while SUPERLUMI end station is installed on the P66 beamline of PETRA III storage ring at DESY. Both facilities have been intentionally designed for time-resolved spectroscopic studies of scintillating and luminescent materials. It is worth noting that some of group members played a key role in the design, construction and installation of FinEstBeAMS beamline [4, 5] and FINESTLUMI endstation [6, 7]. They are capable to examine materials of interest under picosecond synchrotron pulses in vacuum ultraviolet and soft X-ray spectral range, which perfectly fits for the successful development of electronic structure of scintillating materials, as well as for understanding the mechanism of ultrafast scintillating processes therein. The members of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy have an extended and long-term experience in synchrotron-based experiments.

Laboratory of Spectroscopy possess a vast experience in the research and development of scintillating materials. Their past work has been crucial for the study of electronic structure and luminescence (scintillating) properties of number topical scintillating materials. Recently, novel significant results have been obtained for: hygroscopic scintillating crystals SrI₂ [8], BaI₂, BaBrI [9], YAG:Ce nanocrystals [10], cryogenic scintillating material CsPbBr [11], complex oxides SrBO₄ [12]. Most recently, our group demonstrated pioneering results revealing energy transfer processes in one of the topical Gd₃(Ga,Al)₅O₁₂:Ce (or GGAG:Ce) scintillating material [13-15]. Moreover, radiation defects and damages induced in GGAG:Ce by swift heavy ions have been studied for the first time [16].

Furthermore, using advantages of the photoluminescent endstation (FINESTLUMI) installed at MAX IV synchrotron facility we have recently carried out unique experiments in double activated fluoride single crystals. Excitation spectra in VUV spectral range of rare-earth ions in fluorides with meV spectral resolution have been successfully measured and deconvoluted [17-18].

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

• Studies of physical mechanisms of the conversion of high-energy excitation into luminescence (scintillation) signal in topical scintillator materials: GGAG:Ce, LYSO:Ce, CsPbX₃ (X = I, Br or Cl), AI_2 (A = Sr, Ba) etc. The strategy to improve (modify) existing compounds to increase time resolution suitable for new generation detectors for high-energy physics and medical applications will be proposed.

- Development of red and infrared scintillators based on rare-earth doped fluorides. The main attention will be focused on the fundamental properties of rare-earth ions in vacuum ultraviolet spectral range with meV spectral resolution and the relaxation processes resulting to the infrared luminescence.
- Studies of luminescence and scintillation characteristics topical scintillator materials in form of bulk and nanocrystalline compounds in order to obtain temporal characteristics of luminescence under various excitations. The influence of synthesis parameters, as grown defects as well as reduced dimensionality on the temporal characteristics will be established.
- Investigation of radiation defects and damages as well as of the mechanism of radiation defects formation in topical scintillators to elucidate the role of defects states in energy transfer and scintillation processes.
- Expand the studies of luminescence characteristics as well as radiation defects by means of synchrotron based methods to optical materials having practical interest in nuclear physics and fusion applications. These materials (MgAl₂O₄, Ga₂O₃, Gd₃Ga₅O₁₂, Al₂O₃, MgO, Si₃N₄, etc.) do not belong to the scintillators, however the approach utilized to the study of scintillators perfectly fits for such non-luminescent materials as well.
- Development of ultrafast scintillator materials based on cross-luminescence phenomenon. Both theoretical and experimental engineering of fluorides to obtain cross-luminescence materials with time resolution down to 10 ps.

NETWORKING

The group has long-standing active international collaborations with research groups in:

- Finland: Prof. M. Huttula and Prof. W. Cao (Oulu University), Prof. M. Lastusaari (Turku University)
- Germany: Dr. Aleksei Kotlov (Photon Science Division at DESY)
- Sweden: Dr. K. Chernenko and Dr. K. Klementiev (MAX IV Laboratory, Lund University)
- Estonia: Prof. A. Lushchik and Prof. M. Brik (Tartu University)
- Ukraine: Prof. A. Voloshinovskii and Dr. V. Vistovskii (Lviv University)
- Russia: Dr. R. Shendrik (Vinogradov Institute of Geochemistry, SB RAS, Irkutsk)
- Kazakhstan: Dr. Z.T. Karipbaev (Gumilyov Eurasian National University)
- Poland: Prof. A. Kaminska and Dr. Y. Zhydachevski (Warsaw University)

REFERENCES

- 1. P. Lecoq, A. Gektin, M. Korzhik, Particle Acceleration and Detection: Inorganic Scintillators for Detector Systems Physical Principles and Crystal Engineering, Springer (2017)
- 2. M. Korzhik, G. Tamulaitis, A.N. Vasil'ev, Particle Acceleration and Detection: Physics of Fast Processes in Scintillators, Springer (2020)
- 3. P. Lecoq, Development of new scintillators for medical applications. Nuclear Inst. Meth A 809 (2016)130-139
- 4. R. Pärna, R. Sankari, E. Kukk, E. Nommiste, M. Valden, M. Lastusaari, K. Kooser, M. Hirsimäki, S. Urpelainen, P. Turunen, A. Kivimäki, V. Pankratov, L. Reisberg, F. Hennies, H. Tarawneh, R Nyholm and M. Huttula, FinEstBeaMS a wide-range Finnish-Estonian Beamline for Materials Science at the 1.5 GeV storage ring at the MAX IV Laboratory, Nuclear Instuments and Methods in Physics Research A 859 (2017) 83-89
- K. Chernenko, A. Kivimäki, R. Pärna, W. Wang, R. Sankari, M. Leandersson, H. Tarawneh, V. Pankratov, M. Kook, E. Kukk, L. Reisberg, S. Urpelainen, T. Käämbre, F. Siewert, G. Gwalt, A. Sokolov, S. Lemke, S. Alimov, J. Knedel, O. Kutz, T. Seliger, M. Valden, M. Hirsimäki, M. Kirm and

M. Huttula, Performance and characterization of the FinEstBeAMS beamline at the MAX IV Laboratory, Journal of Synchrotron Radiation 28 (2021) 1620–1630

- 6. V. Pankratov, R. Pärna, M. Kirm, V. Nagirnyi, E. Nommiste, S. Omelkov, S. Vielhauer, K. Chernenko, L. Leisberg, P. Turunen, A. Kivimäki, E. Kukk, M. Valden, M. Huttula, Progress in development of a new luminescence setup at the FinEstBeAMS beamline of the MAX IV laboratory, Radiation Measurements 121 (2019) 91-98
- V. Pankratov and A. Kotlov, Luminescence spectroscopy under synchrotron radiation: from SUPERLUMI to FINESTLUMI, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 474 (2020) 35-40
- V. Pankratov, A.I. Popov, L. Shirmane, A. Kotlov, G.A. Bizarri, A. Burger, P. Bhattacharya, E. Tupitsyn, E. Rowe, V.M. Buliga, and R.T. Williams, Luminescence and Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy of SrI₂ and SrI₂: Eu²⁺, Radiation Measurements 56 (2013) 13-17
- 9. A. Shalaev, R. Shendrik, A. Rusakov, A. Bogdanov, V. Pankratov, K. Chernenko, A. Myasnikova, Luminescence of divalent lanthanide doped BaBrI single crystal under synchrotron radiation excitations, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B 467 (2020) 17-20
- 10. L. Shirmane, V. Pankratov, Emerging Blue-UV Luminescence in Cerium Doped YAG Nanocrystals, Physica Status Solidi Rapid: Research Letters 10 (6) (2016) 475-479
- M. Dendebera, Y. Chornodolskyy, R. Gamernyk, O. Antonyak, I. Pashuk, S. Myagkota, I. Gnilitskyi, V. Pankratov, V. Mikhailik, M. Grinberg, A. Voloshinovskii, Time-resolved luminescence spectroscopy of CsPbBr₃ single crystal, Journal of Luminescence 225 (2020) 117346
- 12.A. Tuomela, M. Zhang, M. Huttula, S. Sakirzanovas, A. Kareiva, A.I. Popov, A.P. Kozlova; A.S. Aravindh, W. Cao, **V. Pankratov**, Luminescence and Vacuum Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy of Samarium Doped SrB₄O₇, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 826 (2020) 154205
- A.P. Kozlova, V.M. Kasimova, O.A. Buzanov, K. Chernenko, K. Klementiev and V. Pankratov, Vacuum Ultraviolet Excitation Spectroscopy under Synchrotron Radiation Excitations of Cerium Doped Gd₃Ga₃Al₂O₁₂ Single Crystalline Scintillators, Results in Physics 16 (2020) 103002
- 14. V. Pankratova, A.P. Kozlova, O.A. Buzanov, K. Chernenko, R. Shendrik, A. Sarakovskis, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov, Time-resolved luminescence and excitation spectroscopy of co-doped Gd₃Ga₃Al₂O₁₂ Scintillating Crystals, Scientific Reports 10 (2020) 20388
- 15. V. Khanin, I. Venevtsev, K. Chernenko, V. Pankratov, K. Klementiev, T. van Swieten, A.J. van Bunningen, I. Vrubel, R. Shendrik, C. Ronda, P. Rodnyi and A. Meijerink, Exciton interaction with Ce³⁺ and Ce⁴⁺ ions in (LuGd)₃(Ga,Al)₅O₁₂ ceramics, Journal of Luminescence 237 (2021) 118150
- 16. V. Pankratova, V.A. Skuratov, O.A. Buzanov, A.A. Mololkin, A.P. Kozlova, A. Kotlov, A.I. Popov, V. Pankratov, Radiation effects in Gd₃(Al,Ga)₅:O₁₂:Ce³⁺ single crystals induced by swift heavy ions, Optical Materials X 16 (2022) 100217
- 17. R. Shendrik, E.A. Radzhabov, **V. Pankratov**, Emission of Tm²⁺ in alkaline-earth fluoride crystals, Journal of Luminescence, 252 (2022) 119271
- E.A. Radzhabov, R. Shendrik, V. Pankratov, K. Chernenko, Fine structure of 4f-5d absorption spectra of MeF₂-Yb³⁺ in the vacuum ultraviolet region under synchrotron excitation, Optical Materials 135 (2023) 113235 IF=3.754

Summary of planning updates

- The study of luminescence properties of rare-earth doped fluorides in vacuum ultraviolet spectral range with meV spectral resolution.
- Extension of the research utilizing advanced synchrotron methods to optical materials.
- The study of ultrafast cross-luminescence in novel fluoride materials by means timeresolved luminescence spectroscopy using pulsed synchrotron radiation excitations.

PERSISTENT LUMINESCENCE MECHANISMS AND APPLICATIONS IN WIDE BANDGAP MATERIALS

STATE OF THE ART

Persistent luminescence (PersL) – light emission lasting from seconds to many hours after ceasing of excitation source, is observable in inorganic solid-state wide bandgap materials. Use of the PersL materials covers different areas such as applications in displays, luminous paints, safety signs, glow-in-the-dark decorations etc. Presently the interest about the PersL materials is much increased due to its application in biomedicine for testing of the biological processes in tissues and organs of living organisms.

At present, the materials, emitting the PersL light with colours from blue to yellow spectral regions are the best investigated, whereas there is considerably less information on the red and infra-red light emitters, which are essential for biomedical applications. Development of new prospective PersL materials is actual and there are numerous studies in this field (see papers [1-4] and references therein). Among the main problems are elaboration of new materials and understanding the PersL mechanisms, which would help to increase the PersL intensity and to obtain the desired emission wavelength range.

OUR POSITION

Researchers of the Laboratory of Spectroscopy in ISSP UL have detailed knowledge, long experience and appropriate equipment for spectral characterization of various luminescent materials (e.g., refs. [5-15]). The group is well-qualified in optical and magnetic spectroscopies as well as in material synthesis.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The proposed research includes synthesis and studies of luminescence properties and mechanisms in several prospective groups of materials: (I) Transition metal ion- and rare earth ion-doped PersL oxides, alkaline earth silicates, germanates and stannates; (II) third element group nitrides doped with the same type ions; (III) materials, emitting red – infra red light, selected during experiments. The second group of materials includes AlN doped with ions of transition metals and rare-earth elements such as Mn^{2+} and Eu^{2+} . The nano-sized structures of these materials are prospective for biomedical applications.

The following activities are foreseen:

- Processing of the materials. It includes elaborating the synthesis methods of the first group materials and their synthesis. For this purpose, the common high temperature methods are actual.
- Elaboration of low temperature synthesis methods for processing of the materials from the II and III groups.
- Manufacturing of nano-size particles from the synthesized materials above.
- Analysis of the structure, morphology and defect content of the synthesized materials.
- Investigation of spectral and time-dependent luminescence characteristics of PersL oxides, nitrides and other materials.
- Investigation of the luminescence afterglow of photo- and X-ray excited materials, which directly characterizes the PersL properties.
- Special emphasis will be paid to the structural studies of the luminescence and carrier trapping centres using electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) methods. A methodology for correlated EPR and luminescence (decay kinetics, thermally stimulated luminescence) measurements has been implemented and will be further developed.
- Investigation of the thermoluminescence properties, which directly characterize the PersL properties.
- Analysis of results ensuring close feedback between the material optical properties and its processing.

Two new projects related to the planned activities have been submitted: (1) Latvian – Ukrainian Joint Programme of Scientific and Technological cooperation Project Proposal. "Novel prospective long-lasting luminescent materials for biological applications". (Dr. B.Berzina) Partner: Institute of Physics of National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine. (Dr. Galyna Dovbeshko); (2) Latvian Council of Sciences project: "Novel persistent luminescent solid-state nanomaterials for biological application" Nr. lzp 2023/1-0488. (Dr. B. Berzina). The project was evaluated above the threshold, however, was not approved due to lack of funding.

NETWORKING

The group has active domestic and international collaborations with research and commerce groups in:

- Estonia. Dr. Arvi Freiberg. University of Tartu, Estonia. Material spectral characterization.
- France. Dr. Cr. Ramseyer. Universite de Bourgogne-Franche-Comte, Besancon, France. Luminescent nanomaterials applicable in biomedicine.
- Ukraine. Dr. Galina Dovbeshko. National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Institute of Physics, Department of Physics and Biological Systems. Luminescent nanomaterials applicable in biomedicine.
- Latvia. Dr. Anna Zajakina. Biomedical Center at University of Latvia (BMC UL). Application of luminescent nanomaterials for testing of biomaterials.

REFERENCES.

- 1. A. Jain, A. Kumar, S.J. Dhobe, D.R. Peshwe. Persistent luminescence: an insight. Renewal and Sustainable Energy Reviews 65 (2016) 135.
- J. Xu, N.J. Cherepy, J. Ueda, S. Tanabe. Red persistent luminescence in rare earth free AlN:Mn. Material Letters 206 (2017) 175.
- 3. Huaxin Tan, Taoyu Wang, Yaru Shao, Cuiyun Yu, Lidan Hu. Crucial breakthrough of functional persistent luminescence materials for biomedical and information technological applications. Front. Chem. 7 (2019) article 387; doi: 10.3389/fchem.2019.00387.
- 4. I. Rezic. Nanoparticles for biomedical application and their synthesis. Review. Polymers 14 (2022) 4961. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14224961.
- B. Berzina, L. Trinkler, V. Korsaks, R. Ruska, G. Krieke, A. Sarakovskis. F center luminescence and oxygen gas sensing properties of AlN nanoparticles. Sensors & Transducers 238 (2019) 87-93.
- B. Berzina, L. Trinkler, V. Korsaks, R. Ruska. Nitrogen vacancy type defect luminescence of AlN nanopowder. Optical Materials 108 (2020) Article number 110069 DOI: 10.1016/j.optmat.2020.110069.
- B. Berzina, L. Trinkler, V.Korsaks, R. Ruska. Luminescent AlN:Mn nanoparticles for optical imaging of biological materials. Ukrain Journal Biophysical Bulletin 43 (2020) 22-29; ISSN <u>2075-3829</u> (Online); https://doi.org/10.26565/2075-3810-2020-43-03
- A. Antuzevics, A. Fedotovs, D. Berzins, U. Rogulis, K. Auzins, A. Zolotarjovs, S.L. Baldochi, Recombination luminescence of X-ray induced paramagnetic defects in BaY₂F₈. Journal of Luminescence, 223 (2020) 117216. DOI: 10.1016/j.jlumin.2020.117216.
- 9. A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, E. Pavlovska, U. Rogulis. Eu³⁺ ion distribution in oxyfluoride glass nanocomposites. Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids, 522, (2019) art. no. 119548; DOI: 10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2019.119548.
- 10. **G. Doke, A. Antuzevics, G. Krieke, A. Kalnina, M. Springis, A. Sarakovskis**, UV and X-ray excited red persistent luminescence in Mn²⁺ doped MgGeO₃ material synthesized in air and reducing atmosphere, J. Lumin. 234 (2021) 117995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2021.117995.
- 11. **G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, K. Smits, D. Millers**, Enhancement of persistent luminescence in Ca₂SnO₄: Sm³⁺, Opt. Mater. (Amst). 113 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2021.110842.
- 12. **G. Krieke, A. Antuzevics, B. Berzina**, Defect formation in photochromic Ca₂SnO₄: Al³⁺, Mater. Today Commun. 28 (2021) 102592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtcomm.2021.102592</u>.
- 13. **Guna Doke, Guna Krieke, Andris Antuzevics, Anatolijs Sarakovskis, Baiba Berzina.** Optical properties of red-emitting long afterglow phosphor Mg₂Six-1Ge_xO₄:Mn²⁺/Mn⁴⁺. Optical Materials 137 (2023) 113500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2023.113500.</u>
- 14. Andris Antuzevics, Guna Krieke, Guna Doke, Baiba Berzina. The origin of bright cyan persistent luminescence in Ca2SnO4:La3+. Materialia 21 (2022) 101374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matla.2022.101374.
- 15. **B. Berzina, R. Ruska, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis**, J. Grabis, I. Steins, Luminescence of AlN:Eu ceramics: Properties and mechanisms, Optical Materials 127(2022) 112217, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optmat.2022.112217.
- R. Ruska, B. Berzina, J. Cipa, L. Trinkler, A. Sarakovskis, J. Grabis, I. Steins. Luminescence of AlN:Mn²⁺ materials: Properties and mechanisms. Results in Optics 10 (2023) 100365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rio.2023.101365.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

• A methodology for correlated EPR and luminescence (decay kinetics, thermally stimulated luminescence) measurements will be further developed.

• In-depth study of the thermoluminescence characteristics together with the luminescence spectra, which allow detailed characterization of the PersL (persistent luminescence) properties are planned.

MATERIALS FOR ENERGY HARVESTING AND STORAGE

MATERIALS FOR BATTERIES

STATE OF THE ART

European Long-Term Climate Strategy aims for European Union (EU) to be climate-neutral by 2050. Batteries play an important role in providing decarbonization of EU economy and enabling sustainable electrification, both for the transport sectors and grid-scale energy storage [1–3].

Current state-of-the-art batteries are largely based on lithium-ion chemistry. However, the demand for higher energy density and improved electrochemical performance in general require short- to medium-term improvements. In parallel, sustainability-related issues (i.e. material availability and toxicity) drive the development of post-Li-ion batteries [4].

Development of lithium-ion batteries (LIB) has come a long way since their first commercial implementation in 1991. Since then, with the gravimetric energy density of LIBs more than doubling [5], the research and development of LIBs is ongoing. We are currently in generation 3b of LIBs [6], with Nickel-Cobalt-Manganese oxide (NCM) (LiNi_{1/3}Co_{1/3}Mn_{1/3}O₂, proportion of nickel is increased from NCM 111 to NCM 811 and is already advancing beyond) cathode in most advanced batteries along with Si-supplemented graphite anode and liquid electrolyte. Subsequent developments are widely believed to be related to high energy NCM or high voltage spinel (HVS), all-solid-state batteries, and Li/S or Li/O₂ technologies further out in the future [6] while a parallel track of LiFePO₄ and alternatives to Li-ion have emerged, dictated by sustainability and material availability related questions.

Other emerging battery types are Na-ion, Mg-ion, Ca-ion, Al-ion, metal-sulphur, anion shuttle, metal-air, semi-solid flow and redox-flow batteries. Out of these, sodium-ion battery (SIB) technology is the most mature and has a high potential for further growth, especially for application in grid-level energy storage [7] and budget EVs. With sodium being the 6th most abundant element in Earth's crust, the raw materials are more readily available and costs – significantly lower. While the high-rate capability, stability and recyclability of SIBs are considered very attractive [8], cycle life and energy density still need to be improved [9]. This can be done by both optimizing the existing materials and developing new ones – the latter strategy along with developing fundamental understanding of the solid-state electrochemistry of Na intercalation is often considered to be the more efficient approach [10].

For SIBs specifically, traditional liquid electrolytes produce solid electrolyte interphases (SEIs) that are often not sufficiently stable and are likely to cause severe polarization [11]. This prompts for developments in electrolyte or artificial engineering of SEI via coatings. Another interesting approach is ionic liquid (IL) -based electrolytes for SIBs. In this case, a new class of materials is created when ionic liquid (IL) molecules are integrated into polymer chains. These are called polymeric ionic liquids (PILs) and provide an added benefit of mechanical and design flexibility and of the possibility to be fabricated into desired thickness and shapes, albeit at a cost of decreased ionic conductivity [12]. A mixture of PIL and sodium salts can be classified as solid polymer electrolyte (SPE) [12].

Currently most of the applied research is focused on developing new materials and improving specific power and energy densities of existing materials [13,14] as well as evaluating cycle life (service life) of battery electrodes, cells and modules [15–18]. Developing of solid state and polymer electrolytes is also a recent topic of interest. On fundamental level, characterizing mass transport and related electrochemical reactions on a nanoscale is recently receiving increased attention from scientific community [19,20], and further improvements in materials is expected at least in part to stem form a deeper understanding of these issues.

OUR POSITION

Development of electrodes and electrolytes for Li-ion and Na-ion batteries

- Electrode material development focused on reduced graphene oxide, other carbon nanostructures and transition metal oxides [14,21–23] for LIBs; polyanionic compounds (Na₂MP₂O₇ and Na transition metal oxides NaMO₂ (M – Fe, Mn)) as cathodes for SIBs, their stability in aqueous electrolytes
- Cross-functional LIB and SIB electrode improvements: electrolyte additives (FEC), electrode binders (focus on sustainable aqueous electrode processing), electron-conductive additives, inert protective coatings for active electrode materials
- Electrolyte research focused on advanced polymer ionic liquid composite sodium-ion electrolytes [24, 25]

Cycling stability of Li-ion battery materials and cells

- Ageing of LIB cells as a function of temperature, C-rate and other parameters
- Structural and compositional changes of electrodes as a function of cycling
- SEI as a function of cycling and cell composition
- Electrochemical and structural analysis techniques for fast cycle life estimation

This is highly relevant problem for industry and also good grounds for subsequent more fundamentally directed research.

Mass transport within electrodes and across interfaces (longer-term perspective)

Fundamentally oriented research:

- Lithium and sodium transport within electrodes (ionic and electronic conductivity, transport mechanisms);
- SEI stability and ionic transport across SEI;

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

We aim at good knowledge in battery electrode development, processing and testing, strengthened through contacts with local and European battery industry. Our competitive edge will be the availability of advanced material characterization techniques, including *in-situ* and *in-*

operando methods currently in development. For this, further investments in human and material resources are planned:

- Materials for Li and Na-ion materials:
- SIB cathodes: finalizing studies on NaMP₂O₇, layered oxides, layered oxides for Na-ion batteries; initiating new studies on next-generation layered SIB cathodes, protective coatings for SIB cathodes (three project proposal submitted)
- LIB electrodes: leveraging existing developments of carbon-based and nanostructured materials in ISSP, screening and optimizing these for use in LIBs; sustainable and industrially feasible electrode preparation for LIBs; inert protective coatings for LIBs; development of anodes optimized for low-temperature performance, continued studies of 2-dimensional carbon structures; overlap and collaboration with developing materials and electrodes for supercapacitors is planned
- Electrolytes: development of solid-state electrolytes using thin film technology (one project proposal submitted), ionic liquids, polymer-ionic liquid composites (one project proposal submitted); nanostructured and high-surface area additives (e.g. carbon-based additives graphene, few-layer graphite, etc.), novel primarily water-based binders (one HE project proposal has been funded recently), conductive additives, protective electrode coatings (two proposal submitted), leveraging the strength of ISSP in thin film deposition techniques.
- *Battery cell cycle life*. Continued development of measurement techniques: electrochemical measurements as a function of structure/composition and their changes, ventures into big-data and machine-learning techniques for data processing and statistical analysis.
- *Interfaces and mass transport.* Solid-electrolyte interphases and interphases within electrodes as a function of composition, structure, and cycling history. Mass transport within ionic and mixed ionic/electronic conductors and across interfaces.
- Development of in-situ and in-operando characterization capability of battery materials for assessing ageing mechanisms in LIBs and SIBs by leveraging strengths of ISSP in optical microscopy, Raman spectroscopy, XRD, synchrotron X-ray, gas mass chromatography, mass-spectrometry
- *Services to industry*. Electrochemical characterization, prototype assembly (coin-cells, eventually pouch-cells C < 0.1 Ah), cycle life analysis, consulting.

Material development is a general research topic that enables us to: a) build internal collaborations with fellow research groups strong in materials synthesis and; b) produce publishable results relatively quickly and address more fundamental research questions, subsequently generating more impactful fundamental results via in-depth studies of the materials developed.

To increase our scientific impact, we plan to devote part of the work to interfaces and mass transport in battery materials. This is a purely fundamental research direction that allows building deeper insights into how battery materials function.

Recently, techniques based on processing large amounts of data (machine-learning, AI, big data, etc.) have been demonstrated to be of good use in predicting cycle life and future performance of battery cells. We are venturing in this territory with a national 3-year project that started in 2021 and already has 2 publications with collaboration partner Centre for Solar Energy and Hydrogen Research Baden-Wurttemberg (ZSW).

Personnel development. Continued development of personnel is needed, increasing the proportion of PhD students and young researchers relative to undergraduate students. Gradual involvement in preparation of project proposals is encouraged starting PhD level to ensure

continued funding of the personnel. Preparation of high-quality (Q1) research articles is prioritized.

Existing facilities. ISSP's facilities currently include basic laboratory equipment, equipment for electrode coating (mixer mill automatic coater, vacuum oven, high-precision balance), battery cell assembly (Ar-filled glovebox) as well as 75 channels for cell characterization. There are also good synthesis capabilities (syntheses in air and inert atmosphere are possible), equipment for basic structural and compositional analysis (XRD, SEM-FIB, TEM-EDX, XPS) is available.

Facilities – outlook. Expansion in electrochemical testing channels is needed along with climate chambers ensuring constant conditions during the measurements of electrochemical cells. Small equipment for mixing electrode slurries, calendaring and drying electrodes is needed and will be ordered within next year, provided at least one battery-related project application submitted in 2022 is funded. Longer-term plans and needs include equipment for pouch cell assembly (~80k Eur). Continued renovation of laboratory and office space is also needed to ensure both safety of the personnel and comfortable and motivating working conditions.

NETWORKING

- ZSW: Zentrum für Sonnenenergie- und Wasserstoff-Forschung Baden-Württemberg, Margret Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, focuses on applied research of battery materials and cells;
- Max Planck Institute for Solid State Research (Germany), prof. J. Maier: specialized in solid state ionics, defect chemistry and related fundamental research fields;
- Institute for Energy Research / University of Oslo (Norway), A. Koposov: development of battery materials, cells and battery modules, largest battery testing facilities in Norway;
- Norwegian University of Science and Technology (Norway), Prof. A. Svensson: development of Li-ion battery electrode materials and electrolytes;
- Vilnius University, Faculty of physics (Lithuania), Tomas Salkus' and Linas Vilciauskas' research groups: specialization in Broadband High Temperature Impedance Spectroscopy of ionic and mixed ionic-electronic conductors;
- Kaunas University of Technology, Faculty of Chemical Technology Agne Sulciute, Metal oxide composites and nanomaterials for energy storage
- University of Tartu Alar Janes, materials for Na-ion batteries and supercapacitors;
- State Research Iinstitute Center for Physical Sciences and Technology (Vilnius) –Gintaras Valušis, Rasa Pauliukaitė on sensors and fuel cells, graphene based electrodes;
- University of Iceland Jón Atli Benediktsson, Egill Skúlason on catalysts.

Local academia:

- Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry, G.Dobele, A.Volperts: wood-based materials (combusted carbon structures) as materials for Li-ion batteries and supercapacitors.
- Institute of Chemical Physics, University of Latvia, D. Erts, R. Meija: carbon-based nanostructures for application in batteries and other energy harvesting devices.
- Institute of Solid State Physics, University of Latvia, Theory group (see Section "Theoretical material science and modelling" in this document).
- University of Latvia Faculty of Physics and Mathematics Dr.phys. Guntars Kitenbergs on magnetic and other nanoparticles.
- University of Latvia Faculty of Chemistry Prof. Andris Zicmanis on ionic liquid synthesis, tritium diffusion in a graphene membranes and separation from protons using fuel cell technology.

REFERENCES

- M. Sufyan, N.A. Rahim, M.M. Aman, C.K. Tan, S.R.S. Raihan, Sizing and applications of battery energy storage technologies in smart grid system: A review, J. Renew. Sustain. Energy. 11 (2019) 014105. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5063866.
- European Commission, The European Green Deal: Communication from the Commission to The European Parliament, The European Council, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and The Committee of The Regions, 2019. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld (accessed February 17, 2020).
- 3. W.H. Green, Insights Into Future Mobility A report from the Mobility of the Future study, 2019. http://energy.mit.edu/insightsintofuturemobility (accessed September 13, 2020).
- 4. Implementation of the Strategic Action Plan on Batteries: Building a Strategic Battery Value Chain in Europe, EC.EUROPA.EU. (2019). https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/report-building-strategic-battery-value-chain-april2019_en.pdf.
- 5. G. Crabtree, E. Kócs, L. Trahey, The energy-storage frontier: Lithium-ion batteries and beyond, MRS Bull. 40 (2015) 1067–1078. https://doi.org/10.1557/mrs.2015.259.
- 6. T. Weber, M. Brudermüller, R. Bulander, Roadmap integrierte Zell-und Batterieproduktion Deutschland AG 2-Batterietechnologie AG 2-Batterietechnologie, 2016.
- A. Ponrouch, M.R. Palacín, Post-Li batteries: promises and challenges, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 377 (2019) 20180297. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2018.0297.
- T. Liu, Y. Zhang, Z. Jiang, X. Zeng, J. Ji, Z. Li, X. Gao, M. Sun, Z. Lin, M. Ling, J. Zheng, C. Liang, Exploring competitive features of stationary sodium ion batteries for electrochemical energy storage, Energy Environ. Sci. 12 (2019) 1512–1533. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EE03727B.
- 9. M. Li, Z. Du, M.A. Khaleel, I. Belharouak, Materials and engineering endeavors towards practical sodium-ion batteries, Energy Storage Mater. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ensm.2019.09.030.
- 10. A. Eftekhari, D.-W. Kim, Sodium-ion batteries: New opportunities beyond energy storage by
lithium, J. Power Sources. 395 (2018) 336–348.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2018.05.089.
- 11. J. Zhang, D.-W. Wang, W. Lv, S. Zhang, Q. Liang, D. Zheng, F. Kang, Q.-H. Yang, Achieving superb sodium storage performance on carbon anodes through an ether-derived solid electrolyte interphase, Energy Environ. Sci. 10 (2017) 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6EE03367A.
- 12. A. Arya, A.L. Sharma, Polymer electrolytes for lithium ion batteries: a critical study, Ionics (Kiel). 23 (2017) 497–540. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11581-016-1908-6
- 13. M.S. Whittingham, Lithium Batteries and Cathode Materials, Chem. Rev. 104 (2004) 4271–4302. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr020731c.
- 14. **G. Kucinskis, G. Bajars, J. Kleperis,** Graphene in lithium ion battery cathode materials: A review, J. Power Sources. 240 (2013) 66–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2013.03.160.
- K.A. Severson, P.M. Attia, N. Jin, N. Perkins, B. Jiang, Z. Yang, M.H. Chen, M. Aykol, P.K. Herring, D. Fraggedakis, M.Z. Bazant, S.J. Harris, W.C. Chueh, R.D. Braatz, Data-driven prediction of battery cycle life before capacity degradation, Nat. Energy. 4 (2019) 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-019-0356-8.
- 16. A. Saxena, J.R. Celaya, I. Roychoudhury, S. Saha, B. Saha, K. Goebel, Designing Data-Driven Battery Prognostic Approaches for Variable Loading Profiles: Some Lessons Learned, in: Eur. Conf. Progn. Heal. Manag. Soc., 2012.
- 17. A. Moretti, D.V. Carvalho, N. Ehteshami, E. Paillard, W. Porcher, D. Brun-Buisson, J.-B. Ducros, I. de Meatza, A. Eguia-Barrio, K. Trad, S. Passerini, A Post-Mortem Study of Stacked 16 Ah Graphite//LiFePO₄ Pouch Cells Cycled at 5 °C, Batteries. 5 (2019) 45. https://doi.org/10.3390/batteries5020045.
- J. Vetter, P. Novák, M.R. Wagner, C. Veit, K.C. Möller, J.O. Besenhard, M. Winter, M. Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, C. Vogler, A. Hammouche, Ageing mechanisms in lithium-ion batteries, J. Power Sources. 147 (2005) 269–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2005.01.006.
- N. Ohmer, B. Fenk, D. Samuelis, C.-C. Chen, J. Maier, M. Weigand, E. Goering, G. Schütz, Phase evolution in single-crystalline LiFePO₄ followed by in situ scanning X-ray microscopy of a micrometre-sized battery, Nat. Commun. 6 (2015) 6045. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7045.

- 20. J. Lim, Y. Li, D.H. Alsem, H. So, S.C. Lee, P. Bai, D.A. Cogswell, X. Liu, N. Jin, Y. -s. Yu, N.J. Salmon, D.A. Shapiro, M.Z. Bazant, T. Tyliszczak, W.C. Chueh, Origin and hysteresis of lithium compositional spatiodynamics within battery primary particles, Science (80-.). 353 (2016) 566–571. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf4914.
- G. Kucinskis, G. Bajars, K. Bikova, K. Kaprans, J. Kleperis, Microstructural Influence on Electrochemical Properties of LiFePO4/C/Reduced Graphene Oxide Composite Cathode, Russ. J. Electrochem. 55 (2019) 517–523. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1023193519060120.
- G. Bajars, G. Kucinskis, J. Smits, J. Kleperis, Physical and electrochemical properties of LiFePO₄/C thin films deposited by direct current and radiofrequency magnetron sputtering, Solid State Ionics. 188 (2011) 156–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssi.2010.10.022.
- 23. K. Kaprans, J. Mateuss, A. Dorondo, G. Bajars, G. Kucinskis, P. Lesnicenoks, J. Kleperis, Electrophoretically deposited α -Fe₂O₃ and TiO₂ composite anchored on rGO with excellent cycle performance as anode for lithium ion batteries, Solid State Ionics. 319 (2018) 1–6.
- 24. **G. Vaivars**, K. Krūkle-Bērziņa, M. Markus, Modelling IR Spectra of Sulfonated Polyether Ether Ketone (SPEEK) Membranes for Fuel Cells, Key Eng. Mater. 850 (2020) 138–143. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.850.138.
- 25. E. Sprugis, G. Vaivars, R. Merijs Meri, A Study of Mechanical Properties of Polymer Composite Membranes with Various Ionic Liquids at Elevated Temperatures, Mater. Sci. 25 (2019). https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ms.25.1.18933.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Minor updates to state-of-art specifying advances in NCM Li-ion cathode and parallel sustainability-based development track (LFP Li-ion cathode and Na-ion batteries).
- Clarification of our current position based on the funded projects.
- In future activities applied research and industry-related activities have been prioritized. This is a consequence of the successful networking with battery industry and applied research institutions, as well as the funded project portfolio – applied projects on low temperature Li-ion batteries, inert coatings for Li-ion battery electrodes and materials for supercapacitors have been funded by European Space Agency, M-Era.net and Horizon Europe at ISSP in 2023.

HYDROGEN ENERGY

STATE OF THE ART

European Long-Term Climate Strategy aims for European Union (EU) to be climate-neutral by 2050. It identifies renewable energy harvesting and storage as its cornerstones. Along with a rapid growth of EU's electric vehicle fleet, hydrogen is also an essential element in the energy transition and can account for 24% of final energy demand and 5.4m jobs by 2050 [1a]. That includes small- and large scale pilot project in various regions, which opens an opportunity for Latvia and ISSP UL to be a focal point of hydrogen technology research in various areas.

Research and industrial innovation in hydrogen applications is an EU priority and receives substantial EU funding through the research framework programmes. Hydrogen projects are managed by the Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking (FCH JU), a public-private partnership supported by the European Commission. Almost all EU Member States recognise the important role of hydrogen in their national energy and climate plans for the 2021-2030 period. About half have explicit hydrogen-related objectives, focussed primarily on transport and industry [1b].

The main industrial hydrogen production processes are electrolysis and thermolysis, the technology to obtain bio-hydrogen from biomass by fermentation is under development. Global capacity of electrolysers, which are needed to produce hydrogen from electricity, doubled over the last five years to reach just over 300 MW by mid-2021. Around 350 projects currently under development could bring global capacity up to 54 GW by 2030 [2a]. In addition, it is projected that by the same year methane conversion to hydrogen (with carbon captures) could reach 14 million tonnes. In addition, Latvia has multiple companies that work in the industry, which sets us at a good position for catalyst development and possibly device development.

Studies of hydrogen application in transport sector and decarbonisation of gas networks with hydrogen-enriched biomethane in Latvia are performed [2b, 2c]. Municipal and national enterprises (Rīgas Siltums, Latvenergo, Conexus) announced their interest to involve hydrogen as energy carrier to support decarbonisation plans in national economics. Companies, such as Latvenergo, have started training its engineers for hydrogen technologies and is exploring ideas for possible projects. Other local companies have shown interest in Hydrogen on a smaller or larger scale, a new entity Hydrogen Alliance has been established with many new industry participants.

Electrochemical hydrogen-water conversion is an ideal energy system that can produce fuels via sustainable, fossil-free pathways. However, the energy conversion efficiency of two functioning technologies in this energy system—namely, water electrolysis and the fuel cell—still has great scope for improvement. For hydrogen production efficiency increase and further development of technologies, new materials are needed, e.g., effective, stable and cheap catalysts to replace precious metals like platinum in water electrolysis, in microbial and proton exchange membrane fuel cells, and in storage (hydrogen bonding in solids or on the surface) [2d]. Potential substitute for Pt and noble metals in electrocatalytic electrodes could be substituted by N-doped nanostructured carbon (N functionalized graphene (N-G), activated carbon, and others) or other scalable catalysts, such as copper, iron-nickel composites and others [3].

Energy harvesting with the lowest environmental impact is another key element for cleaner future. Out of a wide variety of methods to combat pollution, the catalytic reduction of pollutants is considered as prominent one. Collection from exhausts and electrocatalytic CO₂ reduction into hydrocarbons such as methane or ethylene, as well as photocatalytic CO₂ reformation, can lower carbon footprint in addition to other types of pollutants; both technologies are considered as prominent methods. Thus, extensive research of CO₂ reformation is being done to find the right materials that hold crucial properties and qualities [4]. Recent research in CO₂ reformation has shown that high faradic efficiency (FE) can be achieved by doping Cu with I, Br, Cl with FE maximum of 72.6%, pointing to the necessity of further modification of electrode material [5]. Investigation of various dopants and cell designs for CO₂ reduction is being researched. Not only the FE has to be improved, but also the stability of electrode, and addition of N-G could improve lifetime and efficiency in combination of base electrode doping.

Photocatalytic hydrogen production, as well as pollution treatments such as wastewater treatment, antibacterial surfaces and gas treatments, can be viable solutions for remote locations

or for passive catalytic component in the cycle. In case of hydrogen production in light-induced water splitting process, recent results reported as 9.8 μ mol·mg⁻¹h⁻¹ on Pt-TiO₂ [6] and 100 000 μ mol·mg⁻¹h⁻¹ of hydrogen production on carbon materials [6d]. Investigation and improvement of efficiency and composition of electrode for example by production of binary systems (TiO₂/nanocarbon structures [6b], TiO₂/WO₃ [6c]) increasing charge carrier separation and sensitivity to visible light region were started and preliminary results reported.

Currently, waste management and energy production are recognized as an essential field for world sustainability assurance. Aluminium (Al) is a very important strategic material in Europe with wide variety of application areas. Unfortunately, this invokes huge amount of waste Al generation. Despite part of waste Al being recycled, there are plenty of landfilled Al, which pollutes environment. Therefore, we will initiate scientific and engineering activities revealing innovative ways for waste Al application in electricity generation using hydrogen produced after waste Al-water reaction. Obtained reaction by-product can be further recycled back to Al via carbon free electrolysis or used as a precursor for other valuable materials production [7].

Hydrogen storage and transport in displaced storage medium i.e., aluminium, methane, methanol etc. is perspective direction with appropriate catalyst. In all these reaction additional heat and other by-products can be produced, which in turn, can be utilized further. New insights into reaction kinetics and pH changes have been elaborated combined with hydrogen production from aluminium . [7a, 7b]

OUR POSITION

Running project AliCE-Why has opened new directions and opportunities in the areas of Carbon capture, hydrogen production, aluminium industry and circular economy.

New project has started on catalyst development for hydrogen production from methane pyrolysis.

SYSTEM INTEGRATION FOR HYDROGEN ENERGY

- Collaboration with energy production companies for local implementation of hydrogen as grid balancing and off grid solutions
- Assessment of Latvian (and Baltic) resources for hydrogen technologies and implementation prospect preparation of legislative suggestions [2b, 2c].
- Participation in hydrogen-related decarbonisation activities in line with national legislation and guidelines [8, 14].
- Investigation and development of CO₂ capture and utilization and closed carbon cycle development.

MATERIAL DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTIGATION

• Nanostructured doped carbon materials for hydrogen generation and catalytic reactions

Structure and composition of carbon materials can be engineered to be versatile for various energy applications. Recently, we have obtained a few-layer graphene sheet stack powder via electrochemical pulse exfoliation of graphite [9,10,11]. This is a versatile material not only for gas sensing, battery, and supercapacitor applications, but also for electrolysis of water (hydrogen generation) and other catalytic reactions involving hydrogen. Such as recently defended bachelor's thesis "Synthesis and application of functionalized carbon materials for energy storage" Riga, RTU 2022 or continued work in the same direction for master's thesis.

• Investigation of advanced nanomaterials for hydrogen production: experimental and computational studies [12, 15].

Hydrogen production becomes more important, as the renewable energy produced needs to be stored sustainably. We plan to keep developing carbon materials as well as metal oxides [11], carbon-metal composites [12] and utilization of aluminium scraps [13] for environmental and hydrogen production researches. The collaboration with theorists to fit theoretical models to experimental results, the progress in development advanced catalysts can be more rapid. Alternative electrolysis cells and materials for displaced electrolysis are envisioned and project with Dr. Andris Šutka is being carried out, our role is gas analysis.

- Nanostructured catalyst development for photocatalytic and electrocatalytic reactions i.e., CO₂ reformation and photocatalytic pollution degradation on materials as TiO₂ NT with various dopants.
- Direct and displaced Hydrogen storage in metal hydrides, carbon-based materials, aluminium.
- Gas analysis with MS and GCMS, ability for detailed analysis of produced and collected gas samples.
- Research of hydrogen and valuable material production from waste aluminium in Alwater reaction.
- Theoretical/modelling investigation of aluminium water reaction and process efficiency.
- Computer simulation on discharging, refuelling and transporting natural gas and hydrogen via pipelines
- Thermodynamical computer simulations provide useful results, allowing to predict and to avoid overheating or freezing in inspected nodes. Regarding the gas blending transport via pipelines, the computer simulation accounts for laminar, turbulent and mixed regimes. The preferable software is Matlab (including Matlab Simulink) and Solid Works with its various add-ins. For some special computer simulation tasks the use of Comsol Multiphysics is considered.
- Catalyst investigation for methane pyrolysis for hydrogen production, catalyst regeneration and cleaning of deposited carbon for further use in pesticide sensors.
- Methane pyrolysis and catalyst investigation for increasing the efficiency of the process, catalyst regeneration and new developments.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Development of new materials and techniques for hydrogen production, storage, transport and use:

- H₂, CO₂ solid state storage materials near RT applicable materials, no cryogenics. Increase of capacity and applicability estimation;
- Catalyst efficiency testing for gas reforming in the field of Hydrogen production in collaboration with Lithuanian researchers;
- Material retrofitting for hydrogen energy in large scale PtG systems theoretical and experimental leak test studies;
- Improvements in reduction efficiency. Development of materials and composites and techniques for reducing air pollution (CO₂, organic molecules, etc.) in electro- and photo-catalytic processes.
- Hydrogen storage in various nanostructured materials, such as activated carbon, functionalized graphene, hydrides, aluminium etc.

- \bullet CO_2 capture and reformation catalysts and systems for efficient carbon cycle development.
- Theoretical investigation of systems and processes for hydrogen technologies
- Updating and developing teaching materials in hydrogen technologies (FC, storage, electrolysis, blending, etc.)
- MFC development for power and hydrogen production
- Further development of nanostructured TiO₂ for environmental cleaning such as Pb filtering.
- In situ CO₂ reduction reaction investigation on large surface area base for single atom catalyst development.
- Activated aluminium hydroxide investigation for carbon capture technologies.
- Collaboration with local industry for e-fuel investigation as well as hydrogen testbed development.

Carbon-based catalysts:

- Carbon-based catalysts as the actual active component and as a matrix. Further investigation of noble metal as Pt substitution as catalyst of oxygen reduction reaction in fuel cell, supercapacitors and microbial fuel cells;
- Materials for hydrogen sensing graphene-based, resistive, frequency scanning or photonic sensors.

Carbon based material use in energy harvesting and storage is a promising field due to the wide use of Pt group metals. It is not yet clear would graphene be applicable to high or low temperature fuel cells best, but the possibility to replace Pt in PEM has been briefly tested within students' scientific work and has shown a promising basis for testing of larger sample batch. This would be a good field for a bachelor's/master's thesis.

Defective single layer graphene has been shown to be a good and sensitive H_2 sensor, which could replace Pt in sensing needs. Currently graphene isn't selective to be standalone H_2 sensor however introduction of defects, surface doping and combination of AC resistive behaviour can lead to H_2 or pollutant sensor.

Our key competences and capabilities are synthesis, thin film deposition, gas analysis and electrochemical characterization of materials. From research instruments the 70+ channel battery tester is available for electrical characterization, equipment for gas adsorption/desorption, for gas composition analysis the mass spectroscopy and gas chromatography are also available. Equipment available at ISSP UL essential but not exclusive to this research direction includes XRD, SEM-FIB, TEM, Raman spectroscopy, FTIR, XPS.

We are open to industrial collaborations in material characterization and prototype assembly. This includes developing materials for energy harvesting, storage, and use, such as fuel cells (primarily hydrogen), H_2 electrolysis – two-electrode (in various setups) and membrane electrolyzers and models demonstrating electrolysis.

NETWORKING

- University of Iceland, prof. Christiaan Richter, Iceland
- IceTec (Innovation center of Iceland) Dr. Chem Guðmundur Gunnarssonr, Iceland
- Prof. Dr. Danjela Kuscer Jožef Stefan Institute, Slovenia
- Vilnius University, Faculty of physics (Lithuania), Tomas Salkus' and Linas Vilciauskas' research groups: specialization in Broadband High Temperature Impedance Spectroscopy of ionic and mixed ionic-electronic conductors

- Laboratory of Hydrogen Technologies and Materials of Lithuanian Institute of Energy, Laboratory of Hydrogen materials, Šarunas Varnagiris
- Latvian State Institute of Wood Chemistry, G.Dobele, A.Volperts: wood-based high surface area materials (combusted carbon structures) as materials for catalytic reactions
- Institute of Power Engineering of Riga Technical University (Ass.Prof. Laila Zemite): decarbonisation aspects of Latvian Gas Network Infrastructure
- Latvian Hydrogen Association (Dainis Bošs): Legal aspects of the concept of "hydrogen in the natural gas network"
- Dr. Ewa Wierzbicka

REFERENCES

- 1a. fch.europa.eu, Hydrogen Roadmap Europe, 2019. https://www.fch.europa.eu/sites/default/files/Hydrogen Roadmap Europe_Report.pdf (accessed September 13, 2020).
- 1b. EU hydrogen policy: Hydrogen as an energy carrier for a climate-neutral economy. EPRS European Parliamentary Research Service, PE 689.332 April 2021
- 2a. The Global Hydrogen Review by the International Energy Agency: https://www.iea.org/reports/global-hydrogen-review-2021/executive-summary
- 2b. J. Kleperis, D. Boss, A. Mezulis, L. Zemite, P. Lesnicenoks, A. Knoks, I. Dimanta "Analysis of the Role of the Latvian Natural Gas Network for the use of Future Energy Systems: Hydrogen from Res", Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences, 2021, 58(3), pp. 214–226 ISSN 0868 – 8257, DOI: 10.2478/lpts-2021-0027
- 2c. J.Kleperis, I.Dimanta, B.Sloka, L.Zemite. Hydrogen supported bioconversion of biogas CO2 to upgrade biomethane in fuel for vehicles: Recent findings in farmers survey. Engineering for Rural Development, 2021, 20, pp. 1774–1780. DOI: 10.22616/ERDev.2021.20.
- 2d. L. Peng, Z. Wei. Catalyst Engineering for Electrochemical Energy Conversion from Water to Water: Water Electrolysis and the Hydrogen Fuel Cell. Engineering, Volume 6, Issue 6, June 2020, Pages 653-679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eng.2019.07.028
- Plavniece A., Volperts A., Dobele, G., Zhurinsh A., Kaare K., Kruusenberg I., Kaprans K., Knoks A., Kleperis J. "Wood and black liquor-based n-doped activated carbon for energy application" Sustainability (Switzerland), 2021, 13(16), 9237. DOI: 10.3390/su13169237
- 4. A. Knoks, P. Lesnicenoks, J. Kleperis, L. Grinberga, J. Hodakovska, J. Klavins, G. Cikvaidze, I. Lukosevics, Electro-catalytic and photo-catalytic reformation of CO₂ –reactions and efficiencies processes (Review), IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng. 503 (2019) 012009. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/503/1/012009.
- 5. T. Kim, G.T.R. Palmore, A scalable method for preparing Cu electrocatalysts that convert CO₂ into C2+ products, Nat. Commun. 11 (2020) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16998-9.
- 6. S. Cao, T.S. Chan, Y.R. Lu, X. Shi, B. Fu, Z. Wu, H. Li, K. Liu, S. Alzuabi, P. Cheng, M. Liu, T. Li, X. Chen, L. Piao, Photocatalytic pure water splitting with high efficiency and value by Pt/porous brookite TiO₂ nanoflutes, Nano Energy. 67 (2020) 104287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nanoen.2019.104287.
- 6b. Knoks A., Sika R., Olins R., Lesnicenoks P. "Investigation of carbon nanomaterial inlfuence on photocatalytic properties of TiO₂" Engineering for Rural Development, 2021, 20, pp. 1804-1813. DOI: 10.22616/ERDev.2021.20.TF397
- 6d Si Ma, Tianqi Deng, Ziping Li, Zhenwei Zhang,Ji Jia, Gang Wu, Hong Xia, Shuo-Wang Yang, Xiaoming Liu Photocatalytic Hydrogen Production on a sp2-Carbon-Linked Covalent Organic Framework, https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202208919
- 7. Urbonavicius M, Varnagiris S, Girdzevicius D and Milcius D 2017 Hydrogen generation based on aluminum-water reaction for fuel cell applications Energy Procedia 128 114–20
- 7a. Studies on Water–Aluminum Scrap Reaction Kinetics in Two Steps and the Efficiency of Green Hydrogen Production, Ansis Mezulis, Christiaan Richter, Peteris Lesnicenoks, Ainars Knoks, Sarunas Varnagiris, Marius Urbonavicius, Darius Milcius, Janis Kleperis, Energies 2023, 16(14), 5554; https://doi.org/10.3390/en16145554

- 7b. Hydrogen from industrial aluminium scraps: Hydrolysis under various conditions, modelling of pH behaviour and analysis of reaction by-product, Marius Urbonavicius a, Sarunas Varnagiris a, Ansis Mezulis, **Peteris Lesnicenoks, Ainars Knoks**, Christiaan Richter, Darius Milcius, Rauan Meirbekova, Gudmundur Gunnarsson, **Janis Kleperis**, Int J. Hydrogen Energy, 2023, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.09.065
- 8. The Ministry of Economics of the Republic of Latvia, project "Trends, Challenges and Solutions of Latvian Gas Infrastructure Development (LAGAS)", project No. VPP-EM-INFRA-2018/1-0003.
- I. Lukosevics, P. Lesnicenoks, J. Kleperis, Synthesis and studying of reduced few-layered graphene coatings in gas sensor applications, IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng. 503 (2019) 012013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/503/1/012013.
- 10. Olins R., Lesnicenoks P., Kleperis J., Knoks A., Lukosevics I. "Electrochemical exfoliation streamline method for synthesis of nitrogen doped graphene" 10.6001/CHEMIJA.V32I1.4396
- 11. A. Knoks, J. Kleperis, L. Grinberga, Raman spectral identification of phase distribution in anodic titanium dioxide coating, Proc. Est. Acad. Sci. 66 (2017) 422. https://doi.org/10.3176/proc.2017.4.19.
- S. Piskunov, Y.F. Zhukovskii, M.N. Sokolov, J. Kleperis, AB Initio Calculations of CUN@Graphene (0001) Nanostructures for Electrocatalytic Applications, Latv. J. Phys. Tech. Sci. 55 (2018) 30–34. https://doi.org/10.2478/lpts-2018-0041.
- 13. Norway-EEA project "Aluminium recycling for hydrogen production from waste through hydrogen energy to alumina AliCE-WHy (Aluminium in a circular economy from waste to hydrogen energy to alumina "- AliCE-WHy)
- 14. Johannes Topler, Jochen Lehmann, Ūdeņradis un degšūnas Tehnoloģijas un Tirgus perspektīvas. SpringerVieweg, Tulkojuma latviski zinātniskie redaktori **Jānis Kleperis un Pēteris Lesničenoks** RTU izdevniecība, Rīgā 2021. gadā
- 15. N-Graphene Sheet Stacks/Cu Electrocatalyst for CO2 Reduction to Ethylene by Peteris Lesnicenoks, Ainars Knoks, Sergei Piskunov, Laimonis Jekabsons and Janis Kleperis _Electrochem_ 2022, _3_(2), 15; https://doi.org/10.3390/electrochem3020015 01 May 2022

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- The production of hydrogen gas from aluminium waste by aluminium-water reaction at various conditions has been researched as sustainable and cheap technology.
- CO_2 capture from flue gases via activated aluminium hydroxide and synthesis of aluminium hydroxide
- Calculations show that the introduction of hydrogen into the Latvian gas network can decarbonize the gas network if the HCNG mixture is used by final consumers. Increasing the hydrogen content from 0.1% to 20% reduces carbon dioxide emissions by 20%.
- Municipal and national enterprises (Rīgas Siltums, Latvenergo, Conexus) announced their interest to involve hydrogen as energy carrier to support decarbonisation plans in national economics, consultation and development of hydrogen energetics and e-fuel investigation
- Update on the current situation in laboratory in terms of hydrogen technologies and current project as well as development of previously proposed directions

THERMOELECTRICS AND HYBRID PHOTOVOLTAICS

STATE OF THE ART

The use of renewable resources and the use of more innovative and more efficient devices are vital principles in tackling the energy crisis.

Wasted heat is a potentially significant source of energy that has not been fully utilised. It is estimated that humankind wastes ~ 20% of the 15 terawatts required annually for global power consumption as low-level heat (<200°C). Thermoelectric generators (TEG) could harvest the wasted energy, which directly converts heat into electricity. With effective TEG, many problems are addressed: the wasted heat for electricity generation is used to reduce global warming and deal with the energy crisis. Identifying these conditions has stimulated extensive studies in the field of thermoelectric materials, including organic materials [1-5]. In the low-temperature range, organic materials can show comparable and better properties compared to classically used inorganic materials [6, 7]. Recently synthesis of TE nanoparticles with a high figure of merit (ZT >1) has been reported [46, 47]. The incorporation of such nanoparticles into suitable polymer matrices can lead to valuable hybrid TE materials for example for Photovoltaic-Thermoelectric hybrid systems [48].

Solar energy is the second energy source, the more efficient use of which can help solve today's energy crisis and challenges. The use of organic materials has the potential to create lighter, flexible and more efficient solar cells for widespread use. Great attention is paid to hybrid organic-inorganic material perovskite solar cells [8–13]. In combination with thermoelectricity, solar cells could show very high efficiency reaching more than 23% [14]. Organic solar cells (OSCs) based on fullerene acceptors demonstrated significant growth over the past two decades, with power conversion efficiencies (PCE) exceeding 13%. However, it has reached its theoretical maximum. A new generation of OSC has been proposed where fullerene is substituted with other organic compounds as electron acceptors. Such electron acceptors have a specific name – nonfullerene acceptor (NFA). The advent of NFAs with superior optoelectronic properties, tuneable morphology, and absorption characteristics have resulted in a scenario where the NFA OSCs have demonstrated higher PCE of over 18% in single junction and over 19% in tandem OSCs incorporating NFA OSCs, which is relatively higher than conventional fullerene-based counterparts.

Novel devices for sensor application, like thermoelectricity-based radiation sensors and novel hybrid organic-inorganic X-ray detectors, could reduce the consumed energies in related applications due to lower working voltages and a more effective sensitivity and detection process [15–22]. Current X-ray detector sensitivities are limited by the bulk X-ray attenuation of the materials and consequently necessitate thick crystals (~1mm–1 cm), resulting in high operational voltages and rigid structures. The development of new radiation detectors, in particular, based on nanomaterials [18], is an active field of research. In the last two decades, organic semiconductors have received increasing attention for thin-film photovoltaics, optical sensing. They have recently been proposed also for X-ray detection as promising alternatives to inorganic semiconductors [23,24]. They are relatively inexpensive, easy to produce, can be flexible, operated under low voltage (<10V) [25], may have a large area and demonstrate promising sensing properties despite their lower carrier mobility and low X-ray radiation

absorption coefficient compared to inorganic semiconductors [23]. In order to improve the absorption of X-rays in thin films, a recently active study has been carried out on hybrid cells in which inorganic high-Z nanomaterials are placed in a flexible matrix of organic materials. Therefore, in combination with high-Z nanomaterials, organic materials have a high potential to be employed for radiation detection purposes, allowing unprecedented devices architectures and functionality [16, 22]. The X-ray detectors can be divided into two types: (i) direct, which convert incident X-ray photon into current, and (ii) indirect, which convert X-ray photon into visible photons further detected by a photo-detector. Both types of detectors could be realised using hybrid organic-inorganic systems. Moreover, superior properties could be developed, such as flexibility, lightweight, sensitivity, and registration rate [15–20, 22, 35].

OUR POSITION

Laboratory of Organic Materials is a prominent place in Latvia with all necessary equipment and competence to produce and investigate organic thin-film devices. The laboratory has a long experience investigating the electrical properties of organic materials, which is essential in applications such as thermoelectricity and organic solar cells and sensors. In recent years, experience in device prototyping has also been actively developed and accumulated.

Electrical properties and charge carrier transport play a vital role in organic electronics, so their research is the basis. Therefore, the laboratory pays attention to investigating the energy structure and electrical properties of organic semiconductors. Energy levels of the compounds have been studied by photoelectron emission spectroscopy (PES) and spectral dependence of intrinsic photoconductivity [26–28]. It gives information about molecule ionisation energy (IE) and the second method gives a reasonable estimation of the energy bandgap between IE and electron affinity (EA) energy. The bandgap's charge carrier local trap states have been investigated by the temperature modulated space charge limit current method (TM-SCLC). Charge carrier mobility has been obtained by Time of Flight (ToF) or Charge Carrier Extraction by Linearly Increasing Voltage (CELIV) techniques [29]. In the Laboratory of Organic Materials, full spectra of thermoelectric properties can be investigated, including Seebeck coefficient measurements in a lab-made Seebeck measurement unit, thermal conductivity measurements by 3ω technique and electrical conductivity measurements by four-probe method [30], [31]. In the future, the measurements of thermal conductivity in thin films will be improved, achieving the possibility to determine the thermal conductivity in different directions in a thin layer [32].

The hybrid materials concept, where inorganic TEs are coupled with polymers, has gained much attention, enabling harvesting low-grade heat otherwise lost, even with a lower ZT than the inorganic counterpart. Flexible organic-inorganic hybrids are promising thermoelectric materials to recycle waste heat in versatile formats [1–3, 33]. Besides, the thermoelectric effect can be used to create light sensors. For example, thermopile detectors have long been known. Prototypes of thermoelectric radiation sensors with superior characteristics are created using thin films of organic materials with unique properties, achieving broad spectral range as thermopiles and high-speed performance as a photodiode. ISSP UL has patented technology as WO/20202/095126 and EP3811043 "A High-Bandwidth Thermoelectric Thin-Film UV, Visible Light and Infrared Radiation Sensor and Manufacturing Method Thereof", which have been sold to the multinational company Thorlabs. Licensing and technology transfer contract with Thorlabs GmbH was signed on 11.10.2021.

Recently laboratory has started to work on studies of hybrid system organic-inorganic X-ray photo-detectors [34].

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Further development of the energy harvesting device field will be divided into two parts. One will be performed in close collaboration with chemists from other academic institutions. The second is related to the investigation of the energy conversion system concerning morphology.

Research into new original compounds in collaboration with chemists may open possibilities to discover new materials with superior properties and to create high-efficiency devices from them.

By studying previously investigated materials and exploring the effect of morphology on energy conversion, it is possible to optimise the properties of thin films made from these materials, thus opening the possibility to create devices with higher efficiency.

Future directions:

• Investigation of organic-inorganic nanoparticle hybrid systems thin films

One of the first and foremost steps is the high-quality incorporation of inorganic nanoparticles into organic material systems. Achieving a homogeneous distribution of nanoparticles in the thin film is a key for the successful further development of a hybrid system X-ray detector and organic-inorganic hybrid system thin films for thermoelectricity and solar cells.

In order to create efficient organic and hybrid electronic devices, such as TEGs, OSCs or X-ray radiation sensors, it is necessary to know the charge carrier transport and energy levels in solids. It is crucial in hybrid systems, where charge carrier transport can be hampered by trap levels that result indirectly from structural defects and due to incompatibility of energy levels of systems components. Most of the necessary investigation methods that include UPS, XPS, PYS I-V-L curve measurement, TM-SCLC, AFM, SEM, thin-film thickness and profile measurements are available at the Institute. One of the essential parameters for OSCs and sensors is the charge carrier mobility and recombination process. Both processes could be studied by Charge extraction with linearly increasing voltage (CELIV). The method is valid for thin films and can investigate charge carrier recombination and determine charge carrier mobility. Thermal conductivity is one of the critical parameters to determine the figure of merit ZT for thermoelectric materials. However, measurements for the thin film is complicated. 3W method will be developed and established for thermal conductivity measurements in thin films. The fully established method allows measuring thermal conductivity in both directions of thin films laterally and along the normal. A system for X-ray detector research will also be set up. The system includes an X-ray lamp with all safety measures and reading part of electrical signals from samples.

• Development of hybrid system X-ray detector

The X-ray detectors can be divided into two types: (i) direct, which convert incident X-ray photon into current, and (ii) indirect, which convert X-ray photon into visible photons further detected by a photo-detector.

The direct conversion of ionising radiation into an electrical signal within the same device is usually more effective than indirect. It improves the signal-to-noise ratio and reduces the device response time. Both types of detectors could be realised using hybrid organic-inorganic systems. Moreover, superior properties such as flexibility, lightweight, increased sensitivity, and registration rate could be developed. While the low atomic number (Z) of the component atoms in the organic (typically C and H with O, N or S) make them almost transparent to X-rays, high-Z nanoparticles offer a high cross-sectional area for X-ray interaction, thus enhancing the

absorption efficiency and sensitivity and (hopefully) retaining the host polymer's advantageous physical properties, such as mechanical flexibility.

• Development of organic-inorganic hybrid system thin films for thermoelectricity

Good thermoelectric material should exhibit low thermal and high electrical conductivity. Organic material typically has low heat conductivity, but at the same time, it also has low electrical conductivity. Hybrid organic-inorganic materials have been considered as a new candidate in thermoelectric materials from the last decade due to their great potential to enhance the thermoelectric performance by utilising the low thermal conductivity and high Seebeck coefficient of organic materials and high electrical conductivity of inorganic materials. However, current organic/inorganic hybrids suffer from inferior thermoelectric properties due to aggregate nanostructures. High-quality incorporation of inorganic nanoparticles must be achieved to overcome this issue. Incorporating thermoelectric active inorganic nanoparticles or low dimension carbon structures, such as carbon nanotubes or graphene, in the matrix of organic materials could increase the system's electrical conductivity and Seebeck coefficient of the system, meanwhile reducing thermal conductivity, realising the "phonon-glass, electron-crystal" principle resulting with higher Figure of Merit ZT values. The alternative approach to overcoming this issue is defining the localisation of inorganic nanoparticles by lithography methods [1–3, 36– 39]. Polymer nanowires prepared by electro-spun method combined with inorganic nanoparticles could be the first approach for preparing hybrid thermoelectric systems. In collaboration with Prof. M. Toprak group from KTH we have started to study Bi2-xSbxTe3 TE nanoparticles and we are planning to form hybrid structures and develop TE devices. We plan to expand our research also with copper chalcogenides nanoparticles possibly other TE nanoparticles that can be obtained by efficient microwave-assisted synthesis developed by the professor Toprak group.

• Investigations of electro-spun polymer-based nanowires

Nanowires or nanofibers could be of great use in high sensitivity sensors and nanoscale electronic devices due to their high surface to volume ratio, tuneable characteristics and mechanics behaviour. Electrospinning has been identified as a straightforward and viable technique to produce nanofibers from polymer solution as their initial precursor. These nanofiber materials have attracted the attention of researchers due to their enhanced and exceptional nano-structural characteristics [40–45].

• Development of ternary organic solar cells containing non-fullerene acceptor materials

We've started Latvian Council of Science project No. LZP-2022/1-0494 "Development of ternary organic solar cells by employing original indacene-tetraone based non-fullerene acceptors". The objective of this research project is the development of novel non-fullerene electron acceptors with one-dimensional charge transfer properties that will allow the construction of highly efficient ternary OSCs. In this project, novel non-fullerene acceptors for organic solar cells will be synthesized and investigated. Adding them to already used commercial donor and acceptor materials (electron donor polymers PM6 and PM7, as well as NFAs like Y6 and Y7), ternary organic solar cells will be developed. During the project, the most promising materials will be selected and from these, the OSC will be made and later optimized for the best performance.

• Studies of self-assembling monolayers (SAM) in semi-transparent solar cells

In the EEA and Norway Grant "Development of Semi-Transparent Bifacial Thin Film Solar Cells for Innovative Applications" novel self-assembling monolayers (SAMs) will be investigated. Here,

SAMs work as a charge carrier transport layer for chalcogenide based solar cells. We will use our main strength in fundamental research: the vast variety of material characterization methods. Energy levels of SAMs and possible interface (metal- SAM, semiconductor- SAM) effects will be studied.

• Development of Thermoelectric generators (TEGs) and OSCs on a flexible substrate

Organic material-based thin film deposition on flexible substrates by making flexible devices is one of the most significant advantages of organic materials. Nevertheless, several issues should be addressed before depositing a multilayer system on the flexible substrate.

- 1. Structuring of electrodes should be done mainly by the lithography method;
- 2. Thermal deposition of compounds should be done at low temperatures;
- 3. The thermal properties of the flexible substrate should be considered during thermal treatment of the layers;
- 4. Investigation of bending radius and cycles should be performed.

Prototypes of investigated systems will be made to confirm the commercial potential of the devices.

NETWORKING

<u>Latvia:</u>

- Institute of Organic Synthesis
- Riga Technical University, Institute of Applied Chemistry, Prof. Valdis Kokars
- Research Laboratory of Functional Materials Technologies, Dr. sc.ing. Andris Šutka,
- Institute of Technology of Organic Chemistry, Prof. Dr. chem. Māris Turks

<u>Europe:</u>

- Kaunas University of Technology
- Tallinn University of Technology
- Vilnius University
- Julius-Maximilians-Universitat Wurzburg, Experimental Physics vi, Pflaum group, Prof. Dr. Jens Pflaum
- The University of Nottingham, School of Chemistry, GSK Carbon Neutral Laboratories for Sustainable Chemistry, The Woodward Selective Synthesis Group, Dr. Simon Woodward
- Institute of Organic Chemistry with Centre of Phytochemistry Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Dr. Vladimir Dimitrov
- KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Nanochemistry Lab, Professor Muhammet S. Toprak

REFERENCES

- 1. C. Ou *et al.*, "Fully Printed Organic-Inorganic Nanocomposites for Flexible Thermoelectric Applications," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 10, no. 23, pp. 19580–19587, Jun. 2018.
- L. M. Cowen, J. Atoyo, M. J. Carnie, D. Baran, and B. C. Schroeder, "Review—Organic Materials for Thermoelectric Energy Generation," *ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. N3080– N3088, Jan. 2017.
- 3. K. Oshima, J. Inoue, S. Sadakata, Y. Shiraishi, and N. Toshima, "Hybrid-Type Organic Thermoelectric Materials Containing Nanoparticles as a Carrier Transport Promoter," *J. Electron. Mater.*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 3207–3214, May 2017.
- 4. H. Fang *et al.*, "Large-scale integration of flexible materials into rolled and corrugated thermoelectric modules," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 1–7, Jan. 2017.

- 5. S. Hwang, W. J. Potscavage, R. Nakamichi, and C. Adachi, "Processing and doping of thick polymer active layers for flexible organic thermoelectric modules," *Org. Electron. physics, Mater. Appl.*, vol. 31, pp. 31–40, 2016.
- 6. C. Cho, K. L. Wallace, P. Tzeng, J. H. Hsu, C. Yu, and J. C. Grunlan, "Outstanding Low Temperature Thermoelectric Power Factor from Completely Organic Thin Films Enabled by Multidimensional Conjugated Nanomaterials," *Adv. Energy Mater.*, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 1–8, 2016.
- 7. C. Cho *et al.*, "Completely Organic Multilayer Thin Film with Thermoelectric Power Factor Rivaling Inorganic Tellurides," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 27, no. 19, pp. 2996–3001, May 2015.
- 8. S. Liu *et al.*, "High-efficiency organic solar cells with low non-radiative recombination loss and low energetic disorder," *Nat. Photonics*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 300–305, 2020.
- 9. R. Zhou *et al.*, "All-small-molecule organic solar cells with over 14% efficiency by optimising hierarchical morphologies," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2019.
- 10.Q. Burlingame, M. Ball, and Y. L. Loo, "It's time to focus on organic solar cell stability," *Nat. Energy*, 2020.
- 11.Q. Burlingame, X. Huang, X. Liu, C. Jeong, C. Coburn, and S. R. Forrest, "Intrinsically stable organic solar cells under high-intensity illumination," *Nature*, vol. 573, no. 7774, pp. 394–397, 2019.
- 12.X. Jiang *et al.*, "Ultra-high open-circuit voltage of tin perovskite solar cells via an electron transporting layer design," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2020.
- 13.E. H. Jung *et al.*, "Efficient, stable and scalable perovskite solar cells using poly(3-hexylthiophene)," *Nature*, vol. 567, no. 7749, pp. 511–515, 2019.
- 14. Y. Zhou *et al.*, "Perovskite solar cell-thermoelectric tandem system with a high efficiency of over 23%," *Mater. Today Energy*, vol. 12, pp. 363–370, Jun. 2019.
- 15.A. Ciavatti *et al.*, "Boosting Direct X-Ray Detection in Organic Thin Films by Small Molecules Tailoring," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 29, no. 21, p. 1806119, May 2019.
- 16. H. M. Thirimanne *et al.*, "High sensitivity organic inorganic hybrid X-ray detectors with direct transduction and broadband response," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2018.
- 17.H. S. Gill *et al.*, "Flexible perovskite based X-ray detectors for dose monitoring in medical imaging applications," *Phys. Med.*, vol. 5, no. April, pp. 20–23, 2018.
- 18.Z. Luo, J. G. Moch, S. S. Johnson, and C. C. Chen, "A Review on X-ray Detection Using Nanomaterials," *Curr. Nanosci.*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 364–372, Jul. 2017.
- 19.A. Ciavatti *et al.,* "Toward Low-Voltage and Bendable X-Ray Direct Detectors Based on Organic Semiconducting Single Crystals," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 27, no. 44, pp. 7213–7220, 2015.
- 20.C. A. Mills *et al.*, "Enhanced x-ray detection sensitivity in semiconducting polymer diodes containing metallic nanoparticles," *J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 46, no. 27, pp. 1–6, 2013.
- 21. D. N. Congreve *et al.*, "External Quantum Efficiency Above 100% in a Singlet-Exciton-Fission-Based Organic Photovoltaic Cell," *Science (80-.).*, vol. 340, no. 6130, pp. 334–337, Apr. 2013.
- 22.A. Intaniwet, C. A. Mills, M. Shkunov, P. J. Sellin, and J. L. Keddie, "Heavy metallic oxide nanoparticles for enhanced sensitivity in semiconducting polymer x-ray detectors," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 23, no. 23, 2012.
- 23.B. Fraboni *et al.*, "Organic Semiconducting Single Crystals as Next Generation of Low-Cost, Room-Temperature Electrical X-ray Detectors," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 24, no. 17, pp. 2289–2293, May 2012.
- 24. T. Suzuki, H. Miyata, M. Katsumata, S. Nakano, K. Matsuda, and M. Tamura, "Organic semiconductors as real-time radiation detectors," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 763, pp. 304–307, Nov. 2014.
- 25. L. Basiricò, A. Ciavatti, T. Cramer, P. Cosseddu, A. Bonfiglio, and B. Fraboni, "Direct X-ray photoconversion in flexible organic thin film devices operated below 1 V," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 13063, Dec. 2016.
- 26. A. Ruduss *et al.*, "Synthesis and investigation of charge transport properties in adducts of hole transporting carbazole derivatives and push-pull azobenzenes," *J. Phys. Chem. Solids*, no. 2019, 2018.
- 27. **R. Grzibovskis and A. Vembris**, "Energy level determination in bulk heterojunction systems using photoemission yield spectroscopy: case of P3HT:PCBM," *J. Mater. Sci.*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 7506–7515, May 2018.
- 28. R. Grzibovskis, A. Vembris, and K. Pudzs, "Relation between molecule ionisation energy, film thickness and morphology of two indandione derivatives thin films," *J. Phys. Chem. Solids*, vol. 95, pp. 12–18, Aug. 2016.

- 29. K. Pudzs, A. Vembris, R. Grzibovskis, J. Latvels, and E. Zarins, "Impact of the molecular structure of an indandione fragment containing azobenzene derivatives on the morphology and electrical properties of thin films," *Mater. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 173, pp. 117–125, Apr. 2016.
- 30. K. Pudzs, A. Vembris, J. Busenbergs, M. Rutkis, and S. Woodward, "Tetrathiotetracene thin film morphology and electrical properties," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 598, pp. 214–218, 2015.
- 31.K. Pudzs, A. Vembris, M. Rutkis, and S. Woodward, "Thin Film Organic Thermoelectric Generator Based on Tetrathiotetracene," *Adv. Electron. Mater.*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 1600429, Feb. 2017.
- 32. C. Dames, "Chapter 2 Measuring the Thermal Conductivity of Thin Films : 3 Omega and Related Electrothermal Methods," *Annu. Rev. Heat Transf.*, pp. 7–49, 2013.
- 33.B. Russ, A. Glaudell, J. J. Urban, M. L. Chabinyc, and R. A. Segalman, "Organic thermoelectric materials for energy harvesting and temperature control," *Nat. Rev. Mater.*, vol. 1, no. 10, p. 16050, Aug. 2016.
- 34. "Project: 'Development of X-ray sensitive hybrid organic-inorganic systems." Funding institution: Latvian Council of Science, p. LZP FLPP No. lzp-2019/1-0071.
- 35. A. Ciavatti *et al.*, "Toward Low-Voltage and Bendable X-Ray Direct Detectors Based on Organic Semiconducting Single Crystals," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 27, no. 44, pp. 7213–7220, Nov. 2015.
- 36.Y. Du, S. Z. Shen, K. Cai, and P. S. Casey, "Research progress on polymer-inorganic thermoelectric nanocomposite materials," *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 820–841, 2012.
- 37.0. Bubnova and X. Crispin, "Towards polymer-based organic thermoelectric generators," *Energy Environ. Sci.*, vol. 5, no. 11, p. 9345, 2012.
- 38. Q. Zhang, Y. Sun, W. Xu, and D. Zhu, "Thermoelectric energy from flexible P3HT films doped with a ferric salt of triflimide anions," *Energy Environ. Sci.*, vol. 5, no. 11, p. 9639, 2012.
- 39. H. Wang and C. Yu, "Organic Thermoelectrics: Materials Preparation, Performance Optimisation, and Device Integration," *Joule*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 53–80, 2019.
- 40. Y. Huang, T. Lo, C. Chen, K. Wu, C. Lin, and W. Whang, "Electrospinning of magnesium-ion linked binder-less PEDOT:PSS nanofibers for sensing organic gases," *Sensors Actuators B Chem.*, vol. 216, pp. 603–607, Sep. 2015.
- 41.R. Khajavi and M. Abbasipour, "Controlling nanofiber morphology by the electrospinning process," in *Electrospun Nanofibers*, no. 2, Elsevier, 2017, pp. 109–123.
- 42. P. P. Mehta and V. S. Pawar, "Electro-spun nanofiber scaffolds," in *Applications of Nanocomposite Materials in Drug Delivery*, no. 4778, Elsevier, 2018, pp. 509–573.
- 43. J. K. Y. Lee *et al.*, "Polymer-based composites by electrospinning: Preparation & amp; functionalisation with nanocarbons," *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 86, pp. 40–84, Nov. 2018.
- 44. E. Ewaldz, R. Patel, M. Banerjee, and B. K. Brettmann, "Material selection in electrospinning microparticles," *Polymer (Guildf).*, vol. 153, no. May, pp. 529–537, Sep. 2018.
- 45. R. Zhao, X. Lu, and C. Wang, "Electrospinning based all-nano composite materials: Recent achievements and perspectives," *Compos. Commun.*, vol. 10, pp. 140–150, Dec. 2018.
- 46. B. Hamawandi et al., "Minute-Made, High-Efficiency Nanostructured Bi2Te3 via High-Throughput Green Solution Chemical Synthesis," Nanomaterials, vol. 11, no. 8, p. 2053, Aug. 2021.
- 47. Y. Demirci, A. Yusuf, B. Hamawandi, M. S. Toprak, and S. Ballikaya, "The Effect of Crystal Mismatch on the Thermoelectric Performance Enhancement of Nano Cu2Se," Front. Mater., vol. 7, no. January, pp. 1–9, Jan. 2021.
- 48. A. Yusuf, N. Bayhan, H. Tiryaki, B. Hamawandi, M. S. Toprak, and S. Ballikaya, "Multi-objective optimization of concentrated Photovoltaic-Thermoelectric hybrid system via non-dominated sorting genetic algorithm (NSGA II)," Energy Convers. Manag., vol. 236, p. 114065, May 2021.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- We will boost the study of organic-organic composite and hybrid (organic-inorganic) TE materials. In collaboration with our partners, we will study printable TE materials.
- We will study thermoelectrical properties of glass-forming low molecular weight compounds as promising candidates for novel hybrid thermoelectric materials. Our proposal "Advancing Sustainable Thermoelectric Hybrid Systems Utilizing Glass-Forming Low Molecular Weight Compounds" has been positively evaluated.

- We will study novel high entrophy thermoelectric nanomaterials. Proposal "The entropydriven approach to enhance the thermoelectric performance of chalcogenide-based compounds" has been positively evaluated.
- In collaboration with chemists from Riga Technical University, novel non-fullerene acceptors for ternary organic solar cells will be developed.

FERROELECTRIC MATERIALS FOR ELECTROMECHANICAL AND ELECTROCALORIC APPLICATION

STATE OF THE ART

Ferroelectric materials are an integral part of the modern technological world.

Lead zirconate titanate (PZT)-based solid solutions presently dominate in applications of ferroelectric materials, as they exhibit excellent electromechanical properties. However, use of lead-containing materials is being limited during the last decades due to environmental and health considerations, which are regulated by RoHS directive of the European Union. Scientific society is stimulated for research of alternative lead-free ferroelectrics.

For that reason, intensive efforts are devoted to studies of lead-free ferroelectrics [1]. One of the most promising lead-free compositions is Na_{0.5}Bi_{0.5}TiO₃ (NBT) and different solid solutions based on it. There are discovered NBT-based solid solutions with improved electromechanical properties, already able to compete with PZT-based ferroelectrics. It is shown that for some specific applications NBT and its solid solutions are even more suitable than PZT, for example, in ultrasound transducers [2].

Technological aspects

Despite the intense research of modification of properties of NBT-based compositions and wide discussion on possible applications of these materials, the development of their production technology is left without appropriate attention. At the same time, a lot of discrepancies appear in literature regarding various experimentally measured parameters for the same NBT-based compositions, therefore reducing the quality of interpretation of such results. It is obvious that properties of these materials depend on the production process, and it is impossible to implement them in manufacturing without clarifying the relation between their production parameters and properties.

In respect of development of production technology, the following experimental findings should be taken into account:

• *Stoichiometry in NBT composition.* Since Bi is volatile, in order to improve quality of the ceramic material, it is reasonable to produce Bi-excess compositions. Results obtained in [3] indicate that this dramatically influences conduction mechanisms in NBT and reveal that, in such a way, it is possible to tune properties of NBT ceramics to suppress leakage

conductivity for piezoelectric and high temperature capacitor applications. Surprisingly, a measurable deviation of Bi concentration from stoichiometric was not found;

- *Grain growth mechanisms.* In the case of NBT and NBT-based solid solutions, anomalous grain growth (AGG) is a common mechanism for grain growth, wherein only a small fraction of grains grow rapidly and the microstructure is characterized by a bimodal grain size distribution. AGG occurs in systems with faceted (atomically ordered) grain boundaries and is controlled by interface reactions and diffusion [4]. In [5] it was shown that in particular case of NBT, excess Bi, as well as two-step sintering and hot pressing during the production process are effective inhibitors of abnormal grain growth;
- *Stability of ferroelectric state in dependence on grain size.* The role of non-stoichiometry on depolarisation temperature is demonstrated [6]. According to recent suggestions, the non-stoichiometry has only indirect role through its influence on grain size [7]. In rather specific composition, NBT-ST-PT, relevant role of grain size on domain structure is also observed [8].

Electrocaloric effect.

Electrocaloric affect (ECE) is of great interest for designing active cooling elements, especially in micro- and power-electronics, environmentally friendly air-conditioning and cooling systems. Unfortunately, the prospects of practical realization of such idea were unclear for a long time, due to the limited values of temperature change ΔT , especially in the temperature range actual for cooling devices.

The situation has significantly changed with the first publications, where ECE in thin films was evaluated by the Maxwell relation or indirect method [9]. Intensive studies, inspired by these pioneering works, revealed compositions with extremely large ΔT range, where the upper limit reaches even 45°C (the latest review in [10]). In spite of more than ten years of intensive research, attempts to create working cooling prototypes are scarce. Moreover, even a general picture of the perspective for application of particular FE compositions does not exist. There are several reasons for that:

- Wide scattering or even contradictions in the results, mostly obtained by the indirect method, which, at the same time, is the dominating method in determining of ECE;
- The most promising results are obtained in thin films, which are complicated to apply due to low heat capacity;
- Insufficient understanding of the nature of ECE and polarization in the range of high electric field *E* values.

Application of Maxwell relations requests a clear understanding of the nature of measured polarization, since they are applicable only for temperature dependence of homogeneous intrinsic polarization. This requirement is usually left without attention, which leads to unconvincing results, where not only the value, but even the sign of the calculated ΔT is disputable [11].

Therefore, looking for materials, which could be promising for application in cooling devices and to get reliable results, at the present stage of research direct measurements at high fields on bulk samples and thick films are very important. As it follows from the values of ΔT available from publications and corresponding to such requirements:

- High-*E* is a relevant condition to expect high ΔT values;
- Among the studied compositions, Ba(Ti,Zr)O₃ solid solutions in the concentration range of morphotropic phase boundary, where all three FE phases merge together, look the most promising (ΔT up to 6°C at E=150 kV/cm [12]);

• Available results are very limited and contain remarkable scattering of ΔT values for the same or similar compositions.

Cooling efficiency is dependent on heat capacity and therefore from the volume of the working body of cooling device. At the same time, their thickness should be reduced in order to reduce the voltage of ECE-based working body, maintaining high values of electric field, which are necessary to reach large value of ΔT . To satisfy both requirements which are partly contradicting, research should be focused on thick films and multilayers. Just such an approach is implemented in [13,14].

Electromechanical properties.

Wide research of electromechanical properties in NBT-based compositions creates impression that competitive with PZT values of piezoelectric coefficients cannot be expected in these leadfree materials. At the same time in some NBT-based compositions sufficiently large mechanical quality factors are found, which are key performance indicators for application of electromechanical properties in resonance mode. Moreover, the values of mechanical quality factors are much less deteriorated at high powers, what is a clear advantage compared to PZT in high ultrasound power applications [2].

One of the most widely studied properties of NBT-based compositions is electric field-induced strain. Reason of such focusing is the possibility to reduce with appropriate dopants ferroelectric-non-ferroelectric phase transition temperature (depolarisation temperature T_d) in the range of room temperature and below. It allows to implement a field-induced reversible phase transition into ferroelectric state and to utilize the strain, created by this phase transition. Indeed, strains achieved in such a way, exceed 0.6% [15]. Research in this direction is almost completely focused on compositions in concentration range of morphotropic phase boundary (MPB). Taking into account that main reason of large deformations in this case is shifting of depolarisation temperature in the range of room temperature and getting contribution in field induced strain from field induced phase transition, restriction regarding the solid solution concentration range corresponding to MPB does not look convincing. Therefore, range of compositions which could be promising in respect of large field induced strains can be remarkably extended. It is especially important taking into account that in searching of compositions for practical application besides large strains crucial features are limited hysteresis and fatigue resistance.

The first ultrasonic devices based on MEMS technology were able to deliver the acoustic pressure to ambient medium. They were fabricated by combining silicon micromachining and thin piezoelectric films on thin ZnO/Si composite plates. These devices can be considered as the pioneers of piezoelectric micromachined ultrasonic transducers (PMUT) today [16,17]. The advantage of PMUT compared to traditional bulk ceramic and single crystal lead zirconate titanate (PZT) based piezoelectric transducers are higher acoustic coupling coefficients and smaller form factor [7]. The absence of high bias voltage makes PMUT a better candidate for biocompatible and ultrasonic devices than its relative capacitive micromachined ultrasound transducer (CMUT). Attempts to create PMUT, where lead-free ferroelectric materials are applied, are not yet published.

OUR POSITION

The scientific team in the Laboratory of Ferroelectric Materials has wide experience in producing and studies of ferroelectric ceramic materials, including fabrication of ceramic using hot uniaxial pressing. Laboratory has been one of leading research centres in producing and research of transparent (Pb,La)(Zr,Ti)O₃ ceramic [19], which was synthesized by wet chemical method and hot pressed at sintering stage. Hot pressing was applied also in sintering of other lead-containing perovskites [19, 20].

During the last decade laboratory is focusing on lead-free, especially NBT-based ferroelectrics. Phase transitions in these compositions, which are still not sufficiently understood, are studied in a number of NBT-based solid solutions including NBT-BaTiO₃, NBT-CaTiO₃, NBT-CdTiO₃ [21-23]. Study of sintering at ambient atmosphere, evaluation of microstructure, porosity, deviations from stoichiometry is completed [].

Laboratory has significant experience in ECE studies as well. The laboratory staff has synthesized and studied Pb(Zr,Sn,Ti)O₃ composition with the largest known ECE ΔT value in medium *E* range [24], has revealed large values of ΔT in PbSc_{1/2}Nb_{1/2}O₃ and especially in PbSc_{1/2}Ta_{1/2}O₃ [25] and has studied ECE at the 1st order phase transition between the relaxor and FE states in (Pb,La)(Zr,Ti)O₃ and PbMg_{1/3}Nb_{2/3}O₃. Recently, studies of ECE in NBT-containing solid solutions were performed, again, exceeding ΔT values of 1°C in the medium *E* range [26]. The studies were also devoted to ECE in pure NBT in medium *E* range [11].

Experimental equipment for study of electrocaloric effect at high fields (in range of 100 kV/cm) is created.

Experiments of ECE up to 100 kV/cm are performed in NBT-BT-CT and NBT-BT-NN solid solutions, allowing to evaluate prospects of application of these lead-free materials in cooling devices [27-28].

Three financed projects are running now to contribute in development of planned activities, described in the next part. They are:

- Role of manufacturing process on structure and properties of NBT-based solid solutions (2020-2022).
- Investigation and optimization of cutting-edge lead-free PMUT platform: from materials to devices (2020-2022).
- Development of Lead-Free Ferroelectrics for Application of Electrocaloric Effect (2020-2021).

In 2021 studies of optimisation of sintering atmosphere are finished, including ways of creating of intentional/non-intentional deviation from stoichiometry. Few conclusions: NBT is very stable against deviations from stoichiometry, an evaporation of Bi at high temperatures is possible only from the surface [29-31].

Studies of modulation of luminescence intensity by electric field are finished. Modulation is observed, modulation depth is around 10%. Problems with transparent electrodes and electrical breakdown were encountered.

Dielectric dispersion in frequency range up to 10 GHz is analysed in relaxor ferroelectrics NBT- $Sr_{0.7}Bi_{0.2}TiO_3$. Interpreting obtained results general concepts of relaxor ferroelectrics, freezing and appearance of nonergodic state, are questioned.

Deeper insight into phase transitions in NBT are obtained by PFM, comparing NBT ceramic with different average grain size and comparing structure and phase transition of NBT and NBT-CT.

 $0.9NBT\text{-}\ 0.1Sr_{0.7}Bi_{0.2}TiO_3$ thick films were successfully produced and their structure and ferroelectric properties were characterized.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

<u>Technology.</u>

Aim: to discover lead-free compositions and develop technology of producing of bulk materials and films of ferroelectric materials to participate in international projects with research centres, oriented on implementation ferroelectric materials in applications:

- To improve technology of freestanding thick film production, extending range of parameters, influencing film properties. Optimization of sintering conditions approaching application oriented requirements.
- Lead-free (NBT and BT based) thin films, produced by PLD, for actuator, PMUT applications, luminescence intensity modulation by electric field;
- Microwave (MW) assisted hydrothermal synthesis of NBT to produce NBT nanopowders with different morphology (spherical particles, plates, nanowires). Particles of anisotropic shape are necessary to produce textured films by tape casting.

Application-oriented properties.

Aim: To study ferroelectric properties at high fields, intrinsic and extrinsic contributions in electromechanical properties, requirements for high values of ECE:

- Electromechanical properties piezoelectric coefficients, electromechanical coupling factor, mechanical quality factor, field-induced strains. Searching of materials with a set of properties appropriate for practical application, including reduced hysteresis, weak dependence on temperature, improved breakdown and fatigue resistance;
- Electrocaloric effect at high fields, achieving values of ΔT =5°C and above, paying attention to increasing of breakdown fields and fatigue resistance. Important step will be a transfer from thin plates to thick films, allowing to extend the applied field range. Improvement of electrical breakdown strength and fatigue resistance;
- Electrical characterisation of thin films, obtained by pulsed laser deposition (PLD).

Fundamental research.

- 1. Nature of relaxor state in ferroelectrics.
- 2. Behaviour of ferroelectrics at ultra-high fields. Applicability of Ginsburg-Devonshire theory.

NETWORKING

- Vilnius University, Faculty of Physics, Prof. J. Banys:
 - study of dielectric dispersion, with focus on relaxor state;
 - developing of thick film producing technology by tape casting method.
- University of Duisburg-Essen, Institute for Materials Science and Center for Nanointegration, Dr. V. Shvartsman:
 - AFM, PFM..
- Kirensky Institute of Physics, Russian Academy of Sciences, Krasnoyarsk, 660036 Russia, Prof.I.Flerov:
 - study of thermal properties.
- National Cheng Kung University, Department of Electrical Engineering, Prof. Chih-Hsien Huang:
 - creating of PMUT using lead-free ferroelectrics.

- Fraunhofer institute, Institute of Ceramic technologies and Systems, Germany, Dr. S. Gebhard:
 - creating of prototypes of ECE cooling device.
- Institute of Technical Acoustics, Belarussian Academy of science, Dr.V.Rubanik:
 - to implement optimised technology of manufacturing of ceramic for capacitors.
- Piezoinstitute, the European Institute of Piezoelectric Materials and Devices hub of European expertise and resources on piezoelectric materials and their applications, (ISSP UL participates in this organisation), piezoinstitute.univ-tours.fr

REFERENCES

- 1. J. Rödel, K. G. Webber, R. Dittmer, et al., J. Eur. Ceram. Soc., 35, no. 6, p. 1659 (2015).
- 2. M. Hejazi, E. Taghaddos, E. Gurdal, et al., J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 97, p.3192 (2014).
- 3. M. Li, H. Zhang, S. N. Cook, et al., Chem. Mater. **27**, p.629 (2015).
- 4. K.-S. Moon and S.-J. L. Kang, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 91, p.3191 (2008).
- 5. L. Eglite, M. Antonova, E. Birks, et al., Integr.ferroelectr. 196, p.112 (2019).
- 6. Y. S. Sung, J. M. Kim, J. H. Cho, et al., Appl. Phys. Lett. 98, p.012902 (2011).
- 7. D. K. Khatua, A. Mishra, N. Kumar, et al., Acta Materialia **179**, p.49 (2019).
- 8. Š.S virskas, V.V. Shvartsman, M. Dunce, et al., Acta Materialia 153, p.117 (2018).
- 9. A.S. Mischenko, Q.Zhang, J.F.Scott, Science **311**, p.1270 (2006).
- 10. A. Barman, S. Kar-Narayan, D. Mukherjee, Adv. Mater. Interf. 6, p.1900291 (2019).
- 11. E. Birks, M. Dunce, J.Peräntie, et al., J. Appl. Phys. 121, p.224102 (2017).
- 12. Ye H.-J., Qian X.-S., Jeong D.-Y. et al. Appl. Phys. Lett. 105, 152908 (2014)
- 13. X.-S.Qian, H.-J.Ye, Y.-T.Zhang et al., Adv. Funct. Mater. 24, 1300 (2014).
- 14. A. Nair, T. Usui, S. Crossley, et al., Nature, 575, 468 (2019).
- 15. J. Chen, Y. Wang, L. Wu, et al., J.Alloys Compd. 775, p.865 (2019).
- 16. G. Massimino, L. D' Alessandro, F. Procopi, et al., Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering, vol. 28, 2018.
- 17. D. R. Chou, "Piezoelectric Micromachined Ultrasound Transducers for Medical Imaging," PhD Thesis, Department of Biomedical Engineering Duke University, 2011.
- 18. A. Sternberg Ferroelectrics, 91, p.53 (1989).
- 19. M. Dambekalne, A. Sternberg, I. Brante, et al. Ferroelectrics, 69, p.21 (1986).
- 20. M. Antonova, L. Shebanovs, M. Livinsh, et al. Journal of Electroceramics, 4, p.179 (2000).
- 21. A. Plaude, R. Ignatans, E. Birks et al., Ferroelectrics, 500, p.47 (2016).
- 22. E. Birks, M. Dunce, R. Ignatans, et al., J.Appl.Phys. 119, p.074102 (2016).
- 23. R. Ignatans, M. Dunce, E. Birks, A.S ternberg, J.Mater.Sci., 52, p.7149 (2017).
- 24. A. Fuith, H. Kabelka, E. Birks et al., Ferroelectrics 237, p.153 (2000).
- 25. L. Shebanovs, A. Sternbergs, W.N. Lawless, K. Bormanis Ferroelectrics 184, p.239 (1996).
- 26. **M. Dunce, E. Birks,** J. Peräntie et al., IEEE Transact. Ultrason., Ferroel., Freq. Control **61**, p.1364 (2014).
- 27. O. M. Eberlins, E.Birks, M.Antonova et al., Crystals 12 No134 (2022)
- 28. **O. M. Eberlins, M. Dunce, M. Kundzins, E. Birks**, J. Appl. Phys. **134**, 124102 (2023)
- 29. M. Dunce, E. Birks, M. Antonova et al., J. Alloys Compd. 884, 160955 (2021)
- 30. M. Dunce, E. Birks, M. Antonova et al., J. Amer.Ceram.Soc. 105, p.3874 (2022)
- 31. Bikse L., Dunce M., Birks E., et al., Crystals 11, 1266 (2021)

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

• Development of lead-free thick ferroelectric films for application in actuators and electrocaloric cooling.

TECHNOLOGY, DEVICES AND APPLICATIONS

This section comprises research plans of studies with the main emphasis on creating devices and their creation technology, in difference to the previous sections, which had their main focus un material synthesis and properties.

THIN FILM AND COATING TECHNOLOGIES

STATE OF THE ART.

The EU aims to be climate-neutral by 2050 – an economy with net-zero greenhouse gas emissions. This objective is at the heart of the European Green Deal and in line with the EU's commitment to global climate action under the Paris Agreement [1]. Thin film coatings are widely used in variety of applications in optical, electronic, optoelectronic and photonic devices, including mirrors, smart windows, solar cells, coatings preventing corrosion and to ensure antistatic and adhesion properties and chemical attributes and for food wrap to provide a specific performance characteristic due to their physical and chemical attributes. The global thin films and nanocoatings market includes coatings, which exhibit e.g. superior abrasion resistance, ductility, hardness, lubricity and transparency, as compared to other conventional coatings. A shifting demand towards inorganic nanocoatings instead of polymer coatings, mostly due to superior properties and low Volatile Inorganic Compounds' Impact Air Quality (VOC) emissions, are expected to be major driving forces for the nanocoatings market. In addition, increasing awareness of the benefits of antibacterial and antiviral (anti-COVID-19), self-cleaning and chromogenic coatings in energy, building, mechanical and aerospace applications is expected to increase the market demand [2].

Thin films technologies today are considered as Green Nanotechnologies (PVD, MOCVD, PLD, ALD, etc.)[3] and are key technologies for many large area coatings (solar cells, smart windows, etc.) and multifunctional coatings (antimicrobial, self-cleaning, etc.). Nanocoatings could demonstrate up to 99.9998% effectiveness against bacteria, formaldehyde, mould and viruses, and are up to 1000 times more efficient than previous. Nanocoatings companies already have partnering with global manufacturers and cities to develop anti-viral facemasks, hazard suits and easily applied surface coatings. Thin films activities will contribute as well to reducing the greenhouse gas emissions and enable European industry to stay globally competitive and to fulfil the goals of the Lisbon Treaty [4].

New <u>plasma technologies</u> of High-power impulse magnetron sputtering (HIPIMS) bear an enormous potential for manufacturing coatings with properties exceeding those of state-of-theart by far: better thin film morphology, denser and smoother films can be achieved when compared with standard DC coating technology [5,6]. The major benefit of this new technology is a very high degree of ionised target material, leading to superior coating properties, such as high density, good adhesion, very smooth droplet-free surfaces. The capability of <u>multi targets, hot</u> <u>target, and liquid target</u> HIPIMS to produce new advanced multicomponent high-performance functionalized nanomaterials and multilayers. Improvement will be available in the fields of antibacterial and antiviral coatings, photovoltaics, smart windows, mechanical engineering, medical applications, photo catalytic [5-7].

State-of-the-art of energy-efficient windows is based on low-*energy* and/or solar-control coatings. However, these static windows are not efficient enough throughout the season and cannot get rid of the excess of visible radiation in a dynamic way. The energy savings can be much higher if a switchable (dynamic or smart) window is used rather than a static one. Unfortunately, these windows are still rare in buildings because today's commercially available smart windows are based on electrochromic devices, which consist of five layers, two electrodes and an electrolyte together with the electrochromic and ion storage films. The complexity of the fabrication process makes smart windows costly [2,3], about 800 EUR/m² for a complete insulating glass unit. The implementation of smart windows based on materials with a photochromic effect i.e., exhibiting reversible colour change as a result of the absorption of electromagnetic radiation, allows the development of passive devices, without the need for any extra layers or sensors. Such windows will be activated by solar light and will need neither electricity nor control unit to function and switch automatically on-demand without the need for human intervention [8].

Gallium oxide has become one of the most investigated materials of today. The reason for this large interest is the extremely promising properties for electronic and optical applications of this wide bandgap material, together with the relatively un-expensive substrate wafers. Advanced technologies for growing epitaxial multilayers at high temperatures: MOCVD, PLD and off-centre magnetron sputtering (PVD) demonstrate enormous potential for manufacturing epitaxial layers with properties exceeding those of state of the art by far [9].

OUR POSITION

Based on more than 35 years of experience in vacuum deposition thin film technologies, a well on equipped instrument park of technological facilities, including HIPIMS, MOCVD, PLD and on related characterization methods and equipment, nowadays ISSP UL becomes a recognised centre of excellence for thin film nanotechnologies in Baltic countries.

This direction positively contributes to the achievement of Sustainable Development Goals, European targets for Clean Energy for all Europeans, the Smart Specialisation Strategy of Latvia, and contribute to the European Research Area. This activity was financed by LZP FLPP Nr. lzp-2020/2-0291 and ERAF-073 HIPIMS projects.

The Thin Films Laboratory is mainly focused on thin film deposition and nanocoating of a wide variety of inorganic materials, using different deposition techniques, including the PVD vacuum multifunctional cluster (thermal, e-beam and magnetron sputtering), high power impulse magnetron sputtering (HiPIMS), as well as PLD (Pulsed Laser Deposition), MOCVD (Metal Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition), and ALD (Atomic Layer Deposition). The current scientific projects are targeted on the development of novel advanced materials and coatings. A list of selected publications and patents related to this activity is given below [10-17]. We have patented and published technologies of deposition: (i) an antiviral, yeasticidal and antibacterial nanocoatings; (ii) novel R-HiPIMS technology of deposition of functional TMO (transition metal oxides) thin films and multilayers on a flexible substrate and upscale the process (patent (EU) - EP20020352.9 and (LV) LVP2020000040 + roll-to-roll process technology description); (iii)

cryogenic process - p-type ZnO-ZnO₂; HIPIMS dual magnetron yttrium monoxide; novel thin films ReO₃-WO₃ and ReS₂ with advanced electric and optical properties [11,12].

Thin Films Laboratory is well-positioned to explore new materials for different applications and aimed to increase the research and innovation capacity of the Institute in the area of thin film and technology which is further supported by an extensive publication track-record in both basic and applied physics journals, as well as patents. Thin Films Laboratory is granted by many high rating scientific proposals for 2021-2024 years. In recent years we have developed nanocoating technologies approved by patents and papers for selected themes. On January 12, 2023 Latvian Academy of Sciences published the results of the competition in various fields of science, most outstanding in the nomination "Achievements in Applied Science" was the ISSP Thin Film laboratory's team represented by TF Laboratory: Dr.phys. Juris Purāns, Dr. phys. Ilze Aulika, Dr. phys. Boriss Poļakovs, Dr. phys. Mārtiņš Zubkins and Dr. Habil. phys. Smagul Karazhanov. The authors demonstrated a prominent photochromic effect and a light-induced resistivity change at room temperature and ambient presure, as well as demonstrated a superconducting filament effect in Y-O-H and yttrium hydrides.

Deposition technologies developed in the last years at the ISSP UL are widely and extensively used for thin films and coatings productions. Cutting-edge plasma HIPIMS and dual magnetron co-sputtering technologies developed at ISSP UL are approved by many EU patents [10] and become the process of choice in many EU and LV applied projects and applications: (i) antiviral and antibacterial, (ii) transparent conducting oxides (TCO), multifunctional electrochromic and photochromic thin films etc. Especially HIPIMS processes developed at ISSP UL using dual magnetron sputtering play an important role in the deposition of new materials: Y-O-H, ZnO-IrO₂, ZnO-Al, ReO₃-WO₃, NiO-IrO₂, WO₃/Cu/WO₃) [10]. As evaluated by EU referees, the proposals are of excellent quality with the goal to develop novel and advanced procedures for metal oxide sputter coating of extended surfaces. Such coatings are extremely versatile and used in a variety of electrooptical and semiconductor based applications.

The SAF25/50 multifunctional R&D cluster plant installed at ISSP UL cleanrooms in 2015 and upgraded in 2019 is intended for research and development in the field of thin film technologies. The plant is a multifunctional, expandable, modular and flexible system. The plant comprises an input/output chamber with an ion gun, a central substrate transfer chamber with radial telescopic transport arm and up to 7 deposition chambers. The substrate is positioned horizontally on a holder. Deposition zones are configured for substrate rotation or displacement during upward deposition.

Magnetron HIPIMS sputtering cluster - **G500M** installed at ISSP UL (thin films laboratory) in 2020 is intended for research and development in the field of HIPIMS thin film technologies. The cluster comprises a HIPIMS MELEC power source and 3 deposition chambers. The pumping system consists of turbomolecular and mechanical pumps with and an adjustable gate valve; Ar, O₂, N₂, Ar+H₂, H₂ flows controlled by MKS mass flow controllers; 2 rectangular 150 x 75 mm (or 200 mm x 100 mm) co-sputtering magnetrons in each chamber; substrate temperature between 800°C (chamber N2) and RT- Low T (- 150°C); sputtering modes: DC, pulsed-DC, HIPIMS with unipolar pulses, MF and HIPIMS with bipolar symmetric and asymmetric pulses ES and voltage process control for reactive processes; substrate linear movement. The main goal of activity on the G500M is to develop vacuum thin film deposition technologies for the stable deposition of gallium oxide (Ga₂O₃) and ZnGa₂O₄ thin films by reactive pulsed-DC magnetron sputtering from a liquid Ga target.

Pulsed laser deposition (PLD) is a valuable tool for the production of thin films and epitaxial heterostructures from various materials with complicated stoichiometry. PLD allows a one-to-

one transfer of elements from target to substrate, what is a strong advantage for the deposition of multiple element systems. Different atmospheres (Ar, O₂, N₂, H₂, H₂S) of deposition allow varying of properties of films in a wide range: ZnO, Ga₂O₃, MoS₂, etc. ISSP UL has experience in making high-quality thin films of perovskite structures by PLD as lead-free ferroelectric thin films for non-volatile memories and NEMS, in studying structure and surface topology (AFM), in characterization of dielectric and electromechanical properties.

MOCVD reactor Aixtron (AIX-200RF) is available for the synthesis of epitaxial thin films using liquid metal-organic compounds and gaseous non-metal chemical hydride and oxide gases. The equipment is suitable for the synthesis of classic LED structures, Si, ZnO, and group III nitride 1D nanostructures, as well as for deposition of functional ultra-wide bandgap gallium oxide and metal oxide (GaMeO) thin films and multilayers for optoelectronic and electronic applications. Novel reflecting optical coatings (on a mirrored sapphire substrate - MSS) for LED device structure fabrication based on MOCVD grown epitaxial Ga₂O₃/Al₂O₃ multilayers (prototype, patents, technology description) for adaptive optics. There is a possibility to dope the materials, to obtain n- or p-conductivity. MOCVD equipment provides wide possibilities to manipulate chemical reactants creating different 1D, 2D, and hybrid structures.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The future directions of the research of the Thin Films Laboratory will be closely connected with the recent trends in the European research area summarized in the Strategy Report and Roadmap developed by the European Strategy Forum (Vision and roadmap for European raw materials). The activities will be in compliance with several goals and RIS3 priorities. The research activities will exploit available ISSP UL clean room and thin films facilities in strong collaboration with industrial partners in Latvia and EU. Laboratory is open for collaboration within the EC Programme "Horizon Europe" and any others.

Moreover, ISSP Thin Film laboratory is full of confidence to continue research and ensure significant research excellence within the Horizon Europe financed ERA-Chair project "Smart windows for zero energy buildings" (SWEB)". This project kick-off will take place on 26th of January and implemented during next 5 years with overall budget of 2,4 million EUR focusing on innovative smart windows (SW) solutions, materials and products to foster market growth and address EU-wide climate challenges.

The aim of the Smart Windows for Zero Energy Buildings (SWEB) project is to develop worldleading research on functional materials and their SWEB applications, to advance teaching capacity and to foster institutional governance changes towards excellence and sustainability. Institute of Solid State Physics (ISSP) of the University of Latvia is the leader of Functional Materials and Coating research in Latvia. It concentrates significant resources in materials research, testing, advanced training, and innovation. ISSP key technologies are based on inorganic and organic thin film deposition on a wide variety of materials, using different advanced deposition techniques from existing and new tools. The deposition tools are operated by highly skilled staff, enabling the deposition of novel materials as required by internal research projects and external customers. Currently several ongoing research projects aim at the development of novel advanced materials and coatings for SWEB.

ERA Chair SWEB will establish high-quality researcher and expert team by synergistically merging chromogenic SW materials and complementary competencies at ISSP and bridging the gap between research and technology transfer. The knowledge gained will increase research excellence, visibility, and attractiveness of ISSP and Latvia in general, thus enhancing participation in ERA. Furthermore, these ambitious research and innovation goals targeting
emerging next-generation chromogenic SW development will lay the foundation for further technical development and innovative production of SWEB in other regions of the EU. Ultimately, society as a whole will benefit from excellent job opportunities for specialists, more youths are drawn to prestigious technology and engineering-oriented higher education, a bridge between R&D and the public, and consumers will indirectly benefit from shorter prototype to market development cycles of targeted chromogenic SW.

Development of new energy saving and chromogenic materials and devices, developing scalable deposition methods, stability testing protocols for photochromic and thermochromic films, indoor and outdoor testing. Successful implementation of the project in terms of photochromic, thermochromic, and static energy saving coatings, developing scalable synthesis methods will open new possibilities for R&D activities at ISSP enhance industry-academic collaboration, and creating new start-up companies. It will improve such fields as energy-saving and SW, sensors, ophthalmic lenses, and medical devices. These achievements will possibly affect the innovation capability of the EU market on a long-term time scale.

The future market of SW and zero energy buildings (SWEB) will rely on a variety of innovative SW solutions and products in order to meet the market growth potential and address the grand environmental challenges faced by EU to achieve and sustain a zero energy buildings market. Development of non-toxic, earth abundant, long-term functional SW materials (photochromic, thermochromic, electrochromic, transparent conducting), along with implementation of cost-effective, robust and industrially scalable, rapid, resource saving technologies for fabrication of low-cost thin film SW and chromogenic devices with flexibility in design, such as photochromic, thermochromic and electrochromic SW, self-powered SW – the basis for zero energy buildings, smart cities and smart villages. The SWEB aims to recruit a Knowledge Developer and Manager to bring complementary knowledge to the existing core team, and thereby enhance scientific excellence, to increase visibility and attractiveness, and to bridge the gap between research and technology transfer. This will positively contribute to achievement of Sustainable Development Goals, European targets for Clean Energy for all Europeans, the Smart Specialisation Strategy of Latvia, and to the contribution to the European Research Area.

A roadmap for ISSP UL for the forthcoming 7 years activity will be built in line with current Laboratory approved projects and forecasted industrial and societal challenges laid out in the "Horizon Europe" Programme, including "Buildings and industrial facilities in energy transition", "Advanced Materials", and "Key digital Technologies.

The main goals will be to develop <u>cutting-edge</u> technologies for deposition and epitaxial grows thin films and multilayers:

- High rate <u>dual-magnetron R-HIPIMS</u> technology for deposition of functional TMO thin films and multilayers on flexible substrate and upscale to the roll-to-roll process;
- Liquid <u>target (Ga)</u> and <u>off-centre</u> HIPIMS growth of epitaxial ultra-wide bandgap gallium oxide and metal oxide (GaMeO) thin films and multilayers for deep UV optoelectronics and electronic applications;
- Reactive HiPIMS deposition of hydride-based (Y-O-H, RE-O-H) films for emerging energy technologies;
- MOCVD technology for epitaxial growths of Ga₂O₃ and ZnGa₂O₄ layers and to establish nand p-type Ga₂O₃ and ZnGa₂O₄ epitaxial film growth processes for deep UV optoelectronics and electronics applications;
- PLD deposition of lead-free ferroelectric thin films for non-volatile memories and NEMS;
- PLD deposition of 2D materials MoS₂, WS₂, ReS₂;

The aim of <u>UVWB</u> research activities will be to develop advanced high rate PVD magnetron sputtering and MOCVD technologies for deposition of functional ultra-wide bandgap gallium oxide and metal oxide (GaMeO) thin films and multilayers for optoelectronic and electronic applications. Novel reflecting optical coatings (on mirrored sapphire substrate - MSS) for LED device structure fabrication based on MOCVD grown epitaxial Ga₂O₃/Al₂O₃ multilayers (prototype, patents, technology description) for adaptive optics. The research methodology is focussed on making gallium oxide viable for a broader range of semiconductor material applications by forming it as p-type through the controlled insertion of dopants or its formation as a ternary material with addition of Zn. The extension of this to the formation of amorphous films is also included though less well developed as an idea. PVD magnetron sputtering technique will be adapted by the researchers to control the properties of the films using high rate magnetron sputtering and having targets at elevated temperatures. In parallel, the researchers will develop an MOCVD approach for epitaxial growth of the films.

The aim of 2D research activities will be to develop advanced 2D layered materials. A rich choice and high tunability of 2D materials promote the development of next generation electronic, optoelectronic and energy devices with specific functions. We are planning to investigate hybrid systems of layered CDW materials grown on substrates with hexagonal crystal structure stable in the corrosive sulfur atmosphere such as GaN, InN and ZnS, and materials which can be converted into sulfides such as ZnO (into ZnS) and CdO (into CdS). Layered CDW materials to be studied are mainly TMDs materials (TaS₂, VS₂, TiSe₂, etc.). Multiple synthesis techniques will be used and compared to grow CDW material shell (such as pulsed laser deposition, magnetron sputtering, atomic layer deposition, etc.).

In the framework of approved projects for Laboratory, we will develop the following technologies and advanced materials:

- high rate PVD magnetron sputtering technology for deposition of pure and doped (ptype dopants and RE) amorphous and crystalline gallium oxide Ga₂O₃ thin films and ZnGa₂O₄ thin films. The applications in focus are: (I) high power electronics; (ii) deep UV TCOs/TSOs optoelectronics; (iii) efficient inorganic luminescence devices (a-Ga₂O_x:RE);
- MOCVD technology of Ga₂O₃ and ZnGa₂O₄ thin films deposition and to establish epitaxial n- and p-type Ga₂O₃ and ZnGa₂O₄ thin film growth processes for deep UV optoelectronics and high-power electronics applications;
- advanced multifunctional smart metal oxide large area nanocoatings and multilayers: electrochromic (WO₃, ReO₃, MoO₃, NiO, IrO₂), photochromic (RE-O-H) and thermochromic systems;
- PLD deposition of 2D materials MoS₂, WS₂, ReS₂; hybrid systems of layered CDW materials grown on substrates with hexagonal crystal structure stable in the corrosive sulfur atmosphere such as GaN, InN and ZnS, and materials which can be converted into sulfides such as ZnO (into ZnS) and CdO (into CdS);
- antibacterial, antiviral catalytic and photocatalytic coatings for Green Large-Area Surfaces (Cu-WO₃, BiVO₃, WO₃-TiO₂;
- cryogenic technology of PVD magnetron sputtering for UV-VIS-IR transparent conducting oxides (TCO) thin films: n- and p-type ZnO-ZnO₂, a-In₂O₃-SnO₂ (ITO) for flexible optoelectronics.
- magnetron sputtering process for MgB₂-based thin film growth including epitaxially strained coatings on various material nanowires, solid solutions with co-sputtered interstitial impurities of various metals and few-atom-thick hydrogenated MgB₂ layers

NETWORKING

The activities at Thin Film Laboratory will be further based on the development of existing collaboration with strong European partners: (i) Royal Institute of Technology (KTH) Stockholm; (ii) RISE - Research Institutes of Sweden, Stockholm; (iii) Department of Engineering Sciences, Uppsala University; (iv) Fondazione Bruno Kessler, Centre for Materials; (v) Fraunhofer Institute or Surface Engineering and Thin Films IST Braunschweig, Germany. The collaboration is built to achieve synergetic effects among the participating international partners, capitalizing on a strong background of fundamental and applied research, and exploiting recently advanced infrastructure at ISSP UL.

Thin films and nanocoating technologies represent an enabling core technology platform at the ISSP UL, where the Institute already has well-established collaboration with local nanocoating and thin film industry (e.g. SIDRABE, GroGlass, EuroLCDS, RD ALFA Microelectronics and others). There is, however, a much larger potential for thin film technologies, nanocoatings and devices that can contribute to strengthening of European industries.

REFERENCES

- 1.EU's commitment to global climate action under the Paris Agreement (<u>https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2050 en</u>).
- 2. Thin Film Coatings Market Global Industry Analysis, Size, Share, Growth, Trends, and Forecast, 2019 2027.
- 3. Green Nanotechnology: Solutions for Sustainability and Energy in the Built Environment GB SmithC, G Granqvist, G Nanotechnology 2010 CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Lisbon Treaty " Official Journal of the European Union, ISSN 1725-2423 C 115 Volume 51, 9 May 2008, retrieved 1 June 2014
- 5. A. Anders, Tutorial: Reactive high power impulse magnetron sputtering (R-HiPIMS), J. Appl. Phys. 121, (2017), 171101.
- 6. S. Biran Ay, N.K.Perkgoz, Nanotechnological Advances in Catalytic Thin Films for Green Large-Area Surfaces, Journal of Nanomaterials, 2015, Article ID 257547, 20];
- 7. Kageyama, H., Hayashi, K., Maeda, K. *et al.* Expanding frontiers in materials chemistry and physics with multiple anions. *Nat Commun* **9**, 772 (2018).
- 8. European Commission. Smart windows with electrochromic film: almost ready for prime time. *Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities* (2015).
- 9. S.J.Pearton et. al, A review of Ga_2O_3 materials, processing, and devices, Applied Physics Reviews 5, (2018) 011301.
- 10. ISSP UL patents on thin films deposition technologies:
- (a) J.Purans, EU Patent EP2881974B1 Method and device for controlling reactive sputtering deposition (18.07.2018 Bulletin 2018/29);
- (b) **J.Purans**, EU Patent EP2881973A1 Device and method for PVD process diagnostic using X-ray fluorescence local probe (2015-06-10);
- (c) **J. Purans** et al. Patent Nr.LVP2020000079, An antiviral, yeasticidal and antibacterial nanocoating (23.11.2020);
- (d) **M.Zubkins**, EU Patent EP20020352.9, A method for magnetron sputtering deposition of Zinc peroxide films at cryogenic temperature (04.09.2020);
- (e) **A.Azens**, LV Patent LVP2020000040, Device for magnetron sputtering deposition (15.05.2020);
- (f) **H.Arslan**, LV Patent L VP2020000090 (14.12.2020).
- 11. **B. Polyakov, J.Purans** et al., Understanding the Conversion Process of Magnetron-Deposited Thin Films of Amorphous ReOx to Crystalline ReO₃ upon Thermal Annealing, Cryst. Growth Des. 2020, 20, 6147-6156;
- 12. **B. Polyakov** et al, Synthesis and characterization of GaN/ReS₂, ZnS/ReS₂ and ZnO/ReS₂ core/ shell nanowire heterostructures", Applied Surface Science 536 (2021) 147841.
- 13. S.Khartsev, N.Nordell, M.Hammar, **J.Purans**, and A.Hallén, High-Quality Si-Doped ß-Ga2O₃ Films on Sapphire Fabricated by Pulsed Laser Deposition Phys. Status Solidi B 2020, 2000362;

- 14. **J. Purans** et.al, Changes in structure and conduction type upon addition of Ir to ZnO thin films, Thin Solid Films 636 (2017) 694–701;
- 15. **M. Zubkins** et al. Amorphous ultra-wide bandgap ZnOx thin films deposited at cryogenic temperatures, J. Appl. Phys. 128, 215303 (2020)];
- 16. **J. Purans** et.al, Local electronic structure rearrangements and strong anharmonicity in YH₃ under pressure up to 180 GPa, Nature Communications 12, 1765 (2021);
- 17. **M. Zubkins, J. Purans** et.al, The local atomic structure and thermoelectric properties of Irdoped ZnO: hybrid DFT calculations and XAS experiments, J. Mater. Chem. C 9, 4948-4960 (2021);

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Magnetron HIPIMS sputtering cluster **G500M** installed at ISSP UL (thin films laboratory) in 2020 is intended for research and development in the field of HIPIMS thin film technologies. The cluster comprises a HIPIMS MELEC power source and 3 deposition chambers. The pumping system consists of turbomolecular and mechanical pumps with and an adjustable gate valve; Ar, O₂, N₂, Ar+H₂, H₂ flows controlled by MKS mass flow controllers; 2 rectangular 150 x 75 mm (or 200 mm x 100 mm) co-sputtering magnetrons in each chamber; substrate temperature between 800°C (chamber N2) and RT- Low T (-150°C); sputtering modes: DC, pulsed-DC, HIPIMS with unipolar pulses, MF and HIPIMS with bipolar symmetric and asymmetric pulses ES and voltage process control for reactive processes; substrate linear movement. The main goal of activity on the G500M is to develop vacuum thin film deposition technologies for the stable deposition of gallium oxide (Ga₂O₃) and ZnGa₂O₄ thin films by reactive pulsed-DC magnetron sputtering from a liquid Ga target.
- Reactive HiPIMS deposition of hydride-based (Y-O-H, RE-O-H) films for emerging energy technologies

PROTOTYPING OF MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES

The Laboratory of Prototyping of Electronic & Photonic Devices is interested in using functional microfluidics for future applications in the healthcare and health-tech. We see personalized and precision medicine as one of the key areas for our work, with a particular focus on:

- Organ-on-a-chip (OOC) for microbiome research and biomarkers;
- Lab-on-a-chip devices for biomarkers in oncology.

There is large interest in both topics right now, and both are reliant on the use of microfluidics, which from ISSP UL perspective in-turn is based on the core function of this laboratory – physical device prototyping in the cleanroom environment.

STATE OF ART

OOCs are microfluidic systems with controlled, dynamic microenvironments in which cultured cells exhibit functions that recapitulate organ-level physiology. Microfluidic devices allow human organ function replication by culturing relevant epithelial and endothelial cells in separate microfluidic channels that are separated by a porous membrane. Application of shear and

mechanical forces onto the confluent monolayers of cells grown in the microfluidic channels result in cell activity levels and biomarker expression in the same level as it would be in living conditions [1]. This implies that in OOC devices it is possible to replicate physiologically relevant microenvironment for cell growth. OOC devices have the chance to ultimately replace animal testing due more relevant organ-function models, where actual human cells are used [2,3]. This is still pending regulatory approval, although FDA (in USA) is already involved in OOC testing, and has recently allowed vaccine and drug testing for Covid-19-related projects to be done on lungon-chip devices. OOC devices could be the ultimate test bed for various pharmaceutical developers and research institutions that need accurate human model systems that are more repeatable, cheaper, and more ethical. The focus of our group in the OOC area is on use of novel materials (and subsequently fabrication methods), as the currently available OOC devices are not performing to the standards expected by the pharmaceutical industry. OOC devices are based on the concept that it is possible to replicate certain functions of a human organ by culturing the relevant human organ cells (e.g., gut epithelial cells and endothelium cells for simulating intestine function) in horizontal microfluidic channels separated by a porous membrane [4]. The culture media is flowed over both sides of the membrane ensuring that cells are supplied with culture medium and metabolic waste is removed. As the cells proliferate and form a confluent monolayer on both sides of the membrane, an OOC system is formed that can mimic an organ tissue response to external stimuli. In the current state of the art, OOC technology has already been shown as a promising model system for pharmacokinetic (PK) drug responses, toxicity studies, viral disease studies, and cancer studies [1,4-6]. OOC can be 'personalised' to reflect individual physiology, for example by including blood samples, primary human tissue, and cells derived from iPSC [7]. Alongside the use of biological material from the patient, it is possible to tune personal physico-chemical parameters to mimic the in vivo cell culture conditions. As such, this shows the opportunities for person-specific drug efficacy and safety testing presented using OOC technology, thus paving the way for truly personalised medicine [7]. In conclusion, current state of the art is:

- accurate single-organ model system with focus on accurate cellular composition representation;
- PK/PD studies on a single organ level;
- Personalisation of chips actual patient cell utilisation in OOC model building.

Previous examples have been focused on a single organ replication, yet human physiology must be studied at a systemic level to ensure accurate modelling of the system response [8]. Subsequently, state of the art in systemic human representation includes multi organ chips and their linking together. Multi-OOC devices have been used to develop models for quantitative prediction of PK response to drugs; this has been done in by interconnecting intestine, liver and kidney chips using a sophisticated pipetting robot which ensures the interconnection [1,9] or fluidic interconnects [10]. Another example is cancer modelling (and subsequent PK-PD) via multi OOC devices, as it has been in the case of four organs [11].

There have been numerous seminal studies done by various groups utilising OOC technology, yet at the core of the device design not much has changed in the last decade or so since OOC chips have been around [4,6,12]. The vast majority of the chips are fabricated from PDMS, which has significant small molecule absorption and is notoriously hard to upscale in terms of manufacturing [13,14]. This leads to problems of utilisation of OOC devices in pharmaceutical research and significant prices of the devices, respectively. Furthermore, gas permeation in the PDMS devices is somewhat limiting truly anaerobic condition generation, not exactly representative of human intestine conditions. Consequently, the uptake of OOC devices in the research industry has been limited [15]. Use of alternative materials would allow to fabricate these OOC systems using mass-manufacturing compatible methods, thus providing room for significant price reduction and ability to supply the experiments at volumes required by the industry. By selecting alternative materials, it would also be possible to tackle the issue with gas permeability in the OOC systems, e.g. to create truly anaerobic conditions in the intestine cell chambers allowing better representation of microbiota. OOC technology offers to build multiple organs and even organ systems, for example, to observe PK/PD responses to drugs and evaluate their toxicity.

Recently, there has been a few attempts at producing alternative-material OOCs from Kang group [16] and Jeon group [17] (both in Korea) and George group (UC Davies, U.S., unpublished). However, there has not been a major publication showing PDMS-free OOC devices that have been utilized in conjunction with drug development studies. It is noteworthy that majority of the innovation within the alternative material field is likely coming in the form of various start-ups developing the technology under confidentiality.

Furthermore, particular focus in conferences – MicroTAS 2022, MPS World Summit 2022 and EurOOCs 2022 – three largest conferences in the field, all attended by ISSP UL members, have been on sensors aimed for understanding cellular metabolism. Of particular importance has been glucose and lactate sensor development in the field, which is now evidenced by recent publications in the field, as well as the large interest and poster presentation garnered within the conferences. [25, 26] In the field of gut on chip, there is still heightened interest in the O2 sensing to aid the gas environment understanding within the epithelial channels.

OUR POSITION

The focus of our group in the OOC area is on use of novel materials (and subsequently fabrication methods), as the currently available OOC devices are not performing to the standards expected by the pharmaceutical industry. We have shown lung-on-chip device fabricated from SEBS material with currently on-going biology tests at a partner organisation.

Our group is focused on the design and development of novel OOC devices that would be suitable for large scale manufacturing. Furthermore, there have been shown proof of principle (POP) devices that integrate TEER [18] and various gas and pH sensors [19]. Yet most of these are POPs; therefore, we are investigating robust and scalable techniques in fabricating these crucial sensing elements for OOC technology. In terms of TRL levels, in the past year we have developed PDMS-alternative OOC devices from styrene-ethylene-butylene-styrene (SEBS) with polycarbonate membranes, which now are undergoing biological testing in Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre (BMC). Should the biological testing succeed, it would result in a state-of-the-art OOC device from an engineering perspective. Furthermore, we have developed an OOC device, where both channel blocks and membrane consist of off-stoichiometry (OSTE). More testing and development work in necessary, but this is a completely new approach to OOC device fabrication, one that is using scalable materials and processes and a likely source of IP. With biological testing pending, SEBS and OSTE devices have a TRL of 4. We have a parallel work ongoing in this area, where we will integrate oxygen and trans-epithelial electrical resistance (TEER) sensors in the form of luer-like plugs, intended for easy integration in chip and assembly. This work is on-going and the current TRL is between 2 and 3 depending on the sensor type.

Throughout the 2021, we have developed a novel OSTE/COC fabrication process, which allows to fabricate OOC devices with significantly improved small molecule and gas permeability properties. We also have shown the initial experimental data on TEER and oxygen sensor integration within the chips with a major publication expected to come in 2022.

Furthermore, as a part of LIAA project, we have submitted a patent for design elements of a novel GOC device that would enable large scale next generation device manufacturing.

In 2022, previously developed chips have been used to show full human microbiota culturing in gut on chip devices. Subsequent analysis of microbiome diversity via advanced sequencing has shown that >95% of the bacteria still present in the chip after more than 72 h are either strict anaerobic or anaerobic. This result confirms that the fabricated devices allow for superior gut microenvironment recapitulation on the ISSP-made chip. Throughout the 2022, experiments were done to show bacterial extracellular vesicle transfer across the gut-blood barrier. In 2023 multi-OOC experiments will be started, as a project for connecting kidney-liver-pancreas system has been won for the two years starting 2023.

The 2022 patent application has been turned into PCT application with the same priority date for priority retention. Furthermore, the EP patent application made in 2022 has been sold to Latvian spin-off company Cellbox Labs, which will commercialise this technology.

Regarding oncology-related biomarker work, our core interest is connected to Dr. A. Line group in BMC, where the group interests lie in EVs. EVs are a heterogeneous group of membraneenclosed vesicles that are released by various types of cells, including MSCs. Their ability to transfer different types of molecules from cell-to-cell that influence the behaviour of recipient cells has led to an increased number of studies about their role in cancer progression and potential applications in cancer treatment [18]. EVs have been shown to transfer genetic material, proteins, bioactive lipids, and other signalling molecules, among cells in a paracrine and systematic manner in all human biological fluids, thereby mediating intercellular communication and regulating normal physiological conditions and pathological processes. In the last few years, EVs have emerged as novel putative therapeutic tools and biomarkers for the treatment and diagnosis of various diseases, including cancer [21]. Theoretically, EVs can be studied and applied in clinics by their concentrations in biofluids, their cargo, density, electrical potential, refraction index and their functional effects, however, methodologies remain as one of the major challenges within the field. Therefore, new methods for EV isolation from high volume samples are necessary to enable urine EV and cell culture media EV implementation in different disease diagnostics and therapeutic EV production in cell culture bioreactors [22, 23]. Current state of the art includes:

- EV capturing from highly concentrated liquids (such as blood plasma);
- EV analysis using separate, lab-grade equipment.

Our collaboration with BMC aims to develop a device that allows for recovering EVs from cell culture media and urine. Since the yield of the existing methods is highly variable and leads to variable research results, this project aims to develop a device suitable for EV isolation from large volume samples with high reproducibility. The device is based on particle separation through field-flow fractionation (FFF). This project sets out to utilise the working in principles of FFF, but a device that does not require concentration steps from the user, thus significantly easing the sample preparation and further reducing the time consumed. Currently, ISSP UL has developed its design while the BMC group has tested selected materials for device manufacturing. PDMS, the current golden standard in microfluidics, was compared with OSTE and SEBS materials that are more suitable for largescale manufacturing based on EV and fluorescent dye *CellVue* absorption. OSTE was selected for device fabrication and testing in the future based on preliminary results. We have not yet demonstrated the working concept of EV separation device, but we have done an appropriate material selection; therefore, within the next year we expect the first results of EV separation efficiency using these devices. Subsequently, this project has TRL 2 on the way to 3.

Throughout the year 2021 we have performed the experimental work with EV separation devices with initial results presented in The 25th International Conference on Miniaturized Systems for Chemistry and Life Sciences MicroTAS 2021 conference. Further experiments are in progress to optimise device performance in use of large-volume samples. Subsequently, the TRL level for this technology so far is 3 on the way to 4.

In 2022 we presented the nanoparticle separation results from the aforementioned projects in MicroTAS 2022, and two publications relating to nanoparticle and EV-separation are in progress for submissions in Polymers (IF=5) and Journal of Extracellular vesicles (IF = 17).

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

Further work in this area will be devoted to multiple models supporting the necessary design changes for various models. Further research at ISSP UL side will be in the area of sensor integration (TEER, O₂, CO₂ and pH), and membrane engineering, which would allow to naturally support the biological models requiring 3D cell arrangement, such as, *villi* structures in intestine.

Our core contribution will be in the domain of Health. The OOC technology is relevant in the context of the Health, especially in the realm of drug discovery, diagnostics, and personalised medicine; subsequently, we could part take with all the OOC related capacity and knowledge. Our current EU partners are from KTH and VITO; eventually, we would expect to take part in the project submission proposals with these partners (and obviously other institutions).

Fundamentally, the future direction of the work in the biotechnology realm from the Prototyping lab perspective is in the field of applied microfluidics and microfabrication, which corresponds to the group's competencies. The core principle of the research work done here is that the impact of the work should be well beyond just the POP demonstration; it should have an industrial or applied science application, and an increased commercialisation opportunity. Our work will continue in the area of OOC technology, biomarkers for oncology, especially in the personalised medicine area and point of care diagnostics.

Currently, our core direction in OOC technology is design and development of OOC devices from scalable materials and suitable for large volume manufacturing. Alongside, we will be investigating integration of sensing technology to these chips keeping the ethos of scalability and compatibility with volume manufacturing. This research goes together with research into advanced biological model development at BMC, where these chips are deployed. Subsequently, design and devices changes are driven by our collaboration partner. Future directions will include 3D engineering of membranes used in OOC devices with the goal of enhancing cell adhesion and accurate biological model representation at a cellular distribution level. Subsequent steps will be multiple organ devices that combine inputs and outputs of multi-organs systems, again requiring collaboration with biological partners. Our work in this will be engineering of multi-organ device integration and potentially multi-organ fabrication in a single chip. OOC technology is an active IP generation and publishing area due to its' potential impact on pharmaceutical developments, but also serving as a general model system that is highly representative of human physiology. As mentioned previously, in the last 5 years, 16% of publications were published in Nature, Science or Cell (all with IF close to 40). In terms of commercialisation, OOC technology is has an estimated total addressable market (TAM) of EUR 4.5 billion annually, in the pharmaceutical discovery market alone. TAM estimate is obtained via estimating the saving of R&D costs per drug and imposing that over the average number of approved drugs per year. Previously mentioned tool acquisition would significantly enhance group's competitiveness in international scale.

Our biomarker research efforts will be associated with EV-related research due to the great promise that EV technology holds in the area of cancer diagnostics and treatments. EVs are scarce, and purification and concentration of these nanoparticles is still far from efficient; therefore, our short-term effort will be focused on the EV separation. Future directions of EVresearch will be the use of lab-on-chip technologies to develop not only EV capturing, but also onchip analysis capabilities. An example of such activity are two ERD project proposals about onchip EV capturing and optical sensing submitted together with Line group from BMC and Laboratory of Organic materials from ISSP UL. On-chip sensor integration for EV probing on-chip could also be implemented in the form of impedance sensing and electrochemical sensing, all of which are reliant on groups core capability - microfabrication design and technology development. Our efforts in the sensor area currently are in the form of collaboration with Dr. Qin Wang from RISE on graphene sensor development and associated PostDoc project proposal for Dr. Tom Yager, who, if accepted, will focus on graphene sensing technology development that could also be used for EV detection and analysis. Intricate sensor development will require hiring postdoc/experienced personnel in this area as this competence in group is limited. Tooling-wise, cleanroom is currently well equipped for tackling this area, but injection moulding or hotembossing technology would allow to work with materials better suited for industrial applications of EV separation.

The main potential industrial partners are pharmaceutical companies in Europe. None of the pharmaceutical companies make their own OOC devices – R&D is done using collaborations with academia and companies. This is a new field for pharmaceutical companies, and technologies available on the market are early stage with a particular focus on proof of concept, thereby the currently available systems are not user friendly or have a high experimental throughput necessary for industrial applications. ISSP UL proposal to this problem would offer a well-engineered system consisting of engineered microfluidic devices and an instrument to run these, and well-developed cell culture protocols that would be prepared in cooperation with BMC. Pharma industry has started to work with OOC systems only in the last couple of years; therefore, it is a fantastic opportunity to start cooperation early, which would result in a symbiotic cooperation. Some of the companies, who have started to work with organs on chips:

- AstraZeneca (we have engagement);
- GlaxoSmithKline (we have engagement);
- Roche (we have engagement);
- Pfizer;
- Bayer.
- Thermofisher
- Merck (we have engagement);
- Novartis (we have engagement);
- Janssen J&J Company (we have engagement);
- Abbvie
- Evotec
- Charles River laboratories (we have engagement);
- Covance/Labcorp (we have engagement);
- Eurofins (we have engagement);
- Agilent

However, the big pharma companies are unlikely to develop their own OOC systems, they are more likely to buy an existing solution or collaborate with a highly skilled group, which presents an opportunity for ISSP UL within this area. In terms of value chains affected, OOC devices will

contribute to the drug efficacy and toxicity studies in the first few years of their development. Although replacing animal studies and animal models is the most obvious application of such technology, it is unlikely that the OOC devices will be replacing animal trials in the near future (< 5 years). This is due to the current legislation, which carries large momentum and would require more than 5 years and large number of evidences for any meaningful change in the drug testing area. It is estimated that 10 - 24% of drug R&D costs could be saved through a strategic use of organ on chip technology [24].

NETWORKING

Cooperation partners:

- Biomedical research and study centre, J. Klovins group, (Latvia);
- K. Jaudzems group, Latvian Institute of Organic Synthesis
- Flemish institute for technological research VITO, I. Nelissen group (Belgium);
- KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm (Sweden), A.Herland group;
- The Karolinska Institute (Sweden),
- R. Loranzo, Katajitso lab;
- 0. Parlak, Richter-Dahlfors Laboratory;
- RISE, Dag Ilver and Anatol Krozer (Sweden);
- The Max Delbrück Centre for Molecular Medicine in the Helmholtz Association, Forslund lab, (Germany);
- BIOS Lab on a chip (University of Twente);
- Riga Stradins University, Cakstina's group ;
- The Wyss Institute for Biologically Inspired Engineering at Harvard University;
- University of Twente BIOS: Lab-on-a-chip group;
- U. Beitnere, UC Davies
- D. Konetski, Oregon Health & Science University
- Y. Chen, University of Connecticut
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology Griffith Lab.
- Beatrise Berzina, Technische Universität Dresden

REFERENCES

- 1. Herland, A. et al. Quantitative prediction of human pharmacokinetic responses to drugs via fluidically coupled vascularized organ chips. Nat. Biomed. Eng. (2020). doi:10.1038/s41551-019-0498-9
- 2. Franzen, N. et al. Impact of organ-on-a-chip technology on pharmaceutical R&D costs. Drug Discov. Today 24, 1720–1724 (2019).
- 3. van der Merwe, Y. & Steketee, M. B. Extracellular Vesicles: Biomarkers, Therapeutics, and Vehicles in the Visual System. Curr Ophthalmol Rep 5, 276–282 (2017).
- 4. Huh, D. et al. Reconstituting organ-level lung functions on a chip. Science (80-.). 328, 1662–1668 (2010).
- 5. Park, T. E. et al. Hypoxia-enhanced Blood-Brain Barrier Chip recapitulates human barrier function and shuttling of drugs and antibodies. Nat. Commun. 10, 1–12 (2019).
- 6. Jang, K. J. et al. Reproducing human and cross-species drug toxicities using a Liver-Chip. Sci. Transl. Med. 11, (2019).
- 7. Van Den Berg, A., Mummery, C. L., Passier, R. & Van der Meer, A. D. Personalised organs-onchips: functional testing for precision medicine. Lab Chip 19, 198–205 (2019).
- 8. Wu, Q. et al. Organ-on-a-chip: Recent breakthroughs and future prospects. Biomed. Eng. Online 19, 1–19 (2020).

- 9. Novak, R. et al. Robotic fluidic coupling and interrogation of multiple vascularized organ chips. Nat. Biomed. Eng. (2020). doi:10.1038/s41551-019-0497-x
- 10. Lee, H. et al. A pumpless multi-organ-on-a-chip (MOC) combined with a pharmacokinetic– pharmacodynamic (PK–PD) model. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 114, 432–443 (2017).
- 11. Satoh, T. et al. A multi-throughput multi-organ-on-a-chip system on a plate formatted pneumatic pressure-driven medium circulation platform. Lab Chip 18, 115–125 (2018).
- 12. Bhatia, S. N. & Ingber, D. E. Microfluidic organs-on-chips. Nat Biotechnol 32, 760–772 (2014).
- 13. Sackmann, E. K., Fulton, A. L. & Beebe, D. J. The present and future role of microfluidics in biomedical research. Nature 507, 181–189 (2014).
- 14. van Meer, B. J. et al. Small molecule absorption by PDMS in the context of drug response bioassays. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 482, 323–328 (2017).
- 15. Mastrangeli, M. Building blocks for a European Organ-on-Chip roadmap. ALTEX 36, 481–492 (2019).
- 16. Chio et al., Condensed ECM-based nanofilms on highly permeable PET membranes for robust cell-to-cell communications with improved optical clarity. Biofabrication, 045020 (2021).
- 17. Lim et al., Microvascularized tumor organoids-on-chips: advancing preclinical drug screening with pathophysiological relevance. Nano Convergence, 12 (2021).
- 18. Giampetruzzi, L. et al. Multi-Sensors Integration in a Human Gut-On-Chip Platform. Proceedings 2, 1022 (2018).
- 19. Jalili-Firoozinezhad, S. et al. A complex human gut microbiome cultured in an anaerobic intestine-on-a-chip. Nat Biomed Eng 3, 520–531 (2019).
- 20. Patel, G. K. et al. Comparative analysis of exosome isolation methods using culture supernatant for optimum yield, purity and downstream applications. Sci. Rep. 9, 5335 (2019).
- van der Merwe, Y. & Steketee, M. B. Correction to: Extracellular Vesicles: Biomarkers, Therapeutics, and Vehicles in the Visual System (Current Ophthalmology Reports, (2017), 5, 4, (276-282), 10.1007/s40135-017-0153-0). Curr. Ophthalmol. Rep. 6, 58 (2018).
- Kanwar, S. S., Dunlay, C. J., Simeone, D. M. & Nagrath, S. Microfluidic device (ExoChip) for onchip isolation, quantification and characterization of circulating exosomes. Lab Chip 14, 1891– 1900 (2014).
- 23. Zhang, P. et al. Ultrasensitive detection of circulating exosomes with a 3D-nanopatterned microfluidic chip. Nat. Biomed. Eng. 3, 438–451 (2019).
- 24. Zhang, H. & Lyden, D. Asymmetric-flow field-flow fractionation technology for exomere and small extracellular vesicle separation and characterization. Nat. Protoc. 14, 1027–1053 (2019).
- Matthiesen, I.; Nasiri, R.; Tamashiro Orrego, A.; Winkler, T.E.; Herland, A. Metabolic Assessment of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells-Derived Astrocytes and Fetal Primary Astrocytes: Lactate and Glucose Turnover. Biosensors 2022, 12, 839. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bios12100839</u>
- 26. J. Dornhof, J. Kieninger, H. Muralidharan. J. Maurer, G. A. Urbana, A. Weltin, Microfluidic organon-chip system for multi-analyte monitoring of metabolites in 3D cell cultures, Lab on Chip, 22, 225-239 (2022).

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Submitted PCT application for the EP patent covering the mass-manufacturable organ on chip devices
- Sold the EP patent application to startup Cellbox Labs that will commercialize the technology
- The previously shown GOC device can indeed create superior microenvironment, which allows to culture human microbiome in the chips. Publication will be submitted to journal Small.

- Refined the OSTE-COC fabrication process, developed internal process controls and optimised fabrication methods to meet the increasing demand for ISSP UL-made devices.
- EV-related activities will see 2 publications prepared and published concluding the first Latvian Council of Science project.

POLYMER PHOTONICS TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM

STATE OF THE ART

Integrated circuits are essential parts of almost all modern technologies from personal computers, medical devices to cars and spacecrafts. Much of the functionality of these electrical components can be replaced with photonic components to create photonic integrated circuits, which use light instead of electrons. Higher speed, lower energy consumption and greater bandwidth are just a few advantages as compared to conventional circuits.

In the last couple of decades, huge effort has been put into the development of photonics platforms based on various materials such as Si, Si₃N₄, InP, LiNbO₃, GaAs and others. Only few of them (Si, Si₃N₄, InP) have turned into eco-systems resembling semiconductors industry of design house, foundries, fabless companies and multi project wafer (MPW) services of photonics integrated circuits (PICs). Silicon photonics is the dominant mostly due to compatibility with CMOS process and MPW services are offered by multiple parties: IMEC, CEA-LETI, IHP, AIM Photonics and others. Silicon nitride photonics is gaining ground owing to the broad wavelength range starting from visible wavelengths allowing applications also in biophotonics among tele/Datacom and optical signal processing. MPW services of silicon nitride photonics are provided by IMEC, CEA-LETI, LionX, IMB-CNM and others [1]. InP allows possibility to implement both active and passive devices on a single chip. MPW services of InP PICs are provided by Smart Photonics and Fraunhofer HHI [2]. While various photonic platforms have matured to industrial level, they still have numerous challenges including limits set by material properties, expensive fabrication and complicated hybrid integration.

Polymer materials provide numerous advantages over semiconductor and oxide/nitride platforms:

- Combination of passive and active elements One of the main advantages of polymer material is the possibility to modify its properties. Guest-host polymer materials exhibit second and third order effects. It allows fabrication of both passive and active elements and to combine them together on one chip [3];
- 2) Simple fabrication techniques Optical polymer layers can be formed by spin-coating and processed using three techniques:
 - Standard semiconductor processing methods with lithography and reactive ion etching;
 - Direct UV lithographic patterning followed by wet-chemical rinsing;
 - E-beam lithography.

These methods allow fabrication at much lower cost than Si, Si_3N_4 and especially III-V photonics. Silicon wafers are usually taken as substrate, though the technology is also applicable on glass, ceramic, InP wafers and flexible substrates;

- 3) Integration of other elements for hybrid platform Integration can be achieved on two levels. Firstly, novel organic/polymer materials can be used for fabrication of active elements. Secondly, polymer devices can be integrated with active elements from other platforms such as InP, Si, LiNbO₃ or other;
- Losses reduction of losses is an important issue, especially for high power and single photon applications. Losses as low as <0.02 dB/cm for Su-8 [4] and <0.05 dB/cm for other polymers [5] have been reported;
- 5) Wide wavelength range polymers can be used in wide wavelength range starting from 400 up to 2200 nm and more opening opportunities for wide range of applications [6].
- 6) Multilayer structure polymers allow to fabricate multilayer waveguide structures with low coupling losses between layers. Multi-mode interference couplers have been used to fabricate flexible interconnects [7].
- 7) Applications the numerous advantages listed above allow wide range of applications: data/telecom [8], flexible integrated photonics [9], polymers are very suitable for bio functionalization and biosensors [10].

Polymer Photonics Technology Platform offers standardized polymer photonic device preparation methods to academia and industry. This system is based on three main parts: computational simulations of optical devices, materials and element fabrication workflow, and producible photonic elements.

Computational simulations are based on Finite element analyses method (FEM) and Finitedifference time-domain (FDTD) method. For FEM calculations, we will implement COMSOL Multi physics software, while for FDTD, Lumerical software will be used.

Device fabrication is based on polymer materials that are separated into two groups – passive materials and host materials for other materials to create active elements. As the central passive material, we will use SU-8 as it has excellent chemical and mechanical properties, but, more importantly, it has very low optical absorption at visible range. Parallel list of polymers is available with different refractive and thermal properties for passive cladding material to create multi-layer structures. For active elements, a similar list of polymers is available with different optical properties. This includes PMMA, Polysulfone, Polycarbonate and others. Bio-polymers for green technologies can be introduced in this platform.

Photonics platform base is a detailed *library of photonic elements* and their fabrication guidelines separated into includes passive (waveguides, power splitters, directional couplers, frequency filters and multi-mode interferometers), active elements (active claddings, resonators, photonic crystals) and light coupling (edge and grating coupling).

Simulation segment: COMSOL applications are mainly used to calculate effective refractive index of modes in waveguide, as well as to evaluate which part of optical mode is contained in the core, and which part has spread into cladding. Another essential aspect of COMSOL is its Multiphysics module that allows to combine multiple effects. This allows to simulate interaction between mode in passive waveguide and active cladding. As FDTD is based on time domain calculations, Lumerical solutions are used to calculate light propagation through ring resonators as well as

coupling efficiency of diffraction gratings. This allows to determine resonance wavelengths of created Whispering gallery mode resonators and photonic crystals. Through these steps, the following parameters can be calculated for passive elements:

- Waveguide: width and thickness for one-mode operation; smallest waveguide bend radius of waveguides with minimal losses for small footprint;
- Splitters and couplers: curvature of waveguides;
- MMI coupler: size of coupler.

The following parameters will be calculated for active elements:

- MZI: Interaction between active cladding and optical mode in waveguide;
- Ring resonator: distance to waveguide for efficient coupling and resonance wavelength calculations;
- Photonic crystals: spectral dispersions dependence on hole size and period.

Materials and fabrication methods: For passive element fabrication, SU-8 is used. Despite recent development of polymer photonics in the last decade, there is no systematic review of polymer materials available. To extend photonic platform to multi-layer structures, passive cladding materials that could serve as separation layer between multi-layer photonic structures are used. Front runner as an active material is PMMA as it has been used as a cladding and material for fabrication of active elements by ISSP UL among other research groups. PMMA is widely used as an EBL resist and can be easily mixed with other active materials to form guest-host systems. To fit specific optical and thermal properties of the devices better, a list of usable materials is composed based on literature review and experimental tests carried out in ISSP UL: PMMA, Polysulfone [11], Polyethersulfone, OSTE, Polycarbonate [12], Polystyrene [13], ZPU12 [7] and others.

Fabrication methods are separated into three groups: passive element fabrication, active element fabrication, and optical coupling elements. Since all waveguides are in size over one micron, conventional photolithography will be used to define structures. Both direct development and dry etching is used to produce passive elements. Straight sidewalls are offered to minimize losses.

For active elements, both larger and sub-micron structures are required; therefore, both photolithography and EBL are employed. In case of PMMA, deep-UV and EBL lithography methods can be combined directly patterning PMMA. At first, sub-micron structure is defined by EBL, and then the rest of the material is removed by deep-UV lithography. Reactive ion etching (RIE) is traditional method to define photonic elements, and it will be used to compare with direct patterning. For other materials that can't be patterned directly as PMMA mix and match lithography will be combined with RIE.

Photonic elements (waveguides, power splitters, directional couplers, frequency filters, MMI couplers, passive cladding, active cladding, resonators, photonic crystals, grating couplers, edge couplers) are based on selected materials and fabrication workflows a library of basic photonic elements has been compiled including specific design rules for each element.



Fig. 3 Passive elements: waveguides, Y branch, crossings, coupler



Fig. 4 Active elements: cladding layer that can be used for MZI or other modulators, photonic crystal, and ring resonator.

OUR POSITION

Laboratory of Organic Materials has vast experience regarding third-order nonlinear optical organic material studies [14,15], as well as the expertise in polymer thin-film fabrication. In last year's research has also shifted towards photonic device designing and fabrication leading to demonstration of organic electro-optical switches [16] and all-optical gas sensor [17].

Standard workflows for optical lithography and mask aligner have been established allowing to create SU-8 structures down to 1 um. Having achieved this, ISSP UL can look further in collaborations with chemists and biologists regarding polymer sensor development for specific applications.

COMSOL software packets are available in ISSP UL, and a team responsible for simulations is being established. First works regarding simulations of polymer waveguide sensors based on lossy-mode resonance have been published.

We are also working on photonic device fabrication using dry etching, EBL, and trench structures.

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The aim of the photonics platform is to offer a modular set of elements, repeatable technologies and materials needed to create photonic elements for wide range of applications. Ultimate goal is to create a set of standard modules that can be used to design and fabricate sensors, light sources/emitters, modulators, processors with high reproducibility, predictable budget and time. Photonic platform should be integrated with electronics and microfluidics to provide applications needed in most of the societal challenges: health, wellbeing, bioeconomy, security, ICT, environment.

Special attention will be given to structures for edge and grating couplers. In case of edge coupling, light is coupled in and out from the waveguide from its facet using a fibre. This technique usually requires optical quality facets for high coupling efficiencies. This technique not only allows high efficiency, but also broad bandwidth and polarization independence. Disadvantages include larger footprint than grating couplers, fixed coupling positions, and requirement for edge polishing [18]. To increase coupling efficiency facet couplers our team can offer facet polishing, specific taper designing, on-chip groove etching for fibre alignment and optimal coupling angle calculations. We have developed a procedure for waveguide polishing and

fiber attachment to waveguide facets, but this procedure needs further optimization to yield lower coupling losses.

Grating coupling is not as efficient as edge coupling, but provides possibility to couple light from optical fibre anywhere on the chip without a need to cutting and polishing surface. It allows automated wafer-scale testing and provides much wider alignment tolerance. Two major drawbacks of grating couplers are low coupling efficiency and narrow bandwidth (30-40 nm). Due to low refractive index difference between Su-8 (n=1.57) and air, the coupling efficiency is especially challenging and much lower (10-16 % [19]) than for example Si, were sub-dB coupling efficiency has been reported [20]. Su-8 can be patterned directly not only by photolithography, but also EBL, which allows to avoid RIE step for formation of grating [21]. We offer grating formation methods using mix and match lithography. Two-step lithography with RIE will be explored and results compared. FDTD simulations are used to calculate grating design. Focused grating couplers are also available to improve coupling efficiency and use of mirror under the grating is evaluated.

At the end of the project, a library of photonic elements and standardized recipes will be created that is prerequisite for foundation of established platform and further development of multi-project wafer service.

NETWORKING

Part of sustainable energy research will be development of low-power all-optical devices. This will include all-optical sensors for VOC detection, all-optical telecommunication systems based on third-order nonlinear optical materials and others. Here, Polymer Photonic platform will be used for device fabrication. By combining microfluidics with photonics elements such as micro-ring resonators and waveguides, biosensors will be developed for cancer biomarker detection.

This platform could serve as a base for ISSP UL and specific *industry companies'* long-term partnership for the joint development of new products/solutions. For *academic institutions,* this platform could help for joint exploration and for the identification and early validation for research of their interest. Partners from *academia* would supply application knowledge, while ISSP UL would offer technology knowledge, concept definition, modelling for early validation, and test device development. EUROnanoLAB is a new distributed research infrastructure consisting of over 40 state-of-the-art academic nanofabrication centres across Europe. Its main vision is to accelerate research in the micro- and nanotechnology sector by enabling the transformation of a fragmented landscape of nanofabrication facilities into an integrated knowledge base supporting scientific excellence and providing researchers a fast-track to results. Processes developed by means of this platform will contribute to *EUROnanoLAB* process database.

Existing infrastructure, updated and developed over time period, could serve as a base to create demonstrators and prototypes.

The accession of ISSP UL to EPIC (European Photonics Industry Consortium) should serve as a motivating stimulus for the development of the Platform.

A collaboration between ISSP UL and Institute of Atomic Physics and Spectroscopy (IAPS UL) of the University of Latvia regarding microresonator development and characterization has been initiated in 2021. As IAPS UL possesses infrastructure and experience in photonic device characterization, this collaboration will be beneficial for development of polymer photonic platform. The main focus on this collaboration is practical demonstration of polymer waveguide ring resonator sensor for environment monitoring. Recently, a collaboration started with two European-level universities. They are Trento University and the University of Technology of Troyes. The research subject is related to the development of a polymer photonic technology platform for quantum photonic applications.

REFERENCES

- P. Muñoz, G. Micó, L. A. B. Id, D. Pastor, D. Pérez, J. D. Doménech, J. Fernández, R. Baños, B. G. Id, R. Alemany, A. M. Sánchez, J. M. Cirera, R. Mas, and C. Domínguez, "Silicon Nitride Photonic Integration Platforms for Visible, Near-Infrared and Mid-Infrared Applications," Sensors 2017, 17(9), 2088.
- 2. R. Doerr, "Silicon photonic integration in telecommunications," Front. Phys. **3**, 1–16 (2015).
- 3. Arivuoli, "Fundamentals of nonlinear optical materials," Pramana J. Phys. 57, 871-883 (2001).
- 4. T. C. Sum, A. A. Bettiol, J. A. Van Kan, F. Watt, E. Y. B. Pun, K. K. Tung, T. C. Sum, A. A. Bettiol, J. A. Van Kan, and F. Watt, "Proton beam writing of low-loss polymer optical waveguides Proton beam writing of low-loss polymer optical waveguides," **1707**, 2001–2004 (2014).
- 5. Yeniay, R. Gao, K. Takayama, R. Gao, A. F. Garito, and A. Single-mode, "Ultra-Low-Loss Polymer Waveguides," **22**, 154–158 (2004).
- Y. Zhao, W. Lu, Y. Ma, S. Kim, S. T. Ho, Y. Zhao, W. Lu, Y. Ma, S. Kim, and S. T. Ho, "Polymer waveguides useful over a very wide wavelength range from the ultraviolet to infrared," 2961, 1–4 (2000).
- M. Kleinert, M. Nuck, H. Conradi, D. De Felipe, M. Kresse, W. Brinker, C. Zawadzki, N. Keil, and M. Schell, "A platform approach towards hybrid photonic integration and assembly for communications, sensing, and quantum technologies based on a polymer waveguide technology," 2019 IEEE CPMT Symp. Japan, ICSJ 2019 25–30 (2019).
- 8. Marinins, O. Ozolins, X. Pang, A. Udalcovs, J. R. Navarro, A. Kakkar, R. Schatz, G. Jacobsen, and S. Popov, "Thermal Reflow Engineered Cylindrical Polymer Waveguides for Optical Interconnects," IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. **30**, 447–450 (2018).
- 9. Hu, L. Li, H. Lin, P. Zhang, W. Zhou, and Z. Ma, "Flexible integrated photonics: where materials, mechanics and optics meet [Invited]," Opt. Mater. Express **3**, 1313 (2013).
- M. H. M. Salleh, A. Glidle, M. Sorel, J. Reboud, and J. M. Cooper, "Polymer dual ring resonators for label-free optical biosensing using microfluidics," Chem. Commun. 49, 3095–3097 (2013).
- 11. S. M. Garner, J. S. Cites, M. He, and J. Wang, "Polysulfone as an electro-optic polymer host material," Appl. Phys. Lett. **84**, 1049–1051 (2004).
- 12. G. Woyessa, A. Fasano, C. Markos, H. K. Rasmussen, and O. Bang, "Low Loss Polycarbonate Polymer Optical Fiber for High Temperature FBG Humidity Sensing," IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett. **29**, 575–578 (2017).
- 13. Burratti, F. De Matteis, M. Casalboni, R. Francini, R. Pizzoferrato, and P. Prosposito, "Polystyrene photonic crystals as optical sensors for volatile organic compounds," Mater. Chem. Phys. **212**, 274–281 (2018).
- 14. A.Bundulis, E. Nitiss, I. Mihailovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "Study of Structure– Third-Order Susceptibility Relation of Indandione Derivatives," J. Phys. Chem. C **120**, 27515–27522 (2016).
- D. Gudeika, A. Bundulis, S. Benhattab, M. Ben Manaa, N. Berton, J. Bouclé, F. T. Van, B. Schmaltz, D. Volyniuk, M. Rutkis, and J. V. Grazulevicius, "Multifunctional derivatives of dimethoxy-substituted triphenylamine containing different acceptor moieties," SN Appl. Sci. 2, (2020).
- 16. E. Nitiss, A. Tokmakovs, K. Pudzs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-organic electro-optic waveguide modulator comprising SU-8 and nonlinear optical polymer," Opt. Express 25, 31036 (2017).
- 17. E. Nitiss, A. Bundulis, A. Tokmakovs, J. Busenbergs, and M. Rutkis, "All-Organic Waveguide Sensor for Volatile Solvent Sensing," Photonic Sensors 9, 356–366 (2019).
- 18. X. Mu, S. Wu, L. Cheng, and H. Y. Fu, "Edge Couplers in Silicon Photonic Integrated Circuits: A Review," Appl. Sci. **10**, 1538 (2020).
- 19. C. Prokop, S. Schoenhardt, B. Laegel, S. Wolff, A. Mitchell, and C. Karnutsch, "Air-Suspended SU-8 Polymer Waveguide Grating Couplers," J. Light. Technol. **34**, 3966–3971 (2016).

- N. Hoppe, W. S. Zaoui, L. Rathgeber, Y. Wang, R. H. Klenk, W. Vogel, M. Kaschel, S. L. Portalupi, J. Burghartz, and M. Berroth, "Ultra-Efficient Silicon-on-Insulator Grating Couplers With Backside Metal Mirrors," IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. 26, 1–6 (2020).
- 21. L. Dong, S. Popov, and A. T. Friberg, "One-step fabrication of polymer components for microphotonics by gray scale electron beam lithography," J. Eur. Opt. Soc. Rapid Publ. **6**, 11010 (2011).

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Development of workflows for element fabrication through national research program initiative.
- Multiple projects regarding photonic device development have been submitted and in case of acceptance focus will be on specific device development.
- Increase of human resources with the main focus on COMSOL simulation team.
- New collaboration started.
- Explore applications in quantum photonics.

PHASE RETRIEVAL FOR ADAPTIVE OPTICS AND IMAGING

Note: the title of this domain has been changed starting from 2023. The previously used title was "VISUAL PERCEPTION AND IMAGE PROCESSING IN ADAPTIVE OPTICS AND AUGMENTED REALITY"

STATE OF ART

Physical, diffractive and adaptive optics, as also photo- and colorimetry are the main study areas to understand and to apply the advances in material science, optics, bioscience, environmental science, and communications to ensure optimal imaging and optical systems performance (including vision) [1-4].

Adaptive optics is an area in optics of large interest. It is mainly used in astronomy to correct the effects of atmospheric turbulence on the quality of images and in vision science to correct the ocular aberrations and to improve the visibility of photoreceptors in retinal imaging. In astronomy, near diffraction-limited performance of astronomical telescopes has been achieved. In vision science, single photoreceptors, blood cells and other retinal features can be resolved. The publications mentioned below demonstrate the significance of adaptive optics in astronomy and vision science [5,6].

Coherent diffractive imaging (CDI) is a very fast-growing area in optics. CDI finds applications in astronomy, biology, holography, materials science etc. Many phase retrieval algorithms based on CDI are developed and implemented practically. In the scientific literature, there is a large number of research papers aiming to improve the optical quality of an image based on numeric phase retrieval algorithms. Phase retrieval is also very important in material science to determine the structure of crystals. For the first time, the phase problem was recognized in X-ray crystallographic analysis, which is a very active field still today. An example of the activities performed in the field of CDI is provided in papers of institutions worldwide [2,7,8].

Recently, the Laboratory of Visual Perception has focused attention to absorbing thin films finding many applications not only in optics and photonics, but also in energy harvesting, stealth

technology, light sources etc. Such materials appear to be very promising for applications in waveguides and phase retrieval and provide opportunity to develop advanced technologies in wavefront sensors. The Laboratory of Visual Perception has also started to carry out research in his field together with the partners from KTH. [26]

The current leading-edge research is focused on the following topics:

- 1. A distinct goal of research is to develop and implement novel type of wavefront sensors. The new wavefront sensors foreseen for biomedicine and astronomy are based on phase retrieval approach from intensity measurements. This applies also to general optical applications, thus improving their performance and resolution of optical systems [22].
- 2. To develop optical and smart materials and methods to expand opportunities useful in human daily activities and in medical diagnostics. This point concerns studies on how to use materials with a complex set of properties, which allow to implement multiplex control of optical information: controlled focusing and scattering, a possibility to provide binocular viewing in virtual reality appliances and processing of parallel information in augmented reality. That also concerns materials used in advanced vision correction and training appliances based on smart materials and elements, such as custom design contact lenses and electrically controllable liquid lenses [2,4,11, 23].
- 3. To develop advanced microoptics for applications in phase retrieval. Such microoptical elements are based on transparent waveguiding part with absorbing sidewalls. The sidewalls are typically fabricated using either plasmonic nanoparticles/nanostructures or stacks of thin films. Such stacks are formed by various metals and lossy dielectrics.
- 4. To increase the competitiveness in energy-saving and human-centric lighting, free from adverse effects to human circadian rhythm and to non-living environment. The research should combine wide spectrum of subtasks/problems with the goal to achieve good visibility of light-emitting and reflective elements at moderate cost without irreversible damage to observable objects. Even more, light sources should be comfortable to an observer and without an adverse impact [12-15, 25].

OUR POSITION

The Laboratory of Visual Perception of the ISSP UL has a strong background related to research in the following fields: adaptive optics (VIS, IR), optical phase retrieval algorithms; phase retrieval in a scattering optical media; developing of advanced micro-optical elements; fabrication of thin absorbing films; simulation of photonic structure in COMSOL; wavefront modulators technologies; tuneable optical elements and their use in virtual reality and vision appliances; smart human-centred illumination; hyperspectral imaging and analysis.

The Laboratory of Visual Perception has several doctors in Physics. The head of the laboratory is Sergejs Fomins who also is an assistant professor at the UL, Faculty of Physics and Mathematics, and Optometry, Department of Optometry and Vision Science. Two other employees of the laboratory are a professor Maris Ozolinsh who supervises diploma works every year and Dr. Phys. Varis Karitans working in the field of phase retrieval and micro/nano optics/photonics. Varis Karitans also teaches geometrical and physical optics at the UL.

Adaptive optics and phase retrieval is currently the most actively studied fields in the laboratory, and it is essential for recovering the structure of an object under study. The phase problem, i.e., the loss of information about phase is faced in various fields of science and especially in optics. An emerging area of phase retrieval in optics is based on mathematical optimization methods using coded diffractive imaging for control of optical aberrations. At the Laboratory of Visual Perception studies of phase retrieval based on unique modulation of the object under study have been carried out within projects "New generation wavefront sensors based on the method of coded diffraction patterns" and "Reducing/cancelling the effects of vitreous floaters using a phase

retrieval method based on coded diffraction patterns". Vitreous floaters are simulated in a model eye incorporating a microfluidics system [16-19, 22].

European Space Agency (ESA) project "Feasibility of phase retrieval adaptive optics for Satellite-Ground optical communication" is dedicated to extend the optical phase retrieval into IR range to be suitable for free space optical communication. The project aims to adapt the technologies of phase retrieval to improve communication between satellites and ground-based sensors. The project is realized in close cooperation with a Portugal company "Lusospace".

The scientific activities are also facilitated by a project "Implementing phase retrieval algorithms in embedded systems" supported by University of Latvia Foundation and a company "Mikrotik". Infrastructure and experience of the Laboratory of Visual Perception can also be improved by implementing these algorithms into embedded systems to make them applicable in compact and practical optical systems.

A number of novel project proposals were submitted to fundamental and applied research programm

- "Study of light propagation control in scattering media for depth imaging in *biophotonics*" (S. Fomins) proposes idea of imaging in scattered media. is problematic due to multiple elastic scattering phenomena moderate (biological tissue) process kinetics. Te input-output response of a scattering medium can be described by a socalled transmission matrix (TM), which relates free modes at the input to those at the output. The experimental measurement of transmission matrix is rather time-consuming because it requires both the scanning of incident waves in such a way to cover input free modes and the recording of complex field, i.e. amplitude and phase, at various output channels. To correct TM typically spatial light modulators or digital mirror devices are applied with phase retrieval techniques, which are slow and do not allow to progress to 3D correction in scattered samples/tissues. Fusion of our phase retrieval knowhow with innovative NIR assisted guide star method will allow to identify the right phase retrieval methods and transmission matrix identification techniques for set of classified scattering samples to implement 3D imaging in highly scattering samples. The aim is (1) to achieve the speed, quality, and penetration depth in scattering media for provision of 3D light control with choice of right PR algorithm; and (2) to provide guidelines for PR implementation within scattering media for biomedical and photonic applications.
- A project "Phase retrieval of two-dimensional objects by processing of the diffraction patterns optically separated vectors" (Fundamental and applied research projects) has also been proposed (V. Karitans). The project aims to develop a stack of modulated cylindrical microlenses for phase retrieval of 2D objects. The microlenses have thin absorbing sidewalls based either on interference or plasmonic nanoparticles. The absorbing sidewalls imitate free-space propagation of a wavefront encountered in coherent diffractive imaging (CDI). Until now, absorbing stack of Au/Ge/HfO2 thin films has been fabricated and its optical properties have been measured. These stacks were fabricated in cooperation with Martins Zubkins from the Laboratory of Thin Films. In cooperation with Mattias Hammar and Olof Sjödin from Electrum Lab (KTH), such stacks have also been simulated in Matlab and COMSOL. These activities form a part of a demonstrator project, and were discussed in detail in April 2023. The progress of the demonstrator project has been reported in a conference "Optics and Photonics in Sweden 2023" [26]. Plasmonic Ag@SiO2 core-shell nanostructures have also been synthesized in cooperation with Madara Leimane from the Laboratory of Optical Materials.
- "Determination and improvement of binocular vision functions using smart adapters with dynamically variable optical characteristics" (M. Ozolinsh) project is devited to implementation of variable focus optics in VR technology.

Laboratory closely follows the recent trends in the development of high density displays and their spectral emission to evaluate and control in near future the metabolism of melatonin by enduring eye exposition. Its scientists are in touch with other investigators working in this field. Human centred lighting and comparison between natural and advanced solid state emitters is in focus of many research institutions, e.g., [12-15, 25].

FUTURE ACTIVITIES

The areas pointed out as prioritized in European program documents and belonging to planned Laboratory of Visual Perception research fields are: concerning *health* – retinal imaging, human centric lighting, improvement of human visual performance, developing of visual training methodology applied in absence of medical employees with web-based data transfer, essential during the existing coronavirus disease risk; *culture* – hyperspectral imaging, spectroscopy of cultural heritage and data archiving; *climate, energy, industry* – human-friendly economic and ecologic material studies, prototyping and design of illumination devices.

The main directions of research in Laboratory of Visual Perception involve:

- Theoretical development of visual information phase retrieval methods,
- Developing and optimization of adaptive optics systems with novel wavefront sensors;
- Optimizing and standardization of lighting using solid state materials, creating of human centric lighting;
- Development of prototypes using smart materials/devices with controllable optical properties anticipated in vision appliances and visual reality and augmented reality devices;
- Fabrication of absorbing thin films based on plasmonic nanoparticles/nanostructures and interference;
- Nanostructures for SERS applications;
- Tunable optical elements adaptive optics deformable mirrors, tuneable lenses.
- Optical system metrology on macro and micro levels.
- Imaging in scattering media including tissue optics and underwater imaging.

Based on the updated infrastructure and the acquired skills in lithography, silicon technologies, micro- and nanostructuring, the research area could be extended to include studies on microand nanoelectronics and photonics, MEMS systems, photonics such as light sources, photovoltaics, quantum optics, as well as use of electrically controllable materials in design of optical appliances.

The Laboratory of Visual Perception plans to upgrade its infrastructure in near future. It is intended to upgrade imaging solution into IR range for studying phase retrieval of very faint light sources using high sensitivity cameras, light scattering and aberrations in biological tissue etc.

NETWORKING

There are groups around the world that actively work in the fields close to the Laboratory of Visual Perception research areas:

• In the field of adaptive optics, phase retrieval, physiological optics they are: Universidad de Murcia, Laboratorio de Optica (Murcia, Spain); KTH Electrum Laboratory; Indiana University, Adaptive Optics Laboratory (Bloomington, USA); Durham University, Centre for Advanced Instrumentation (UK); University of California, Computational Imaging Lab

(USA); Fraunhofer Institute of Optronics, Adaptive Optics Group (Karlsruhe, Germany); Lusospace (Lisbon, Portugal).

- In the field of hyperspectral colour analysis, environment and human centric illumination, colour vision testing: Newcastle University, UK; University of Minho, Portugal, Manchester University, UK; City University, UK;
- As partners having common direct interests and publications here can be mentioned University College Dublin, Centre for Biomedical Engineering; Stockholm KTH Visual Optics research group (together with ACREO as partners within ISSP UL CAMART² project); KTH Electrum Laboratory; close creative interaction with neighbouring Vilnius University Lighting Research Group (Lithuania).

Potential academic R&D partners

List of potential academic R&D partners is built on common interests in following research directions in the lab and worldwide: optimizing phase retrieval algorithms; improve the efficiency of adaptive optics; multi-wavelength phase retrieval; retinal imaging; optimizing lighting and multispectral analysis; optical sensing of biological cells and molecules using microfluidics:

- The Laboratory of Visual Perception has strong collaboration with the scientific institutions listed below: Universidad de Murcia, Laboratorio de Optica (LOUM) (Murcia, Spain). Contact person: prof. H. M. Bueno. University College Dublin (UCD), Laboratory of Optics and Advanced Optical Imaging (Dublin, Ireland). Contact person in UCD Prof. B. Vohnsen was adviser of current ISSP UL PostDoc project "Reducing/cancelling the effects of vitreous floaters using a phase retrieval method based on coded diffraction patterns";
- Optometry and Vision Science Department of UL. Technical and engineering competence in common field of interest, and the Laboratory of Visual Perception has the vision and colorimetry in depth knowledge for visual application related to physics and physiological optics. And the only lab to have Adaptive Optics experience in LV (also in all Baltic States). The Institute of Astronomy, University of Latvia has shown interest in collaboration with the Laboratory of Visual Perception.
- City University, Newcastle Universities with good experience on visual perception, colour research, colour vision test development;
- Minho University and Newcastle University. Experience in human-centred and eco lighting, image multispectral analyse and archiving;
- KTH and RISE. Development of visual and augmented reality designs, adaptive optics.
- Latvian Institute of Electronics and Computer Science (Riga), project proposals in Latvian Science Council project calls.

Contacts with these institutions are maintained and the results of research are frequently discussed. Collaboration with the high-tech industry is mainly possible within long-term projects due to the specific interest of physiological optics (optical system and particularly – eye quality optimization) and appliances based adaptive optics applications.

Industrial interest in the area, potential industrial partners

The following market trends and growth potential exist in the research areas of the Laboratory of Visual Perception: continuous improvement and optimization of human-centred and economic lighting; object multispectral diagnostics, analysis and data archiving; materials and designs for vision improvement; applications of adaptive optics for astronomers; military; medical diagnostics.

Potential industrial partners on national and international scales: Sidrabe; Groglass; Barona optika; LED manufacturers (VIZULO); Euro LCD; Optical products manufacturers (like Thorlabs, Edmund Optics), e-EYE.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bass. M. "Handbook of Optics: Volume III Vision and Vision Optics". McGraw-Hill Professional: New York, Chicago, San Francisco, Lisbon, London, Madrid, Mexico City, Milan, New Delhi, San Juan, Seoul, Singapore, Sydney, Toronto (2010).
- 2. Suchkov, N., Fernández, E. J., and Artal, P. "Wide-range adaptive optics visual simulator with a tunable lens," J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 36, 722-730 (2019)
- 3. CIE Position Statement TN 733. "Position Statement on Non-Visual Effects of Light -Recommending Proper Ligh at the Proper Time". 2nd Ed. (2019)
- 4. Foster, D. H. and Amano, K. "Hyperspectral imaging in color vision research." J. Opt. Soc. Am. A 36, 606-627 (2019)
- 5. Huang, J., Zhou, H., Yang, J., Liu, C., and Xian, H. "Temporal statistics of residual wavefront variance of an adaptive optics system". J. Opt. 21, 125606 (2019)
- Marcos, S., Benedí-García, C., Aissati, S., Gonzalez-Ramos, A. M., Lago, C. M., Radhkrishnan, A., Vinas, M. "VioBio lab adaptive optics: technology and applications." Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics 40(2), 75–87 (2020)
- 7. Shechtman, Y., Eldar, C., Cohen, O., Chapman, N.H., Miao, J., and Segev, M. "Phase retrieval with application to optical imaging." IEEE Signal Process. Mag. 32(3), 87–109 (2015)
- 8. Lo, Y.H., Zhao, L., Gallagher-Jones, M., Rana, A., Lodico, J., Xiao, W., Regan, B. C., and Miao, J. "In situ coherent diffractive imaging," Nat. Commun. 9, 1826 (2018)
- 9. Wang, D.S. and Fan, S.H. "Microfluidic surface plasmon resonance sensors: From principles to point-of-care applications." Sensors, 16(8), 1175 (2016)
- Chen, S., Angarita-Jaimes, N., Angarita-Jaimes, D., Pelc, B., Greenaway, A.H., Towers, C.E., Lin, D., and Towers, D.P. "Wavefront sensing for three-component three-dimensional flow velocimetry in microfluidics." Experiments in Fluids, 47(4-5), 849–863 (2009)
- 11. Ozolinsh, M., Berzinsh, J., Pastare, A., Paulins, P., Jansone, Z. "Tunable liquid lens equipped virtual reality adapter for scientific, medical, and therapeutic goals." Proc. SPIE 10817, 1081704 (2018)
- 12. Sockman, K. W., and Hurlbert, A. H. "How the effects of latitude on daylight availability may have influenced the evolution of migration and photoperiodism." Functional Ecology 34(9), 1752–1766 (2020)
- Aston, S., Radonjic, A., Brainard, D.H., Hurlbert, A.C. "Illumination discrimination for chromatically biased illuminations: Implications for color constancy." Journal of Vision 19, 15 (2020)
- 14. Jonauskaite, D., **Fomins, S**., et al. "The sun is no fun without rain: Physical environments affect how we feel about yellow across 55 countries." Journal of Environmental Psychology 66, 101350 (2019)
- 15. A. Ortega, S., Halicek, M., Fabelo, H., Callico, G. M., and Fei, B. "Hyperspectral and multispectral imaging in digital and computational pathology: a systematic review". Biomed. Opt. Express 11, 3195-3233 (2020)
- Karitans, V., Laganovska, K., and Kundzins, K. "Phase retrieval of a Kolmogorov phase screen from very sparse data using four binary masks". Appl.Optics 59(27), 8362–8369 (2020)
- 17. Karitans, V., Nitiss, E., Tokmakovs, A. and Pudzs, K. "Optical phase retrieval using four rotated versions of a single binary mask simulation results," Proc. SPIE 106940C (2018)
- Karitans, V., Nitiss, E., Tokmakovs, A., Ozolinsh, M., and Logina, S. "Optical phase retrieval using four rotated versions of a single binary amplitude modulating mask" J. Astron. Telesc. Instrum. Syst. 5(3), 039004 (2019)
- 19. Karitans, V., Ozolinsh, M., Fomins, S., Antonuka, A. and Tetervenoka, N. "Phase retrieval of vitreous floaters: simulation experiment", Proc. SPIE 11548,115481K (2020)
- 20. Karitans, V., Ozolinsh, M., Lapins, A., and Fomins, S. "The effect of the range of a modulating phase mask on the retrieval of a complex object from intensity measurements", Latv. J. Phys. Tech. 6, 3-12 (2021)
- 21. Karitans, V., Tokmakovs, A., and Antonuka, A. "The effect of noise, a constant background, and bit depth on the phase retrieval of pure phase objects", Opt. Appl. 51(2), 257-269 (2021).
- 22. Varis Karitāns, Sergejs Fomins, Māris Ozoliņš, Katrīna Laganovska, Kārlis Kundziņš. New optical and mathematical methods to improve image quality. Latvian Academy of Sciences Yearbook 2022, pp.93-97.

- 23. Varis Karitans, Maris Ozolinsh, Zane Jansone-Langina & Paulis Paulins. Tolerance of observers vision during misusing of light protective goggles.Perception Vol. 50 (1), IS: 43rd European Conference on Visual Perception (ECVP) 2021 Online, pp.216.
- 24. Zane Jansone-Langina, **Maris Ozolins, Renars Truksa, Sergejs Fomins**. Contrast sensitivity changes at different background brightness levels in patients before and after cataract removal surgery. Perception : AVA Virtual Christmas. 51(5), pp.360-361.
- 25. **Dāvis Zāģers, Sergejs Fomins.** Perception of CCT in cyan spectra composed light emitting diode white source. Perception Vol. 50 (1), IS: 43rd European Conference on Visual Perception (ECVP) 2021 Online, p.206.
- 26. **V. Karitans.** Optical properties of Au/Ge/HfO₂ stack of thin films for possible applications in waveguides with absorbing sidewalls. Optics and Photonics in Sweden 2023, Conference program, Optics and Photonics in Sweden 2023 (OPS 2023), p. 11.
- 27. Domicele Jonauskaite, **Sergejs Fomins**, et al (2023). A comparative analysis of colouremotion associations in 16-88-year-old adults from 31 countries. A British Journal of Psychology (Wiley).
- 28. **Renārs Trukša, Sergejs Fomins**, Zane Jansone-Langina, Jānis Dzenis. (2023). Modeling D15 test sequences in red-green anomalous trichromacy. Journal of the Optical Society of America A: Optics and Image Science, and Vision. 40(3), pA85-A90.
- 29. **Renārs Trukša, Sergejs Fomins**, Zane Jansone-Langina, Jānis Dzenis (2023). Software based solution to improve colour rendering accuracy. Perception 52(5), p.362-363.
- 30. Zane Jansone-Langina, **Māris Ozoliņš (2023).** Evaluation of color vision related quality of life changes due to cataract surgery. Journal of the Optical Society of America A: Optics and Image Science, and Vision 40(3), p.139-148.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING UPDATES

- Advancements in phase retrieval approaches gained during ESA RPA project.
- Three Fundamental and applied research projects have been proposed.
- Plans to upgrade the infrastructure of the Laboratory of Visual Perception to enable high-resolution imaging in turbulent and scattering media. Update microscopic adaptive optics equipment for fibre optic and photonic applications.
- Cooperation with industry partners and new project proposals.
- Study the cooperation potential with Tartu Astronomic Observatory (EE) in adaptive optics for small-sized telescopes.